EAST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT

SEWER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT PLAN (SSMP)

Adopted March 22, 2023



LEADERSHIP | PARTNERSHIP | STEWARDSHIP

Prepared by:

East Valley Water District

31111 Greenspot Road Highland, CA 92356

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1: GOALS 5

SECTION 2: ORGANIZATION 7

- 2.1 Authorized Representatives 7
- 2.2 Organization 8
- 2.3 Chain of Communications for Reporting Overflows 8

SECTION 3: LEGAL AUTHORITY 11

- 3.1 EVWD Ordinance No. 389 11
- 3.2 Joint Powers Agreement City of San Bernardino

SECTION 4: OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 13

4.1 Sewer System Mapping 13	
4.2 Preventive Operation and Maintenance (O&M)	16
4.2.1 Scheduled Cleaning of Sewers 16	
4.2.2 Resolution of Customer Complaints	16
4.2.3 Maintenance Activity Records 16	
4.3 Rehabilitation and Replacement Plan 16	
4.3.1 Routine Visual Inspections 17	
4.3.2 CCTV Inspection Program 17	
4.3.3 Manhole Inspection Program 17	
4.4 Training Program 18	
4.5 Equipment and Replacement Parts 18	
SECTION 5: DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE PROVISIO	NS
5.1 Existing EVWD Standards 19	
5.2 Development of Additional Standards 19	
SECTION 6: SPILL EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN	20
6.1 Existing EVWD Emergency Response Plan	20

19

6.2 SERP 20

SECTION 7: FOG PROGRAM 22

- 7.1 Existing FOG Control Program 22
- 7.2 Implementation of the FOG Control Program 22
- 7.3 Implementation Plan and Schedule for Public Outreach
 - 7.3.1 Summary of Public Education Outreach
 - 7.3.2 Annual Plan and Schedule of Events, SSO Driven Activities
 - 7.3.3 Plan and Schedule for Disposal of FOG within the Service Area

7.4 Authority to Prohibit FOG Discharges and Identify Measures to Prevent FOF Related SSOs

- 7.4.1 Legal Authority
- 7.4.2 Preventative Measures
- 7.5 Fog Program Requirements and Design Standards
 - 7.5.1 Requirements to Install Grease Control Devices
 - 7.5.2 Design Standards Grease Control Devices
 - 7.5.3 Maintenance Requirements
 - 7.5.4 BMP Requirements
- 7.6 Inspection and Enforcement Program
 - 7.6.1 Authority to Inspect Grease Production Facilities
 - 7.6.2 Authority to Enforce
 - 7.6.3 Resource Plan
- 7.7 Maintenance Plan to Address FOG Issues
 - 7.7.1 Identification of Specific Pipe Segments with FOG Accumulation Issues
 - 7.7.2 Maintenance of Pipes Subject to FOG Accumulation
- 7.8 Pretreatment Program to Address FOG Issues

SECTION 8: SYSTEM EVALUATION AND CAPACITY ASSURANCE PLAN (SECAP) 31

- 8.1 Capacity Evaluation 31
 - 8.1.1 Flow Monitoring 31
- SEWER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT PLAN

8.1.2 Hydraulic Modeling 31 8.1.3 Sewer Master Planning 31 8.1.4 Identification of Capacity Needs 32 8.1.5 Identification of Rehabilitation Needs 32 8.2 Design Criteria 32 8.3 Capital Improvement Program 33 8.3.1 Short-Term CIPs 33 8.3.2 Long-Term CIPs 34 8.4 CIP Schedule 34 SECTION 9: MONITORING, MEASUREMENT, AND PROGRAM MODIFICATIONS 35 9.1 Benchmarking Data 35 9.1.1 American Water Works Association (AWWA) Report 36 9.1.2 American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) Report 36 9.2 System Specific Performance Indicators 37 9.3 Demographic Indicators 37 9.3.1 Service Area Population 37 9.3.2 Number of Customer Accounts 37 9.3.3 New Connections per Year 38 9.3.4 Length of Sewers 38 9.3.5 Average Age of System 38 9.4 Budget Performance Indicators 39 9.4.1 Annual Collection System Budget per Account 39 9.4.2 Percentage of Budget for Collection System Rehabilitation 40 9.5 Staff and Equipment Performance Indicators 40 9.5.1 Population per Collection System Employee 40 9.5.2 Length of Sewer per Collection System Employee 40 9.6 System Performance Indicators 40 9.6.1 Sanitary Sewer Overflows per Year per Length of Sewer 40

9.6.2 Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer	42	
9.6.3 Pipe Failures per Year per Length of Sewer 43		
9.6.4 Flow Monitoring Events per Year 45		
9.6.5 Percentage of Sewers Inspected by Video per Year	45	
9.6.6 Percentage of Sewers Cleaned per Year 46		
9.6.7 Percentage of Sewers Lined per Year 46		
9.6.8 Planned Maintenance Ratio 47		
9.7 Summary of Current Status 47		
9.8 Benchmarking Conclusions 48		
SECTION 10: SSMP PROGRAM AUDITS 46		
SECTION 11: COMMUNICATION PROGRAM 50		
11.1 Additional Resource 51		
11.2 Public Engagement 51		

11.3 Internal Communications 51

APPENDIX 152

Ø

SECTION 1: GOALS

This section contains East Valley Water District (EVWD or District) goals for the Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP). The standards for the operation and maintenance of a sewer collection system are to properly operate and maintain all portions of the collection system, to report overflows within the required time frame, and to respond effectively to any overflows that may occur. The District's Vision Statement is to:

"Enhance and preserve the quality of life for our community through innovative leadership and world class public service."

To compliment this commitment, that District's goal statement for sewer service is as follows:

"To control, mitigate and maintain the public sewer system within available resources to limit sewer overflows, and to protect the public and the environment."

EVWD's goals for this Sewer System Management Plan within the next five years, , that have been developed to reflect the adopted Strategic Plan are:

1. Maintain a commitment to sustainability, transparency, and accountability by striving to minimize the number of Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs).

Key Performance Indicators

- SSOs per Year per Length of Sewer
- Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer
- Pipe Failures per Year per Length of Sewer
- 2. Deliver public service with purpose while embracing continuous growth through the use of Computerized Maintenance Management System (CMMS) and other community engagement programs.

Key Performance Indicators

- Track the date and time that calls come in and the time used to respond to the incident
- Fats, Oils & Grease (FOG) program participation
- Proactive and reactive community outreach
- 3. Dedicate efforts toward system maintenance and modernization in order to provide reliable sewer service.

Key Performance Indicators

- Utilize the flow monitoring strategy for the development and prioritization of capital improvement projects as identified within the Sewer System Master Plan
- Video inspect (CCTV) a minimum of 20% of the sewer system each year, allowing for the full system to be completed every five years. The CCTV inspection program results should be used in developing the Capital Improvement Program for sewer rehabilitation/repairs

- Clean 80% of the sewer system each year.
- Implement the Capital Improvement Program identified in the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan.
- Develop projects and programs to ensure safe and reliable services by achieving full compliance with California's State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) adopted Order No. 2006-0003, Statewide General Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) for Sanitary Sewer Systems.

Key Performance Indicators

- Continue working with the City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department to comply with preventing illicit discharges and limiting the discharge of fats, oils, and grease, of the WDR.
- As part of the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan, maintain a prioritized list of system deficiencies and correlating Capital Improvement Program.
- 5. Embrace an environment of active learning and knowledge sharing by continuing to improve the District's internal documentation system which fosters collaboration between Operations and Engineering.

Key Performance Indicators

- Utilize the Granite Net system to perform pipeline condition analysis based on observations in the CCTV workflows.
- Use the CMMS data to monitor field activities and implement Capital Improvement Project accordingly.
- Maintain the District's Geographic Information System (GIS) to ensure data accuracy of infrastructure and mapping.

SECTION 2: ORGANIZATION

This section contains EVWD's Organizational Chart, information about the responsibility of staff implementing specific measures of this SSMP, and the chain of communication for reporting SSOs. The offices of EVWD are located at:

East Valley Water District 31111 Greenspot Rd. Highland, California 92346 Telephone:(909) 889-9501 Fax:(909) 383-1481

2.1 Authorized Representatives

EVWD has appointed and authorized several representatives for implementing the requirements of California's State Water Resources Control Board (SWRCB) adopted Order No. 2006-0003, Statewide General Waste Discharge Requirements (WDR) for Sanitary Sewer Systems, herein called the WDR. The authorized representatives are shown in Table 2-1.

Table 2-1 Authorized Representatives			
Name	Title	Work Telephone	
Michael Moore	General Manager/Chief Executive Officer (CEO)	909 806-4290	
Jeff Noelte	Director of Engineering and Operations – Legally 909 806-4096 Responsible Official (LRO)		
Patrick Milroy	Operations Manager (LRO)	909 806-4229	
John Peel	Field Services Supervisor (LRO)	909 806-4233	
Kerrie Bryan	Human Resources/ Risk & Safety	909-806-4087	
Kelly Malloy	Director of Strategic Services	909-806-4239	
Rocky Welborn	Water Reclamation Manager Data Submitter	909 806-4221	
Jason Wolf	Senior Engineer Data Submitter	909 806-4092	
	On Call Operator (24/7 Response)	909 889-9501	

SECTION 2

2.2 Organization

EVWD is governed by a five-member elected Board of Directors, with a General Manager/ CEO appointed to run daily operations, and an appointed District Legal Counsel - Under the General Manager/CEO there are 22 programs led by the Executive Management team. Figure 2-1 shows the current organizational structure of East Valley Water District.





2.3 Chain of Communications for Reporting Overflows

EVWD has developed specific procedures for responding to SSOs, whether the incident is identified internally by District staff, or a member of the public. It is important to note that EVWD only owns, operates and maintains the sewer collection system main lines and a portion of the East Trunk Sewer line located within the District's service area; EVWD does not own or maintain the service laterals.

Figure 2-2 contains EVWD's Spill Emergency Response Plan Communication Protocol. The SSO Response Plan and Procedure is part of the Emergency Response Plan section of this SSMP (Section 6). In summary, all incoming calls received during regular business hours are logged in the CMMS by Customer Service staff who ensure that the crews have been dispatched. After hours calls are routed to an answering service to ensure incident mitigation 24 hours a day, seven days a week. SSO related calls are then directed to designated District staff members. Figure 2-3 represents the response protocol in the event of an SSO. SEWER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT PLAN





 Initial communication will vary based on who receives initial report. Off-hours initial communication will be routed through the answering service and on-call EVWD staff.

- (2) Notify appropriate agency depending on location of problem.
- (3) See figure 2-3.
- (4) Any spill or discharge into the Santa Ana River or its tributaries will be reported immediately to SBCFC (909) 387-7986.

Figure 2-2 – SERP Communications Protocol

SECTION 2



Figure 2-3 – SSO Response Procedures

SECTION 3: LEGAL AUTHORITY

This section of the SSMP demonstrates that EVWD possesses the legal authority, through sanitary sewer system ordinances, service agreements, and other legally binding procedures, to:

- a. Prevent actionable discharges into its sanitary sewer system (examples may include inflow and infiltration (I/I), storm water, chemical dumping, unauthorized debris and cut roots, etc.).
- b. Require that sewers and connections be properly designed and constructed.
- c. Ensure access for maintenance, inspection, or repairs for portions of the mains owned or maintained by the District.
- d. Coordinate with the City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department (SBMWD) to limit the discharge of fats, oils, grease (FOG), and other debris that may cause blockages stored within the District's
- e. Enforce any violation of its sewer ordinances.

3.1 EVWD Ordinance No. 404

EVWD's legal authority is provided by EVWD Ordinance No. 404 (Appendix 1). The following title from this ordinance shows an enforcement action that can be taken by an established "Sewer Department":

An Ordinance of the East Valley Water District, Rescinding Ordinance No. 404 entitled, "An Ordinance Regulating the Use of Public Sewers, the Installation and Connection of Building and Lateral Sewers, Public Sewer Main Extensions, Establishing a Sewer Department, Providing Permits for the Installation and Connection of Sanitary Sewers, Providing Sewers for Annexed Areas and Subdivisions, Regulating the Discharge of Waters and Wastes into the Public Sewer System, Providing Relief for the Violation of Provisions Thereof and Providing Procedures for Enforcement", commonly referred to as the Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance.

The ordinance has provisions for sewer permits, inspection, facility requirements, and enforcement. This also includes provisions that sewer laterals connected to the District's sewer main are owned and maintained by the individual property owner(s) and not by EVWD. When blockages occur in sewer laterals, District staff will assist property owners by checking if blockages have occurred in the sewer main.

EVWD currently works closely with the SBMWD to comply with the WDR preventing actionable discharges, and limiting the discharge of fats, oils, and grease, of WDR SSMP Section (iii). SBMWD currently handles the FOG program for the area since they own and operate the treatment plant. Following the completion of the District's Sterling Natural Resource Center (SNRC) and assuming of sewage flows, EVWD will assume responsibility of the FOG program.

Within the District boundary, the San Manuel Band of Mission Indian Reservation and Patton State Hospital are connected to sewer collection system. In 2016, EVWD entered into a maintenance contract with Patton State Hospital. The contract allows EVWD to enter hospital grounds and CCTV, clean, inspect, GPS and make repairs as needed to prevent any SSO's from happening downstream in EVWD's portion of the collection system. The San Manuel Band of Mission Indians has maintenance personnel that can respond to incidents as needed, and EVWD can provide mutual aid support if requested, through the terms identified within the Emergency Response Network of the Inland Empire (ERNIE) agreement.

3.2 Joint Powers Agreement City of San Bernardino

Since 1954, EVWD has contracted with the SBMWD for sewer treatment. EVWD retains responsibility for the sewer conveyance and all flows until they reach the treatment facility. SBMWD is the sole owner and operator of the wastewater treatment staffing, processes, and facilities. Once the District's SNRC is constructed and operational, the Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) will dissolve and EVWD will assume responsibility for sewer treatment within its service area.

SECTION 4: OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE PROGRAM

A preventive and proactive Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Program is the basis of a wellrun sewer collection system. It describes what work is done on a regular basis to the collection system mains, manholes, siphons, appurtenances and associated equipment in order to prevent them from failing and causing SSOs. The WDR requires that the elements listed below are included in the O&M program of SSMP:

- Maintain up-to-date sewer collection system maps.
- Utilize a routine preventive O&M program and activities for staff and contractors maintaining the sewer collection system and a system to document scheduled activities in the form of a work order.
- Implement a rehabilitation and replacement plan identifying and prioritizing system deficiencies and implement short- and long-term actions to address the deficiencies.
- Train O&M staff on a regular basis.
- Provide equipment and replacement part inventories, including critical replacement parts.

This section describes EVWD's existing Sewer System Mapping, O&M Program, Rehabilitation and Replacement Plan or the Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) and On- and Off-Site Training.

4.1 Sewer System Mapping

The Sewer System Maps are in Geographic Information System (GIS) data. These maps are viewed through the GIS desktop (ArcGIS) program. A complete digital file of all maps is available in pdf format, viewed on screen from a shared server or in print. In addition, a work order program (Cityworks) is built upon the GIS data and maps and is available to all District staff. (See Figure 4-1 for sample GIS map)

The GIS database is updated to reflect new pipeline installations, sewer main repairs and abandonments once they have been completed (See Table 4-1). To ensure data accuracy, field staff may make additions and notes for corrections to drawings though connected applications. This information is verified and edited in the GIS master drawings by a designated GIS administrator.

The entire sewer system has recorded inspections using the Closed Circuit Televised (CCTV) equipment, and this information is available in the GIS system. The CCTV program notes the sewer main size and type, location of laterals, manholes and defects. It also records the direction of flow, invert to rim depth, and stationing to the centerline of the pipe. The current CCTV data and software programs are operationally based on the District's server. This allows for authorized personnel to access the raw data as needed for input into GIS.



SECTION 4

Table 4-1 Existing Sewer System GIS Data	
Facility	GIS Information
Manhole	 Facility ID number GPS Coordinates Station Date built Rim elevation Invert elevation Size of manhole Material type Inspection dates
Pipes	 Facility ID number Location with reference to streets and property lines Size (diameter) Shape Direction of flow Length Slope Material type Date built Pipe invert elevations (upstream and downstream) Plan or as-built number Inspection dates Repair Reline Date of replacement Breaks/Damage Priority locations CCTV Hyperlink to pipes Areas of increased maintenance
Laterals	 Location with station reference to sewer line Size (diameter) Length Material type APN Roots or Grease Code

	Defective Taps
Streets	Name
	Right-of-Way
	Lots
	Property Addresses

4.2 Preventive Operation and Maintenance (O&M)

Preventive maintenance is defined as routine and scheduled activities performed before equipment or buried assets fail for the purpose of extending their life, reducing maintenance/ replacement costs, and increasing reliability. Planned and proactive preventive maintenance is more efficient and cost effective than reactive operations. Preventative maintenance anticipates and prevents problems from occurring and maintains the long-term integrity of all assets rather than fixing short-term problems as they occur. Preventative maintenance will also include the most immediate and pressing problems within the sewer collection system.

4.2.1 Scheduled Cleaning of Sewers

The District cleans the entire sewer distribution system on a regular basis using a high pressure jet and various spray nozzles. Different nozzles, root eradicators and cleaning agents are used based on the presence of debris, sand, roots, and FOG. Areas of increased maintenance are cleaned weekly, monthly, bimonthly, or quarterly, according to historical results. Areas identified in the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan rated "high" in the O&M frequency category also receive a specialized cleaning schedule. Sewer mains that are scheduled to be inspected are cleaned prior to inspection.

As part of the O&M of the sewer collection system, EVWD maintains a list of locations that are "priority increased maintenance" locations. In addition to the list of priority locations, there are seven (7) siphons in the sewer collection system the District staff inspects and cleans on a regular basis. The list of increased maintenance locations are part of the GIS data

4.2.2 Resolution of Customer Complaints

Customer input is a valuable means of understanding sewer system field conditions. The District's procedure for customer complaints regarding odor are to forward the call to the Sewer Maintenance department for investigation. Staff will investigate and, if appropriate, jet the line to remove any standing water. If the problem is emanating from a known commercial area, or from an area of increased maintenance, efforts to clear fats, oils or grease may include adding a degreaser to the jet's water.

4.2.3 Maintenance Activity Records

The District schedules and performs regular O&M of the sewer pipelines and maintains a daily log of the jetting and cleaning. The log includes equipment used, location, description of the work performed and any remarks. If sand, rocks, roots, grease are found they are cleared and noted on the report. The reports are kept in accordance with the District's Record Retention Policy and are available for review at the District office.

4.3 Rehabilitation and Replacement Plan

The WDR requires that a Rehabilitation and Replacement plan be developed to identify and prioritize system deficiencies and implement short- and long-term rehabilitation actions to address each deficiency. The program includes regular visual and TV inspections of manholes and sewer pipes, and lists the condition of sewer pipes for priority scheduling of replacement or rehabilitation with ranking applied to each significant defect.

4.3.1 Routine Visual Inspections

Routine above ground inspections occur every time a manhole is opened. District crews look for any structural anomalies in the lid, rim, rings, ladders, shelf and inverts. Staff also looks for damage due to excessive hydrogen sulfide gas (H_2S) corrosion. If any defects are noted, a work order is initiated to make the necessary repairs.

As the sewer crew jets and cleans the sewer mains, every manhole is inspected during the process to see if debris from possible pipe breaks and collapses is present. If any is discovered, follow up CCTV inspections are scheduled. The District has the ability to identify sewer mains requiring immediate attention and facilitate unscheduled non-emergency spot repairs.

4.3.2 CCTV Inspection Program

EVWD adopted the National Association of Sewer Service Companies (NASSCO)'s Pipeline Assessment & Certification Program (PACP) to provide standardization and consistency in the method sewer pipe conditions are evaluated and ranked. The CCTV inspection program is run by staff with certificates in NASSCO PACP codes. A total of six (6) EVWD field staff and two (2) office staff have been trained and certified using PACP standards.

EVWD maintenance staff conducted a District-wide CCTV inspection of all mains in the system. Each main was identified by the upper and lower manholes connecting the pipe run. Information has been collected to better understand the pipe conditions including: identifying the size of the main, material, level of water in the pipe, length, and observations about any materials on the surface, and the existence of cracks, fractures, holes, offsets, and collapses. Notes were also taken as to the depth of the water, the presence of debris, sand, roots, FOG and location of and condition of lateral connections to the main.

4.3.3 Manhole Inspection Program

As part of the cleaning and CCTV inspection program, every manhole is inspected when jetting is performed, and when preventative maintenance operations such as odor control or insect eradication take place. Manholes are inspected for:

- Accessibility
- Proper drainage from the cover
- Infiltration
- Joint security
- Grease accumulation
- Debris accumulation
- Corrosion
- Design or construction flaws in the invert that cause turbulence

- Grout bed or frame
- Warped or misfit lid no rattle or rock
- Ring clean and seated properly
- Signs of potential problems with the lining (if interior is lined)
- Cracks or breaks in the cover, adjustment rings, walls, or bottom

SECTION 4

4.4 Training Program

EVWD currently provides the following formal training to each member of its O&M staff as shown on Table 4-2.

Table 4-2 EVWD Training Program			
Description of Training	Frequency		
Confined space entry	Annually		
Trench shoring	Annually		
First aid and CPR	Certification every two years		
Spill Response	Annually		
In-House Sewer response Team Training	Annually		
РАСР	Certification every two years		
Safety Meetings	Annually		

EVWD uses on-the-job training for basic system cleaning and surveillance activities. Senior staff is paired with junior staff in order to carry out system O&M activities. District staff performs in-house sewer response team training and conducts monthly safety meetings.

4.5 Equipment and Replacement Parts

Per the SSMP requirements, equipment and replacement part inventories should be available that include identification of critical replacement parts. Since there are no pump stations within the EVWD collection system, the replacement part inventory is limited to pipelines and their appurtenances.

Maintenance trucks are equipped for minor repairs on smaller diameter pipelines. Materials currently stored at EVWD facility includes:

- Small sections of VCP pipe
- Small sections of PVC pipe

- Manholes and riser rings
- Hand tools

• Repair clamps

• Pressure cleaning nozzles

EVWD keeps an inventory of parts including a sewer emergency response trailer, CCTV truck, blowers, tripods, pumps, inflatable sewer plugs, air monitoring equipment, masks, decontamination pools, Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA), spare sewer pipe, couplings, cleanouts, two vacuum trucks, tools and other spare parts. The inventory is stored at strategic facilities throughout the service area.

SECTION 5: DESIGN AND PERFORMANCE PROVISIONS

This section of the SSMP will describe the existing EVWD's standards and future plans for the development of the standards for the design, construction, inspection, testing, and acceptance of new, rehabilitated, or repaired sewer collection system and their appurtenances.

5.1 Existing EVWD Standards

EVWD has an established set of standards and criteria for the design and construction of sewer mains. These include:

- Standard Requirements for the Design and Processing of Sanitary Sewer Improvement Plans in the Development Guidelines and Procedures Manual
- Standard Specifications for the Furnishing of Materials and the Construction of Sanitary
 Sewers
- Standard Sewer Drawings
- Approved General Notes & Certificates

EVWD staff reviews projects for conformance with these design standards and procedures. Copies of the existing standards for the sewer collection system can be viewed on the District's website or at the District's headquarters.

5.2 Development of Additional Standards

EVWD staff, both in Engineering and Operations, have reviewed the existing standard drawings and have provided feedback and comments to the Director of Engineering and Operations. As a result, an update of the standard drawings was completed in April 2022.

Design standards and construction specifications will provide the enforcement measures to ensure quality and consistency in the sewer collection system and prevent future SSOs. These standards are reviewed and revised as needed.

The EVWD design standards and standard specifications have been updated to require Contractors to perform CCTV inspection of newly installed sewer lines after they have been constructed. Detailed testing requirements such as CCTV, air testing, vacuum testing, hydro testing, mandrel testing, and others for gravity sewer, sewer manholes, force mains, and pump stations may be added.

SECTION 6: SPILL EMERGENCY RESPONSE PLAN

This section of the SSMP describes what the WDR requires from an agency when it develops and implements a Spill Emergency Response Plan (SERP) including measures to protect public health and the environment. At a minimum, the plan must include the following:

- a. Notify primary responders, appropriate local officials, and appropriate regulatory agencies of a spill in a timely manner;
- b. Notify other potentially affected entities (for example, Health Agencies, Water Suppliers, etc.) of spills that potentially affect public health or reach waters of the State;
- c. Comply with notification, monitoring and reporting requirements of this General Order, State law and regulations, and applicable Regional Water Board Orders;
- d. Ensure that appropriate staff and contractors implement the Spill Emergency Response Plan and are appropriately trained;
- e. Address emergency system operation, traffic control and other necessary response activities;
- f. Contain a spill and prevent/minimize discharge to waters of the State or any drainage convenance system;
- g. Minimize and remediate public health impacts and adverse impacts on beneficial uses of waters of the State;
- h. Remove sewage from drainage conveyance system;
- i. Clean the spill area and drainage conveyance system in a manner that does not inadvertently impact beneficial uses in the receiving waters;
- j. Implement technologies, practices, equipment, and interagency coordination to expedite spill containment and recovery;
- k. Implement pre-planned coordination and collaboration with storm drain agencies and other utility agencies/departments prior, during and after a spill event;
- I. Conduct post spill assessments of spill response activities;
- m. Document and report spill events as required in this General Order; and
- n. Annually, review and assess effectiveness of the Spill Emergency Response Plan, and update the Plan as needed.

6.1 Existing EVWD Emergency Response Plan

EVWD developed an Emergency Response Plan (ERP) in 2020. A copy of the ERP is located at the District's headquarters. The ERP is intended to provide EVWD staff with emergency response procedures should a disaster take place within or near the service area. This document considers emergencies that could impact the sewer system including seismic activity, flooding, debris accumulation, and vandalism. The objective of the ERP is to

understand potential hazards that may occur, steps to respond, and procedures restore service to the community.

6.2 SERP

EVWD developed a specific sewer system Overflow Emergency Response Plan (OERP) in June 2014. The OERP complies with the requirements of the past WDR and includes response and notification procedures for SSOs. The OERP took into consideration the National Incident Management System (NIMS) and the Standardized Emergency Management System (SEMS) format, reporting, and training. All District staff receives ICS, SIMS, and NIMS training as part of the Emergency Preparedness Program. Standard reporting forms have also been developed for use in the event of an emergency. The OERP was updated in 2019.

On December 6, 2022, the State Water Resources Control Board adopted a new SSS-WDR Order, which added to the requirements of the OERP and termed the new requirements the Spill Emergency Response Plan (SERP). The SERP was updated in 2023 to meet the new requirements and is available for viewing at the District's Headquarters.

SECTION 7: FOG PROGRAM

The WDR requires that EVWD evaluate the District's service area to determine whether a FOG (fats, oil and grease) control program is needed. If it is determined that a FOG program is not needed, justification must be provided. If FOG needs to be addressed, then the District must prepare and implement a FOG source control program to reduce the amount of these substances discharged into the sanitary sewer system. This program must include the following, as appropriate:

- a. An implementation plan and schedule for a public education outreach program that promotes proper disposal of FOG.
- b. A plan and schedule for the disposal of FOG generated within the sanitary sewer system service area. This may include a list of acceptable disposal facilities and/or additional facilities needed to adequately dispose of FOG generated within a sanitary sewer system service area.
- c. The legal authority to prohibit discharges to the system and identify measures to prevent SSOs and blockages caused by FOG.
- d. Requirements to install grease removal devices (such as traps or interceptors), design standards for the removal devices, maintenance requirements, Best Management Practices requirements, record keeping and reporting requirements.
- e. Authority to inspect grease producing facilities, enforcement authorities, and whether the District has sufficient staff to inspect and enforce the FOG ordinance.
- f. An identification of sanitary sewer system sections subject to FOG blockages and establishment of a cleaning maintenance schedule for each section.
- g. Development and implementation of source control measures, for all sources of FOG discharged to the sanitary sewer system, for each section identified in (f) above.

EVWD is currently in the process of building a water reclamation facility (the SNRC) that will allow for the treatment of wastewater locally, without reliance on the SBMWD. The transition of sewer treatment and system responsibilities cannot reasonably be expected to occur instantaneously. The City of San Bernardino and EVWD have negotiated the transition of sewer flows and responsibilities, including the FOG program. EVWD has agreed to have and implement its FOG control program at the start of the flow transition. This SSMP will span over a period in which both parties have control of the FOG program, and items in this section that are intended to be effective after the start of the flow transition are noted in the subsection titles with the language, "To be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino."

7.1 Existing FOG Control Program

SBMWD, operators of the regional wastewater treatment plant, administer the FOG control program for member agencies through a Joint Powers Authority (JPA) agreement. The District's service area is included within the City of San Bernardino Ordinance MC-1010, which requires compliance with Federal and State wastewater standards and provides the City and the District with the authority to inspect and enforce for FOG violations.

In addition, EVWD and the City of San Bernardino have signed a Pretreatment Program

Administrative Agreement, which gives EVWD further authority to implement and enforce the City's pretreatment program. A copy of this agreement is kept at the District's office and is available for review.

Following the completion of SNRC and the transition of sewer flows and treatment responsibilities from SBMWD to EVWD, EVWD will assume responsibility of the FOG Control Program, which will be the new program included in EVWD Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance No. 404 "An Ordinance Regulating the Use of Public Sewers, the Installation and Connection of Building and Lateral Sewers, Public Sewer Main Extensions, Establishing a Sewer Department, Providing Permits For the Installation and Connection of Sanitary Sewers, Providing Sewers or Annexed Areas and Subdivisions, Regulating the Discharge of Waters and Wastes into the Public Sewer System, Providing Relief for the Violation of the Provisions Thereof and Providing Procedures for Enforcement."

Existing EVWD staff are expected to manage and enforce the new FOG program with the assistance of third party inspection services. EVWD will assume the responsibility of solicitating for third party inspection services prior to the assumption of the new responsibilities.

7.2 Implementation of the FOG Control Program

EVWD will continue to work with the City of San Bernardino to implement and enforce the FOG program, and after the transition of wastewater flow to SNRC, EVWD will implement and enforce the FOG program independently. As part of their preventive operations and maintenance (O&M) of the sewer collection system, EVWD has developed and maintains a list of "Areas of Increased Maintenance" and schedules cleanings weekly, monthly and quarterly. This type of preventive maintenance ensures that no SSO occur in these specific areas. In addition to regularly scheduled cleanings the District distributes informational pamphlets regarding proper disposal of grease or fats and the consequences of inappropriate disposal. Preventative measures also include regularly scheduled maintenance at the seven siphons located in the collection system where District staff conducts weekly inspections and cleanings.

In addition, EVWD has implemented a program to perform regular visual and CCTV inspections along with cleaning the sewer mains and manholes throughout the system. The District maintains approximately 220 miles of pipe. In order to maximize the useful life of the system, cleaning and inspection of mains is a priority included in the development of the annual budget. The District's goal is to CCTV 20% of the collection system each year so that the entire system is inspected in a five-year period. Section 4, Operations and Maintenance Program, of this SSMP provides more detailed information on the cleaning and CCTV inspection program. The District retains the video inspection data for historical records dating back to 2012.

7.3 Implementation Plan and Schedule for Public Outreach (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Ongoing public and stakeholder education, outreach, and participation are important components to the EVWD FOG Control Program. This includes outreach to commercial and residential FOG generators. EVWD will maintain an up-to-date website which serves as an additional source of information for the food service industry and the community. A summary

of the FOG Control Program, BMP guide for Food Service Establishments (FSE) and general information about eliminating FOG discharges into the collection system are provided during outreach events.

7.3.1 Summary of Public Education Outreach (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Public Outreach is coordinated by the Public Affairs Department of the District in consultation with the Water Quality Department. EVWD has Best Management Practices (BMPs) brochures, in English and Spanish, which are distributed to all industrial users. EVWD also has posters, in English and Spanish, that are distributed to FOG generators to encourage Best Management Practices. Copies of the outreach materials will be available on the EVWD website. The public outreach activities, including FOG education, are covered in Chapter 11, the Communications portion of the District's SSMP.

7.3.2 Annual Plan and Schedule of Events, SSO Driven Activities (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Outreach is conducted through scheduled events and on an ad-hoc basis. Planned outreach is timed around FSE inspections. Environmental Control Inspectors will visit each FSE to inspect grease traps and interceptors and check for any violations. At this time, they also provide education material on BMPs to the FSE. Newly permitted FSEs are also provided with material on BMPs. Educational Material is shared with residents prior to the holiday season, and other sewer educational material that is shared at scheduled events contains information on FOG control. Finally, EVWD will develop door hangers for BMP pamphlets that can be distributed to homes in the area following an SSO event that is attributed to FOG. Environmental Control Inspectors will also perform surprise inspections of FSEs in the vicinity of a FOG attributed SSO event.

7.3.3 Plan and Schedule for Disposal of FOG within the Service Area (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD does not own or operate any FOG disposal facilities. The FSEs must, at a minimum, collect waste FOG and prevent its discharge into the collection system by implementing the following BMPs to reduce the amount of FOG requiring disposal:

- "Dry wipe" pots, pans, dishware and work areas prior to washing. Use rubber scrapers or paper towels to remove FOG from cookware, utensils, and serving ware.
- Use absorbent products to clean under fryer baskets and other locations where FOG may be spilled or dripped.

For waste FOG that is generated, it must be collected and stored property in recycling barrels or drums in accordance with requirements. FSEs must use a licensed hauler or recycling facility to dispose of this waste. FSEs must save receipts for proper disposal, which are reviewed during a FSE inspection conducted by Environmental Control Inspectors.

7.4 Authority to Prohibit FOG Discharges and Identify Measures to Prevent FOG Related SSOs (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Legal authority for the District's FOG Discharge Control Program is established in EVWD Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance No. 404.

SEWER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT PLAN

7.4.1 Legal Authority (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD's FOG Control Program will be supported by EVWD Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance No. 404. Section 12 of the Ordinance gives EVWD the legal authority to prohibit discharges to the sewer system, authority to require installation of pretreatment (i.e. grease control devices), authority to inspect grease producing facilities and authority to enforce these provisions. The Ordinance can be found at the District's website: https://www.eastvalley.org/

7.4.2 Preventative Measures (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD's measures for preventing FOG-related SSOs are two-fold:

- Outreach and Enforcement: EVWD will conduct both planned and ad hoc outreach to educate customers on what they can do to reduce or eliminate the amount of FOG (and other debris such as flushable wipes) that get into the system. For FSEs, this includes regular inspections of their grease interceptors and traps. For those FSEs that are found to be out of compliance, enforcement actions can be taken to ensure any additional FOG does not get into the system.
- 2. Sewer Cleaning: EVWD has an aggressive cleaning and CCTV schedule for the collection system, described in other sections of this SSMP, to keep FOG from building up in pipes. Pipes are inspected and cleaned if they are found to contain FOG deposits, and their cleaning frequency can be adjusted as needed.

7.5 FOG Program Requirements and Design Standards (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD's FOG Program Requirements are found in the Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance No. 404.

7.5.1 Requirements to Install Grease Control Devices (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

All FSEs are required to submit a Restaurant User Permit Application to the District before discharging any wastewater to the collection system. Upon review of the application, the Department will notify the FSE whether a Grease Control Device is required. EVWD may elect to issue a Conditional Waiver or required under sink grease traps as approved by the County of San Bernardino Department of Environmental Health Services, if it is determined that the FSE does not have reasonable potential to cause an adverse effect on EVWD facilities. However, the Department may revoke the condition waiver for the following reasons:

- 1. Changes in menu;
- 2. Falsification of information in the wastewater discharge characterization;
- 3. Changes in operating hours;
- 4. Changes in the maximum seating capacity;
- 5. Changes in the maximum meals served per hour;

- 6. Changes in the equipment used;
- 7. Changes in the quantity or quality of wastewater discharged; and,
- 8. Increase sewer line maintenance or SSOs which are attributed to the restaurant user's wastewater discharge.

7.5.2 Design Standards Grease Control Devices (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The design, construction, installation and testing of grease control devices is determined by the EVWD's Regulations for the Installation and sizing of Grease Control Devices, which is available on the District's website.

7.5.3 Maintenance Requirements (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The Districts Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance Section 12.04.09 states:

Any person, property owner, or FSE that owns, operates, or maintains a GCD shall maintain it properly.

- The GCD shall be cleaned as often as necessary but not less than once every 90 days to ensure that sediment and floating materials do not accumulate to impair the efficiency of the GCD and odors do not cause a public nuisance. A GCD is considered to be in violation under the following conditions:
 - a. Odors generated from the GCD cause a public nuisance.
 - b. The GCD is not in good working condition and appears to be malfunctioning or bypassing.
 - c. The GCD contains FOG and solids accumulation exceeding its rated capacity as documented by the manufacturer through third party test reports, or in the absence of that, twenty-five percent (25%) of the design hydraulic depth of the GCD.
 - d. The wastewater discharged from the FSE is determined to contain more than 250 mg/L of oil and grease.
- 2. When a GCD is cleaned, it must be pumped out completely and the removed sediment, liquid, and floating material shall be lawfully disposed of at a facility legally approved to accept such waste.
- 3. The user shall maintain a manifest for the removed GCD waste for a minimum of three years. The manifest shall include at a minimum: the name and address of the facility where the waste is removed, the disposal site for the GCD waste, the volume removed, and the date and time of removal. Failure to maintain and provide the required information may require the user to document the required information on an EVWD issued grease hauler manifest form.
- 4. The removed pretreatment waste shall not be reintroduced into the GCD or discharged into another GCD, or at another location which has not been approved by the District to accept such waste.

5. The use of chemicals to dissolve grease in a GCD is specifically prohibited. The owner, lessee, or sub-lessee, of any facility required to install an interceptor, and any proprietor, operator or superintendent of such facility are individually and severally liable for any failure of proper maintenance of such interceptor. Failure to maintain an GCD is a violation of this Ordinance and subjects the User to progressive enforcement actions in accordance with the approved Enforcement Response Plan.

7.5.4 BMP Requirements (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The Districts Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance Section 12.04.10 states:

- 1. All FSEs are required to implement BMPs to control the discharge of FOG to the sewer system and prevent SSOs. The BMPs are subject to approval by the District and at a minimum must include the following elements:
 - a. Dispose food waste directly into approved disposal containers and not in sinks.
 - b. Install drain screens on all drainage pipes. periodically clean the screens and dispose screened solids into trash or garbage cans.
 - c. "Dry wipe" pots, pans, dishware and work areas prior to washing. Use rubber scrapers or paper towels to remove FOGs from cookware, utensils, and serving ware.
 - d. Collect waste cooking oil and store properly in recycling barrels or drums. Use a licensed hauler or recycling facility to dispose of this waste.
 - e. Use absorbent products to clean under fryer baskets and other locations where FOGs may be spilled or dripped.
 - f. Train kitchen staff and other employees to follow BMPs.
 - g. Post all applicable BMPs in the food preparation and/or dishwashing area.
 - h. Observe proper GCD cleaning and maintenance procedures to ensure the device is properly operating.
 - i. Comply with all other BMPs deemed appropriate by the District.
- 2. In the event an industrial user fails to comply with the requirements of this Ordinance, the District may take immediate enforcement action to reduce the risk of FOG entering the collection system by applying one or more appropriate enforcement action(s). The enforcement actions available to the District are outlined in Enforcement Response Plan (ERP), and an individual ERP may be developed for the non-compliant FSE.

7.6 Inspection and Enforcement Program (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

7.6.1 Authority to Inspect Grease Producing Facilities (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD's Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance provides the District with the legal authority to visit and inspect FSEs and monitor the implementation of BMPs. Section 12.04.11 of

the Ordinance states:

This Ordinance provides the authority to carry out all inspection, surveillance, and monitoring procedures necessary to make a determination on compliance or noncompliance by FSEs with pretreatment standards and requirements, independent of information supplied by FSEs.

This Ordinance specifies that whenever it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of, or perform any duty imposed by this or other applicable law, or whenever the District has reasonable cause to believe that there exists upon any premises any possible violation of the provisions of this section or other applicable law, or any condition which makes such premises hazardous, unsafe, or dangerous, the District or his/her designate is authorized to enter such property at any reasonable time and to inspect the same and perform any duty imposed upon the District or his/her designate by this section or other applicable law. To that end, FSEs shall comply with the following inspection requirements:

- 1. The District shall inspect the facilities of any user to ascertain whether all requirements of this Ordinance are being met. Persons on the premises shall allow the District ready access at all reasonable times to all parts of the premises for the purpose of inspection, sampling, and records examination.
- 2. The user shall ensure that there is always a person on site, during normal business hours, knowledgeable of the user's processes and activities to accompany the District during the inspection.
- 3. The user shall provide immediate access when an emergency exists.
- 4. All pretreatment equipment shall be immediately accessible at all times for the purpose of inspection. At no time shall any material, debris, obstacles, or obstructions be placed in such a manner that will prevent immediate access to the pretreatment equipment.
- 5. No user shall interfere with delay, resist or refuse entrance to the District when attempting to inspect any facility which discharges wastewater to the POTW.
- 6. Where a user has security measures in force which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into the premises, the user shall make all necessary arrangements so that, upon presentation of identification, the District will be permitted to enter, without delay.
- 7. The user shall make available for copying by the District, all records required to be kept under the provisions of This Ordinance.

7.6.2 Authority to Enforce (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Section 14 of the EVWD's Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance provides the authority to carry out all inspection, surveillance, and monitoring procedures necessary to make a determination on compliance or noncompliance by industrial users and FSEs with applicable pretreatment standards and requirements, independent of information supplied by industrial users. The Ordinance gives the General Manager the power, jurisdiction and supervision over places of discharge of wastewater into the collection system, necessary to adequately enforce and administer all applicable State and Federal Laws. Section 14 specifies that whenever it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of, or perform any duty imposed by this section or other applicable law, or whenever the General Manager has reasonable cause to believe that there exists upon any premises any possible

violation of the provisions of this section or other applicable law, or any condition which makes such premises hazardous, unsafe, or dangerous, the General Manager or their designate is authorized to enter such property at any reasonable time and to inspect the same and perform any duty imposed upon the General Manager or their designate by this section or other applicable law.

7.6.3 Resource Plan to Inspect and Enforce (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The Water Quality Department will have adequate resources, internally and via contract services, to conduct annual inspections of all FSEs withing the District's jurisdiction for compliance with the Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance. In addition, they may establish Enforcement timelines if the user is found to be non-compliance during the time of inspection and/or found to be the cause of FOG related SSO. Some industrial users may require semi-annual or more frequent inspections. Staffing and contractor levels are reviewed annually during the preparation of the District's budget.

7.7 Maintenance Plan to Address FOG Issues (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The maintenance program to address FOG and reduce FOG-relates SSOs consist of:

- 1. Identification of FOG accumulation and problems related to FOG
- 2. Maintenance of pipes subject to FOG accumulation

7.7.1 Identification of Specific Pipe Segments with FOG Accumulation Issues (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

Pipe Segments with FOG accumulation are identified using the following methods:

- 1. Routine CCTV inspections
- 2. Cleaning, which pulls back FOG and other debris visible by cleaning staff. Findings from inspections and cleanings are used to adjust a pipe's cleaning frequency, so that pipes found to have accumulation can be cleaned more frequently to prevent buildup that might cause an SSO.
- 3. SSO event investigation and inspection. SSOs caused by blockages from FOG are monitored for location and cleaning frequency. All blockages are tracked by District staff. Locations with a high number of FOG blockages are given special investigation and cleaning status. Sewers prone to FOG accumulation or blockages are given high priority and cleaned more frequently in an effort to prevent FOG related SSOs.

7.7.2 Maintenance of pipes subject to FOG accumulation (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

EVWD uses cleaning of pipes to reduce FOG accumulation. Pipes with a history of FOG accumulation and/or FOG-related SSOs are cleaned more frequently than the system-wide cleaning frequency. Pipes with observed FOG deposits during inspection are cleaned immediately.

All secondary pipe segments, including "non-problem" sewers, are included in a routine

preventative maintenance cleaning schedule.

In order to ensure that required cleaning is occurring, scheduled and completed tasks are catalogued and tracked in EVWD's computerized asset inspection and decisions support software, GraniteNET. The software tracks cleaning frequency and condition assessments and serves as quality control for repairs that are made.

7.8 Pretreatment Program to Address FOG issues (to be effective after flow transition from San Bernardino)

The Water Quality Department investigates potential source(s) of FOG waste through its permit program for FSEs. All FSEs are required to submit a user permit application to the District before discharging any wastewater to the sewer system. Upon review of the application, The District will notify the FSE whether an oil/grease control device is required. This helps to prevent FOG waste from getting into the collection system. Environmental Control Inspectors and assistants carry out inspections of FSEs to ensure they are in compliance with their industrial user permit, in compliance with source control measures for all sources of grease, implementing BMPs, and maintaining their grease control device(s) as applicable.

As part of routine inspection activities, Environmental Control Inspectors and assistants provide information and training materials such as BMP brochures and posters, an ordinance summary and lists of licensed grease waste haulers.

In the event an industrial user fails to comply with the requirements of the District's Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance, the District may take immediate enforcement action to reduce the risk of FOG entering the collection system by applying one or more appropriate enforcement actions(s). The enforcement actions available to the District are outlined in an Enforcement Response Plan (ERP), and an individual ERP is developed for the non-compliant FSE.

7.9 Pretreatment Program Record Keeping (to be effective after flow

transition from San Bernardino)Unless other record keeping requirements are required all records related to the Pretreatment Program are required to be kept by the discharger and available for inspection by District personnel for three years. All inspection reports, records, correspondence, and enforcement documentation, will be kept electronically in the Districts FOG cloud based platform, SwiftComply.

SECTION 8: SYSTEM EVALUATION AND CAPACITY ASSURANCE PLAN (SECAP)

The WDR requires owners and operators of sewer collection systems to have a System Evaluation and Capacity Assurance Plan (SECAP). This component involves preparing and implementing a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) that will provide hydraulic capacity of key sewer system elements for dry weather peak flow conditions, as well as the appropriate design storm or wet weather event. At a minimum, the SECAP must include:

- Steps to evaluate those portions of the sanitary sewer system, which are experiencing
 or contributing to an SSO discharge caused by hydraulic deficiency. The evaluation
 must provide estimates of peak flows (including flows from SSOs that escape from
 the system) associated with conditions similar to those causing overflow events,
 estimates of the capacity of key system components, hydraulic deficiencies (including
 components of the system with limiting capacity) and the major sources that contribute
 to the peak flows associated with overflow events;
- Establishing a short- and long-term CIP to address identified hydraulic deficiencies including prioritization, alternatives analysis, and schedules. The CIP may include increases in pipe size, Inflow & Infiltration (I&I) reduction programs, increases and redundancy in pumping capacity, and storage facilities.

8.1 Capacity Evaluation

The capacity of a sewer collection system should be regularly evaluated to ensure that all areas of the system have sufficient capacity for existing and future flow conditions. It is especially critical to evaluate capacity when adding new connections or developments to the existing system. Several tools exist to aid in the assessment of sewer system capacity, including flow monitoring, I&I study and hydraulic modeling.

8.1.1 Flow Monitoring

System capacity was evaluated using real-time flow monitoring data through transducers placed at strategic locations throughout the sewer collection system. This data was incorporated in the model used for the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan.

8.1.2 Hydraulic Modeling

Measured flow monitoring data along with evaluation of current City and County land use plan information was used in developing a dry and wet weather hydraulic models for the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan. Wet weather storm events were analyzed to further develop and evaluate the capacity within the existing trunk sewer lines and to help calibrate the model.

8.1.3 Sewer Master Planning

EVWD completed a comprehensive Sewer System Master Plan in 2019. This master plan includes a capacity analysis and provided a capital improvement program that identifies capacity related improvement projects. The District's goal is to revise the plan every five (5) years to maintain an accurate capital improvement program and an updated model which can be used to analyze future developments. This document is available for public review on the District's website.

8.1.4 Identification of Capacity Needs

The capacity assessment of the entire sewer collection system has been evaluated through the development of EVWD's Sewer System Master Plan. The capacity analysis used the calibrated dry and wet weather wastewater collection system model to evaluate existing and projected 2040 conditions. The District's sewer collection system lines range from 6-inches to 24-inches in diameter. There are 4,500 manholes and 213 miles of gravity sewer pipes that were included in the hydraulic model which was used to develop the 2019 Sewer System Master Plan.

The hydraulic model includes all pipes 10 inches in diameter and larger. Mains that are 6 or 8 inches were included only if considered hydraulically necessary or important to evaluate the wastewater collection system.

The ratio of flow depth to pipe diameter (d/D ratio) was used to identify pipe capacity issues. The District's criteria is d/D = 0.50 (peak dry weather) for pipes equal to or less than 12 inches in diameter and d/D = 0.75 (peak dry weather) for pipes greater than 12 inches in diameter and d/D=1.0 (peak wet weather) for all gravity sewer pipelines.

8.1.5 Identification of Rehabilitation Needs

EVWD has developed and implemented a CCTV inspection program of the sewer system as part of their Operation and Management (O&M) Program. Inspection of sewer mains follows National Association of Sewer Services Companies' (NASSCO) Pipeline Assessment and Certification Program (PACP) standards. This program has allowed the District to identify and verify some of the hydraulic deficiencies as identified in the model and also deficiencies that exist in the system due to structural, operations, construction, or other miscellaneous issues. This program has provided a standardized comprehensive data set that is used for the prioritization, planning and renovation of wastewater collection improvement projects. The CIP schedule will be determined according to the prioritization as determined by the PACP grading system. Deficient pipes will be ranked, prioritized, and incorporated into the Capital Improvement Plan.

8.2 Design Criteria

EVWD has a set of standards and criteria for the design and construction of sewer mains within their system. These include:

- Standard Specifications for the Furnishing of Materials and the Construction of Sanitary Sewers
- Standard Drawings for Sewer Systems
- Approved General Notes & Certificates

Table 8-1 shows the design criteria used by the District for sewer mains. It is important to note that EVWD does not currently own or operate any lift stations or force mains and as a result, have not developed specific design criteria for these types of facilities.

Table 8-1 Hydraulic Criteria for the Design of EVWD Sewer Collection System Lines			
Element	Value		
Manning's 'n' Factor	0.013 for all materials		
Minimum Pipe Size (for gravity sewers)	8 inches		
Maximum Allowable Flow Depth	 Under peak design dry weather flow conditions: d/D = 0.50 for pipes 12-inches in diameter and smaller d/D = 0.75 for pipes larger than 12-inches in diameter The remaining capacity is assumed to be available for wet weather flows. 		
Minimum Velocity/Slope	Gravity lines: 2 ft/sec at peak dry weather flow at build-out (2.5 ft/sec is preferred).		
Maximum Velocity	Gravity lines: 10 ft/sec (to minimize potential for scouring)		

8.3 Capital Improvement Program

The 2019 Sewer System Master Plan provided recommendations to address existing and future hydraulic and capacity deficiencies found in the compilation of data and analysis of the primary sewer conveyance system using a hydraulic model. This information is used in the development of the District's Five-Year Capital Improvement Program, which is revisited as part of the annual budget development process. The 2019 Sewer System Master Plan contains a more detailed discussion of the capacity evaluation recommendations. A copy of the plan is located on the District's website at www.eastvalley.org.

Recommended Master Plan Programs

The Sewer System Master Plan identified both short- and long-term capital improvement needs. Short-Term Capital Improvements are projects that warrant immediate consideration. Long-Term Capital Improvements are more complex and will require financial planning, along with design development and implementation and project scheduling.

These recommendations will continue be updated as EVWD's CCTV program progresses.

8.3.1 Short-Term CIPs

As part of the update of the Sewer System Master Plan, EVWD will develop a Short-Term CIP to correct hydraulic deficient primary sewers in the existing system or to identify potential deficiencies that may occur at these locations. The short-term CIP will identify the deficient locations, costs associated with the improvement needs, and a timeline for implementation of the projects. The deficient pipe(s) will be sized to accommodate system flows at build-out as well as to correct existing deficiencies.
8.3.2 Long-Term CIPs

As part of the update of the Sewer System Master Plan, EVWD will develop a long-term CIP to correct hydraulic deficient sewers using a phasing system that allows the District to evaluate the improvements to accommodate system flows for build-out conditions. The long-term CIP will identify the deficient locations, costs associated with the improvement needs, and a timeline for implementation of the projects.

8.4 CIP Schedule

As stated above, the short-term and long-term CIPs will include a timeline for implementation of projects. It is important to note that CIPs will be adjusted as the District gathers additional information about the system through the CCTV program and as the Sewer System Master Plan is updated. The CIP schedule is included in the annual budget document and is available for review on the District's website.

SECTION 9: MONITORING, MEASUREMENT, AND PROGRAM MODIFICATIONS

One of the critical components of a comprehensive SSMP program is the development and tracking of performance indicators. Performance indicators describe the collection system and related maintenance activities based on measurable objectives. These indicators provide information that can be used to:

- Evaluate the effectiveness of operations and maintenance activities (i.e., cleaning, jetting, CCTV inspections, flow of service calls, and reports), programs, and budgets
- Identify performance trends
- Demonstrate compliance with the SSMP
- Modify planning and operational practices to maximize system performance during audits

This section contains recommendations for performance indicators specific to EVWD that will help monitor the progress and effectiveness of its SSMP program. EVWD's initial status or rating with respect to the recommended performance indicators is presented based on system and performance data provided by EVWD.

9.1 Benchmarking Data

Although it is important to tailor performance indicators to the unique characteristics of a specific system, it is also useful to develop indicators that can be used to compare performance with other collection systems. This comparison can be accomplished through benchmarking.

The usefulness of a benchmarking analysis can be maximized by gathering data from systems with similar characteristics. Sometimes it is difficult to identify and collect the necessary information from agencies owning and operating similar sewer collection systems. This is because many utilities either have not kept track of the information, or are reluctant or unwilling to release sensitive information related to the performance of their wastewater collection systems.

For these reasons, the benchmarking analysis in this SSMP utilizes two recent national reports that address benchmarking values for wastewater collection systems. Although these reports consider wastewater collection systems with wide ranging characteristics, the comparisons still provide useful insight as to how EVWD's wastewater collection system performs compared to that of other municipalities. This report uses the following two reports:

- "Benchmarking Performance Indicators for Water and Wastewater Utilities: Survey Data and Analyses Report. American Water Works Association, 2005."
- "Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers, 1999."

The following sections contain a brief description of the indicators investigated in each report. SEWER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT PLAN

9.1.1 American Water Works Association (AWWA) Report

The AWWA Report developed performance indicators for both water and wastewater utilities. The survey sample size for the wastewater performance indicators ranged in size from 78 to 121 and included utilities of varying size from across the country. The results were reported by region (West, South, Midwest, and Northeast) as well as by service population (>500,000; 100,001-500,000; 50,001-100,000; 10,000-50,000; <10,000). The following performance indicators related to wastewater collection systems were benchmarked in the study:

- Sewer Overflow Rate number of sanitary sewer overflows per year per mile of sewer
- Collection System Integrity number of pipe failures per year per mile of sewer
- O&M Cost per Account
- Planned Maintenance Ratio ratio of planned maintenance to unplanned maintenance

9.1.2 American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) Report

The ASCE Report focused specifically on wastewater collection systems. In addition to benchmarking performance indicators, the report also investigated maintenance practices and frequencies and attempted to correlate maintenance activities with system performance.

A total of 42 agencies from throughout the country provided data that was used in the report. Table 9-1 summarizes the characteristics of the collection systems analyzed in the study. The characteristics of EVWD's wastewater collection system are also presented for comparison. Some of the performance indicators and maintenance practices benchmarked in the ASCE Report include:

- Miles of Sewer Cleaned per Year
- Mainline Stoppages Cleared per Year
- Percent of System Inspected by Video per Year

- Sanitary Sewer Overflows per Year per Mile of Sewer
- Pipe Failures per Year per Mile of Sewer
- Customer Complaints per Year

Table 9-1 ASCE Report and EVWD Collection System Characteristics				
Description Average from ASCE EVWD Report				
Population Served	619,771	104,000		
Miles of Sewer	1,660	230		
Average Annual Daily Flow (MGD)	82.0	6.5		
Number of Lift Stations	47	0		
Industrial-Commercial Percentage	20.2%	5.9%		

9.2 System Specific Performance Indicators

Although the studies mentioned above provide useful guidance, the availability of information on wastewater collection systems and sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) is system specific and performance indicators are difficult to develop purely from a national perspective. Therefore, performance indicators were developed that recognize the size, complexity, and unique characteristics of EVWD's wastewater collection system.

Several indicators can be used to measure both the performance of the wastewater collection system and the efficiency, productivity, and adequacy of SSMP programs. The selection of indicators for a specific system depends on a variety of factors including regulatory requirements, EVWD's operational and performance goals, and availability of data and resources. In general, indicators that describe a wastewater collection system can be grouped into the following categories:

Demographic Indicators

- System Performance Indicators
- Budget Performance Indicators
- Staff and Equipment Performance
 Indicators

The following sections describe the recommended performance indicators for EVWD's wastewater collection system. EVWD's baseline status for the indicators is also described when sufficient data is available. Benchmarking results from the AWWA Report and ASCE Report studies are presented for applicable indicators for comparison. A summary of the recommended indicators and EVWD's current or baseline status has also been provided in Section 9.8.

9.3 Demographic Indicators

Demographic indicators are used to describe the size, complexity, and growth of the collection system. This type of information is especially critical for EVWD because of continued growth and development in and around the service area. Detailed system information data will allow EVWD to optimize planning activities and maximize service.

9.3.1 Service Area Population

This indicator tracks the total number of people receiving wastewater collection services from EVWD and can be used to track and forecast the demand for wastewater collection services. EVWD's current service population is estimated to be 102,508 with a projected increase to 150,700 by the year 2040.

9.3.2 Number of Customer Accounts

Similar to service area population, the number of customer accounts will provide important information about the size of the wastewater collection system. As of June 2019, EVWD had 19,125 single family residential accounts, 468 multi-family residential accounts (4 or more dwelling units) and 612 commercial/ industrial accounts, for a total of 20,205 customer accounts.

9.3.3 New Connections per Year

This indicator provides a direct measure of system growth by measuring how many new customers are being added to the system. For the 2018/2019 fiscal year, EVWD reported 136 new connections. New developments are planned in the service area that could result in a significant increase in wastewater collection system connections.

9.3.4 Length of Sewers

This indicator provides information on the size of the collection system. Over the past 20 years EVWD has installed approximately 100 miles of sanitary sewer. As of July 2019, EVWD has maintenance responsibility for 213 miles of sanitary sewer. It is estimated that at complete build-out the system will have approximately 280 miles of sanitary sewer.

9.3.5 Average Age of System

The age of the EVWD's wastewater collection system varies widely. Some sections are over 50-years old, while other areas have sewers that have been installed in past fifteen years. Table 9-2 below presents the length of sewer constructed in EVWD's service area in 5-year increments during the last 50 years. Using this data, the average age of the wastewater collection system is approximately 38 years.

Table 9-2 EVWD Wastewater Collection System Age					
Years Miles of Sewer Installed Percentage of System Average Age					
1957-1959	66 Miles	31 +/-	55 years		
1960-1980	70 Miles	32 +/-	44 years		
1981-2016	94 Miles	37 +/-	16 years		
Total	230 Miles	100	38		

9.4 Budget Performance Indicators

Budget indicators are used to monitor and track the level of funding allocated and expended on operation and maintenance of the wastewater collection system. The Capacity, Management, Operations and Maintenance (CMOM) program and SSMP program require that collection system owners or operators demonstrate that the allocation of budget resources is adequate to deliver an acceptable level of service to customers. Budget indicators can be used to help demonstrate compliance with this requirement.

9.4.1 Annual Collection System Budget per Account

This indicator is defined as the total annual budget allocated to the wastewater collection system divided by the number of customer accounts. EVWD budgeted \$3,172,000 to its Sewer Operation and Maintenance Fund for fiscal year 2018/19. EVWD also budgets money for sewer capital projects, but these dollars are excluded from this calculation.

Given 20,205 customer accounts (see Section 9.3.2), EVWD currently budgets approximately \$157 per customer account for wastewater collection system operations and maintenance.

The AWWA Report contains the performance indicator "O&M Cost per Account" defined as the total O&M cost per customer account. Customer accounts included all customer classes that were billed for some or all of the reporting period.

The O&M cost per account performance indicator is defined as follows:

O&M cost per account = total O&M costs (less depreciation)/total number of active customer accounts

The AWWA Report definition matches the definition stated in Section 9.4.1, so the benchmark analysis provides a useful comparison. Table 9-3 below summarizes the comparison between the AWWA Report results and EVWD's results.

Table 9-3 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for O&M per Account						
25th PercentileMedian75th PercentileSampleEVWD25th Percentile(2019)					EVWD (2019)	
	West	\$168	\$239	\$489	40	\$157
Desien	South	\$168	\$267	\$350	53	n/a
Region	Midwest	\$159	\$266	\$425	18	n/a

Table 9-3 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for O&M per Account						
	Northeast	\$165	\$282	\$303	6	n/a
	> 500,000	\$176	\$275	\$350	22	n/a
	100,001 - 500,000	\$157	\$232	\$347	41	\$157
Size	50,001 - 100,000	\$186	\$283	\$464	20	n/a
	10,000 - 50,000	\$181	\$274	\$464	29	n/a
	< 10,000	\$206	\$298	\$445	8	n/a
All Pa	articipants	\$168	\$272	\$378	121	\$157

Source: Benchmarking Performance Indicators for Water and Wastewater Utilities: Survey Data and Analysis Report. American Water Works Association 2005.

Table 9-3 indicates that EVWD is currently budgeting approximately 6.5% less than average on collection system operations and maintenance than the utilities surveyed for the AWWA Report. Among agencies or municipalities of similar size, EVWD is spending is consistent with the average collection system O&M.

9.4.2 Percentage of Budget for Collection System Rehabilitation

This indicator will be used to track EVWD's commitment to sewer system rehabilitation. It should be calculated as the total budget for collection system rehabilitation and replacement divided by the total collection system budget.

Budgetary data provided by EVWD indicates that approximately \$605,000 was budgeted for the Sewer Replacement Fund for Fiscal Year 2018-2019. Given a total budget of \$37,848,000 (see Section 9.4.1), EVWD currently budgets approximately 1.60% of its total budget to collection system replacement and rehabilitation.

It should be noted that EVWD has developed a Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) based on video inspection activities as well as the Sewer System Master Plan evaluation. Capital improvement projects are noted in the annual budget as a separate expense from the operations and maintenance budget.

9.5 Staff and Equipment Performance Indicators

Staff and Equipment indicators describe the staffing and equipment resources available to properly operate and maintain the wastewater collection system. Although the level of staffing and required equipment is unique to individual collection systems, it is still helpful to develop and track these indicators for analysis and comparison.

9.5.1 Population per Collection System Employee

This indicator provides information on the level of staffing to complete necessary O&M activities. In order to complete this calculation, it is necessary to define who will be considered a collection system employee. There are currently 67 full time equivalent (FTE) employees in EVWD dedicated to management, operations, and maintenance of the wastewater collection system. Therefore, with 67 FTE employees and a service population of approximately 102,508 people, EVWD currently has approximately 1,530 people per collection system employee.

9.5.2 Length of Sewer per Collection System Employee sewer system management plan

This indicator provides information based on the length of sewer. EVWD is currently responsible for 230 miles of sewer. Assuming 67 collection system employees, EVWD has approximately 3.2 miles of sewer per employee.

9.6 System Performance Indicators

Performance indicators are used to determine how well EVWD's sewer maintenance program meets goals related to level of service, asset management, and environmental protection.

9.6.1 Sanitary Sewer Overflows per Year per Length of Sewer

EVWD tracks and reports SSOs of sufficient volume to the Regional Water Quality Control Board. However, all SSOs of any volume are recorded to develop a complete data set for this performance indicator. EVWD reported zero (0) SSOs during the past five years, which is equal to an average of 0.0 SSOs per year per mile of sewer.

To accurately track SSOs, it is important to adopt a specific definition of what will be considered an SSO event. For this SSMP and SSO be defined as an overflow, spill, release, or diversion of wastewater from a sanitary sewer system including overflows or releases of wastewater that reach waters of the United States; overflows or releases of wastewater that do not reach waters of the United States; and wastewater backups into buildings that are caused by blockages or flow conditions in a sanitary sewer other than a building lateral. Wastewater backups into buildings caused by a blockage or other malfunction of a building lateral that is privately owned are not considered an SSO by EVWD.

Both AWWA Report and ASCE Report studies provide benchmarking data on sanitary sewer overflows. In the AWWA Report an SSO was defined as the total number of sewer overflows during the reporting period per mile of pipe in the collection system. A sewer overflow was defined as a discharge from a sewer through an access whole, clean-out, pumping facility, customer floor drain, or the drain in a fixture, if that discharge was related to limitations or problems with collection or treatment system components under the control of the utility. Overflows caused by limitations or problems within customer-controlled piping and facilities were specifically excluded from the definition. The AWWA Report sewer overflow rate is defined as follows:

Sewer overflow rate = 100 x total number of sewer overflows during the reporting period/total miles of pipe in the sewage collection system

	Table 9-4 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for Sewer Overflow Rate					
	25th PercentileMedian75th PercentileSampleEVWD (2019)					
	West	1.44	2.74	6.46	39	0.0
Decien	South	2.45	5.66	10.52	48	n/a
Region	Midwest	1	2.76	9.41	16	n/a
	Northeast	4.43	7.61	17.48	5	n/a
	> 500,000	1.71	5.47	9.67	23	n/a
	100,001 - 500,000	1.36	3.5	7.35	41	0.0

Given Zero (0) SSOs during the last five years, Table 9-4 summarizes the AWWA Report Benchmark results.

Table 9-4 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for Sewer Overflow Rate						
50,001 - 1.68 2.26 8.96 19 n/a						n/a
5120	10,000 - 50,000	2.47	7.29	15.04	23	n/a
	< 10,000	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
All Pa	rticipants	1.8	4.3	9.5	110	0.0

Source: Benchmarking Performance Indicators for Water and Wastewater Utilities: Survey Data and Analyses Report. American Water Works Association. 2005

The ASCE Report study defined a sanitary sewer overflow as a discharge of wastewater from the collection system with the potential to enter surface water courses occurring either in the collection system or in the headworks of the wastewater treatment plant.

Table 9-5 below compares the results of the ASCE Report study with EVWD's performance in the past 5 years.

Table 9-5 ASCE Report Benchmark Results for Sanitary Sewer Overflows				
ASCE Report Sample Size 25				
ASCE Report Standard Deviation	0.048			
ASCE Report Range	0.002-0.17			
ASCE Report Mean	0.045			
EVWD Mean (2019)	0.0			

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers 1999.

The results presented in both Table 9-4 and Table 9-5 indicate that EVWD has experienced a lower than average occurrence of SSOs.

9.6.2 Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer

A mainline blockage is defined as a significant flow restriction in a mainline sewer under EVWD's control. Blockages can have many sources including:

- Pipe Collapse
- Root Intrusion
- Vandalism
- Fats, Oils, and Grease
- Construction Debris

Although blockages frequently lead to SSOs, a release of wastewater does not have to occur for an event to be considered a blockage. EVWD recorded four (4) mainline blockages since January 2009. This indicates an average of 0.8 mainline blockages per five (5) year period and 0.004 mainline blockages per five (5) year period per mile of sewer. This value is significantly lower than national and regional averages and it is recommended that an additional year of

data be collected to validate the data sample used for this performance measure.

Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer Benchmark

Table 9-7 summarizes the ASCE Report results of average mainline blockages cleared per year per length of sewer by region and collection system size. EVWD's average of 0.004 blockages cleared per year per length of sewer is significantly lower than the national and regional averages.

Table 9-7 ASCE Results of Average Mainline Stoppages Cleared					
	Sample Size	Mainline Stoppages Cleared/mile/year	EVWD (2014/2019)		
Region					
Central	18	0.29	n/a		
Northeast	3	0.20	n/a		
Northwest	4	0.11	n/a		
Southeast	4	0.36	n/a		
Southwest	9	0.13	0.004		
Size					
Large	13	0.20	n/a		
Medium	19	0.29	0.004		
Small	6	0.13	n/a		
Overall	38	0.23	0.004		

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers. 1999.

9.6.3 Pipe Failures per Year per Length of Sewer

This performance indicator is used to measure and track the structural integrity of the wastewater collection system. For simplicity, it is recommended that pipe failure be defined as total or partial pipe collapse (loss of 50% of pipe area or 25% of pipe wall around any circumference). Pipe failures per length of sewer can be determined by dividing the total number of pipe failures per year, based on the definition stated above, by the total miles of sewer pipe in the system.

EVWD is aware of one pipe collapse during the last year identified during EVWD's video inspection program, which results in 0.005 pipe failures per mile of sewer. As EVWD continues its proactive approach to assess the condition of the wastewater collection system, this number could increase.

Failures per Year per Length of Sewer Benchmark

Benchmarks of collection system integrity are included in both the AWWA Report and ASCE Report. The ASCE Report defined pipe failure per year per mile of pipe using the same definition presented above. Table 9-8 summarizes the results from the ASCE Report.

Table 9-8 ASCE Report Results for Pipe Failures				
ASCE Report Sample Size	29			
ASCE Report Standard Deviation	0.059			
ASCE Report Range	0.025			
ASCE Report Mean	0.041			
EVWD Mean (2019)	0.005			

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers. 1999.

The AWWA Report study defined collection system integrity as the total number of collection system failures during the year per mile of collection system piping. A failure was defined as a loss of capacity that resulted from a flow restriction in gravity or pressurized sewer systems. Flow restrictions could be caused by deposition of foreign materials; structural failure of pipes, appurtenances, or access holes; deterioration of collection system materials; and root intrusion. The definition excluded any failure directly caused by the action of a person authorized by the utility, such as failure caused by incidental damage during construction/ repair or an incorrectly marked location. The AWWA Report collection system integrity failure rate is defined as follows:

Collection system integrity failure rate = 100 x total number of collection system failures during the year/total miles of collection system piping

Table 9-9 presents the results of the AWWA Report collection system integrity failure rate results along with EVWD's results for comparison.

Table 9-9 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for Collection System Integrity Failure						
		25 th Percentile	Median	75 th Percentile	Sample Size	EVWD (2019)
	West	1.7	5.6	1.2	36	0.5
. .	South	7.3	20	54.3	49	n/a
Region	Midwest	4	8.2	33	18	n/a
	Northeast	4.43	7.61	17.48	5	n/a
	> 500,000	4.6	15.8	26.3	22	n/a
	100,001 - 500,000	5	9.3	24.5	40	0.5
Size	50,001 - 100,000	2.1	8	17.6	19	n/a
	10,000 - 50,000	3.9	7.2	36.8	23	n/a
	< 10,000	4.4	10.5	17.6	5	n/a
All Pa	irticipants	3.6	9.4	26.1	109	0.5

Source: Benchmarking Performance Indicators for Water and Wastewater Utilities: Survey Data and Analyses Report. American Water Works Association, 2005.

9.6.4 Flow Monitoring Events per Year

Flow monitoring can be used to measure the quantity of wastewater flowing through the collection system. The frequency and extent of flow monitoring can be a useful indication of how proactive EVWD is in anticipating and preventing capacity issues. Currently, EVWD conducts flow monitoring events on main trunk lines servicing the area and on lines that may be identified as priority locations. The District has contracted for flow monitoring equipment or contract for flow monitoring data acquisition and management services beginning in 2014 through 2019 in order to gather additional flow monitoring information. Data collected from the flow monitoring program has been used to develop, calibrate, and validate a hydraulic model for the collection system.

9.6.5 Percentage of Sewers Inspected by Video per Year

EVWD recognizes the importance of proactive condition assessment to ensure the continued functioning of its wastewater collection system. This performance indicator can be defined as the length of sewers inspected by video per year divided by the total length of sewers. Between FY 2014-15 and FY 2018-19, EVWD inspected 1,182,000 linear-feet of pipe (100% of the system). 2014 was the first year of the second round of videoing the entire system. The District reached its goal was to CCTV inspect 20% of the system every year and be complete with the entire system in FY 2018-19. FY 2019-20 has begun the next five-year cycle of CCTV inspections.

Percentage of Sewers Inspected by Video per Year Benchmark

Table 9-10ASCE Report of Video Inspection Frequency						
	Sample SizeASCE Video Inspection (% of system per year)EVWD Video Inspection (% of system per year)					
Region						
Central	19	6%	n/a			
Northeast	3	8%	n/a			
Northwest	4	7%	n/a			
Southeast	4	9%	n/a			
Southwest	9	10%	20%			
Size	Size					
Large	13	7%	n/a			
Medium	19	6%	20%			
Small	6	11%	n/a			
Overall	38	7%	20%			

The ASCE Report study provides benchmark data for the video inspection of sewer pipes. Table 9-10 summarizes these results along with EVWD's performance.

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers, 1999.

The comparison presented in Table 9-10 demonstrates EVWD's aggressive and proactive commitment to monitor the condition of its wastewater collection system.

9.6.6 Percentage of Sewers Cleaned per Year

This indicator provides information on EVWD's preventive maintenance program, which prioritizes cleaning areas of the system with fats, oils, grease, and root problems. EVWD reports that the current rate of mainline cleaning is up to 4,500 linear-feet per day. Assuming four days per week of cleaning at this rate, approximately 85% of the system should be cleaned each year.

The ASCE Report study provides benchmark information related to sewer system cleaning. Table 9-11 presents the average percentage of the collection system cleaned by region and system size. EVWD's average of 80% of sewers cleaned per year is greater than the national and regional averages.

Table 9-11 ASCE Report of Average Sewer Cleaning				
	Sample Size	Sewer Cleaning (% of system per year)	EVWD Sewer Cleaning (% of system per year)	
Region				
Central	20	22%	n/a	
Northeast	2	9%	n/a	
Northwest	4	61%	n/a	
Southeast	4	29%	n/a	
Southwest	11	38%	80%	
Size				
Large	16	27%	n/a	
Medium	20	30%	80%	
Small	5	40%	n/a	
Overall	41	30%	80%	

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers, 1999.

9.6.7 Percentage of Sewers Lined per Year

As mentioned previously, EVWD has in the past used cured-in-place plastic lining to rehabilitate areas of the system that were found to be deteriorating. This indicator tracks the percentage of the system that has been lined during this program. Since January 2014, EVWD has lined 2,615 linear feet of sewer main resulting in a system percentage of 0.23%, in the past 5 years. As EVWD's CCTV inspection program progresses, they will identify lines in need of rehabilitation and a formal program will be developed.

9.6.8 Planned Maintenance Ratio

This performance indicator measures the relative time or money spent on planned

maintenance (preventive and predictive) versus unplanned maintenance (corrective and emergency). As mentioned previously, planned maintenance is generally more cost-effective, provides a higher level of service for customers, and results in better regulatory compliance. The planned maintenance ratio can be defined by dividing the hours or cost spent on planned maintenance by the total cost or hours on all maintenance. EVWD currently categorizes maintenance activities as planned or unplanned through the CMMS.

Planned Maintenance Ratio Benchmark

The AWWA Report study contains benchmark data for the planned maintenance ratio by both cost and time. The planned maintenance ratio by cost is defined as follows:

Planned maintenance ratio (cost) = 100 x cost of planned maintenance I (cost of planned maintenance + cost of corrective maintenance)

	Table 9-12 AWWA Report Benchmark Results for Planned Maintenance Ratio (cost)								
		25 th Percentile	Median	75 th Percentile	Sample Size				
	West	47.2	66.6	77.7	33				
Decien	South	36	55.9	81.2	36				
Region	Midwest	32.9	55.7	77.5	16				
	Northeast	n/a	n/a	n/a	4				
	> 500,000	30.7	47.2	60	17				
	100,001 - 500,000	45.5	58	81.2	32				
Size	50,001 - 100,000	25	56.4	76.5	17				
	10,000 - 50,000	50	74.9	88.5	20				
	< 10,000	34.5	74.4	75	5				
All Participants		36	58	80.4	98				

Table 9-12 presents the results of the AWWA Report benchmarking survey for planned maintenance ratio by hours.

Source: Optimization of Collection System Maintenance Frequencies and System Performance. American Society of Civil Engineers, 1999.

9.7 Summary of Current Status

Table 9-13 summarizes initial values for the indicators described in the previous sections based on data provided by EVWD. The development and tracking of performance indicators is an ongoing process that requires frequent data updating and analysis. As EVWD continues to improve its program, additional data should become available to provide more in-depth analysis of performance and trends.

Table 9-13* EVWD Wastewater Collection System Initial Values for Performance Indicators			
Indicator Description	Value		
Service Area Population	104,000 people		

Table 9-13* EVWD Wastewater Collection System Initial Values for Performance Indicators					
Number of Customer Accounts	22,656				
New Connections per Year	Varies				
Length of Sewer Mains	230 miles				
Average Age of System	38 years				
Number of Lift Stations	No lift stations				
Annual Collection System Budget per Account	\$8.83				
Percentage of Budget for Collection System Rehabilitation	0.65%				
Population per Collection System Employee	1,462 people/employee				
Miles of Sewer Main per Collection System Employee	3.1 miles/employee				
AWWA REPORT Sewer Overflow Rate	2.0				
ASCE Sanitary Sewer Overflows	0.0				
Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer	0.004				
Pipe Failures per Year per Length of Sewer	0.005				
Flow Monitoring Events per Year	1				
Percentage of Sewers Inspected by Video per Year	20%				
Percentage of Sewers Cleaned per Year	80%				

*Some indicators represent 2019 SSMP update

9.8 Benchmarking Conclusions

This section proposed a set of performance indicators specific to the wastewater collection system in EVWD's service area that can be used to monitor the system's performance and effectiveness. The baseline values of the performance indicators were established based on available data provided by EVWD. The performance of EVWD's wastewater collection system was also compared to other collection systems throughout the region and country using two recent national wastewater collection system performance reports.

The results from benchmarking against these reports generally indicate that EVWD's wastewater collection system is performing well above average. Using the proposed performance indicators, EVWD will be able to track the performance of the collection system as time goes on. Using this information, EVWD will be able to enhance its planning and operational practices in order to maximize the performance of the system and continue to meet current and future regulatory requirements.

Recommendations for EVWD's SSMP program enhancements, as they relate to the Monitoring, Measurement, and Program Modifications, include the following:

- Conduct audits of EVWD's SSMP program using data collected during the preparation
 of the annual updates to the Performance Indicator and Benchmarking Analysis. At
 a minimum, these audits should occur every year and a report should be prepared
 and kept on file. This audit should focus on evaluating the effectiveness of the SSMP
 Program and its compliance with the proposed regulatory requirements. The report
 should also include a discussion of potential deficiencies and steps to correct them.
- During the internal audits required every year, prepare an internal technical memorandum that updates the Monitoring, Measurement, and Program Modifications provided within this report. Monitor the implementation and, where appropriate, measure the effectiveness of each performance measure of the SSMP program. Periodically update program elements and performance measures, as appropriate, based on monitoring or performance evaluations.
- Continue to improve long term data collection efforts to enhance the quality and integrity of the data sample used for the annual Monitoring, Measurement, and Program Modifications. Develop a database for tracking long term performance measure data and benchmarking data.

Goals						
	Yes/No	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation		
Minimize the number and impact of sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs)	Yes	John Peel	On-going	Sewer Maintenance Logs		
Continue to improve customer service. Has response time improved?	Yes	Aida Nunez	On-going	Cityworks Work Orders		
Maintain and/or improve the condition of the collection system infrastructure in order to provide reliable service and capacity now and into the future	Yes	Patrick Milroy	On-going	CCTV and Capital Improvement Projects		
Work toward achieving full compliance with the Waste Discharge Regulations (WDRs)	Yes	Patrick Milroy	On-going	Sewer System Management Plan & Sewer System Master Plan		
Work towards improving the District's internal systems	Yes	Jeff Noelte	On-going	Policies and Procedures, Capital Improvement Program		

Organization							
	Yes/No	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation			
Review and Update Names of Authorized Representatives as needed	Yes	Rocky Welborn	2023	Sewer System Management Plan			
Review and Update Organization Chart as needed	Yes	Rocky Welborn	2023	FY 2022-23 Budget			
Review and Update Chain of Communications	Yes	Patrick Milroy	2019	Sewer System Management Plan			

Legal Authority							
	Yes/No	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation			
Did the State/Regional Board Update Legal Requirements?	No	Patrick Milroy	2019	www.ciwqs.waterboards.ca.gov			
If so, was Ordinance No. 404 reviewed and/or updated?	No	Patrick Milroy	N/A				
Has an agreement with San Manuel Indian Reservation been signed?	No	Patrick Milroy	N/A				
Has an agreement with Patton State Hospital been signed?	Yes	Patrick Milroy	2015	Patton Service Agreement			

FOG Control: SECAP							
	Yes/No	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation			
Was flow monitoring conducted?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Flow Monitoring Studies			
Was a sewer model developed?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			
Were existing flows in the sewer model updates to reflect latest data?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			
Were future flow projections updated in the hydraulic model?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			
Was a CIP developed or updates to address hydraulic deficiencies?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			
Was a CIP developed or updated to address rehabilitation of replacement identified by the CCTV inspections?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			
Does the SECAP section of the SSMP need updating?	Yes	Jeff Noelte	2019	Sewer System Master Plan			

Monitor Measure and Program Modifications							
	Yes/No	Count	Gallons	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation	
Number of Dry Weather SSOs							
Number of Wet Weather SSOs							
Volumes of SSOs							
< 100 gallons							
100 to 999 gallons							
1,000 to 9,999 gallons							
>10,000 gallons							
Volume of SSOs contained							
Volume of SSOs discharged to drainage system or surface waters							
Causes of SSOs							
Roots							
Grease							
Debris							
Pipe Failure							
Capacity							
Contractor Error							
Other							
SSOs per Year per Length of Sewer							
Mainline Blockages per Year per Length of Sewer							
Pipe Failures per Year per Length of Sewer							

Program Audits								
	Yes/No	Count	Gallons	Responsible Person	Date Completed	Supporting Documentation		
Was there an audit completed on the SSMP?								
Were there any program modifications recommended after the audit?								
Were the program modifications completed?								



Attachment 1 EAST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP) 2019 Annual Audit Report

The purpose of the Annual SSMP Audit is to evaluate the effectiveness of the EVWD's SSMP and to identify deficiencies, if any, and steps to correct them.

Directions: Please check **YES** or **NO** for each question. If **NO** is answered for any question, describe the updates/changes needed and the timeline to complete those changes in the "Description of Scheduled Updates/Changes to the SSMP" section on Page 5 of this form.

		YES	NO
Ele	ment 1 - Goals		-
А.	Are the goals stated in the SSMP still appropriate and accurate?	Х	
			-
Ele	ment 2 - Organization		
А.	Is the EVWD Key Staff Telephone List current?	Х	
В.	Is the Sanitary Sewer Overflow Responder Telephone List current?	Х	
C.	Is Figure 1 of the SSMP, entitled "EVWD Organization Chart," current?	Х	
D.	Are the job descriptions an accurate portrayal of staff responsibilities?	Х	
E.	Is Table 2 of the SSMP, titled "Chain of Communication for Reporting and Responding to SSOs," accurate and up-to-date?	Х	
Ele	ment 3 - Legal Authority		
Doe auth	s the SSMP contain excerpts from the current Code(s) documenting the nority to:	District's	legal
А.	Prevent illicit discharges?	Х	
В.	Require proper design and construction of sewers and connections?	Х	
C.	Ensure access for maintenance, inspection, or repairs for portions of the lateral owned or maintained by the City?	Х	
D.	Limit discharges of fats, oil and grease?	Х	
E.	Enforce any violation of its sewer ordinances?	Х	
Ele	ment 4 - Operations and Maintenance		
Coll	ection System Maps		
А.	Does the SSMP reference the current process and procedures for maintaining EVWD's wastewater collection system maps?	Х	

B.	Are the EVWD's wastewater collection system maps complete, current, and sufficiently detailed?	Х	
Res	ources and Budget		
C.	Does EVWD allocate sufficient funds for the effective operation, maintenance and repair of the wastewater collection system and is the current budget structure documented in the SSMP?	×	
Prio	ritized Preventive Maintenance		
D.	Does the SSMP describe current preventive maintenance activities and the system for prioritizing the cleaning of sewer lines?	Х	
E.	Based upon information in the Annual SSO Report, are EVWD's preventive maintenance activities sufficient and effective in minimizing SSOs and blockages?	х	
Sch	eduled Inspections and Condition Assessments		
F.	Is there an ongoing condition assessment program sufficient to develop a capital improvement plan addressing the proper management and protection of infrastructure assets? Are the current components of this program documented in the SSMP?	х	
Con	tingency Equipment and Replacement Inventory		
G.	Does the SSMP list the major equipment currently used in the operation and maintenance of the collection system and document the procedures of inventory management?	Х	
Н.	Are contingency equipment and replacement parts sufficient to respond to emergencies and properly conduct regular maintenance?	Х	
Trai	ning		
Ι.	Is the training calendar current?	Х	
J.	Does the SSMP document current training expectations and programs within EVWD's sewer division?	Х	
Out	reach to Plumbers and Building Contractors		
К.	Does the SSMP document current outreach efforts to plumbers and building contractors?		Х
Ele	ment 5 - Design and Performance Standards		
A.	Does the SSMP contain current design and construction standards for the installation of new sanitary sewer systems, manholes and other appurtenances and for the rehabilitation and repair of existing sanitary sewer systems?	х	
В.	Does the SSMP document current procedures and standards for inspecting and testing the installation of new sewers, manholes, and other appurtenances and the rehabilitation and repair of existing sewer lines?	Х	

Ele	ment 6 - Overflow and Emergency Response Plan		
A.	Does EVWD's Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan establish procedures for the emergency response, notification, and reporting of sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs)?	×	
В.	Are Wastewater Division staff and contractor personnel appropriately trained on the procedures of the Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan?	×	
C.	Considering performance indicator data, is the Sanitary Sewer Overflow and Backup Response Plan effective in handling SSOs in order to safeguard public health and the environment?	×	
Ele	ment 7 - Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Control Program		
A.	Do the Fats, Oils, and Grease (FOG) Control Program include efforts to educate the public on the proper handling and disposal of FOG?	×	
В.	Does EVWD's FOG Control Program identify sections of the collection system subject to FOG blockages, establish a cleaning schedule and address source control measures to minimize these blockages?	x	
C.	Are requirements for grease removal devices, best management practices (BMP), record keeping and reporting established in EVWD's FOG Control Program?	×	
D.	Does EVWD have sufficient legal authority to implement and enforce the FOG Control Program?	X	
E.	Is the current FOG program effective in minimizing blockages of sewer lines resulting from discharges of FOG to the system?	X	
Ele	ment 8 - System Evaluation and Capacity Assurance Plan		
A.	Does EVWD's Sanitary Sewer Master Plan evaluate hydraulic deficiencies in the system, establish sufficient design criteria and recommend both short and long term capacity enhancement and improvement projects?	x	
В.	Does EVWD's Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) establish a schedule of approximate completion dates for both short and long-term improvements and is the schedule reviewed and updated to reflect current budgetary capabilities and activity accomplishment?	x	
Ele	ment 9 - Monitoring, Measurement, and Program Modifica	tions	
A.	Does the SSMP accurately portray the methods of tracking and reporting selected performance indicators?	х	
В.	Is EVWD able to sufficiently evaluate the effectiveness of SSMP elements based on relevant information?	X	

E.

Element 10 - SSMP Audits						
А.	Will the SSMP Audit be submitted with the SSO Annual Report to the Regional Water Board by March 15th of the year following the end of the calendar year being audited?	Х				
Element 11 - Communication Program						
	Does EVWD effectively communicate with the public and other					
А.	agencies about the development and implementation of the SSMP and continue to address any feedback?	Х				

Description of Scheduled Updates/Changes to the SSMP

Directions: For each NO answer, please describe the planned revision and indicate the date the revision will be completed. Reference the SSMP element and question number with each explanation.

Audit results:

Element 4 K

SSMP does not document current outreach efforts to plumbers and building contractors, and do not intend to develop a program. The City of San Bernardino Municipal Water Department is responsible for all business coordination for the FOG Program.

SECTION 11: COMMUNICATION PROGRAM

The WDR requires that EVWD communicate on a regular basis with the public on the development, implementation, and performance of its SSMP. The communication program must provide the public with an opportunity to participate in the SSMP program development and implementation. The communication program must include outreach with systems that are tributary and/or satellite sewer systems.

EVWD communicates on a regular basis with the public regarding its system, including ratepayers, residents, Patton State Hospital and the San Manuel Band of Mission Indians. Outreach material is both reactive and proactive based on engagement needs. In order to allow for transparent activities and convenient information the District has a website (Figure 11-1) that is accessible by the public at www.eastvalley.org. User-friendly content includes current projects and programs, key documents, and contact information in addition to other relevant information. The District has the ability to post emergency updates and alerts should the need arise.

District information is shared through print materials, bill inserts, social media posts, special event participation, and educational programs. Emergency communication needs could include the methods listed above, in addition to door tags, face-to-face interactions, emergency phone notifications and mailed correspondence. Only designated staff within the Public Affairs Department or the General Manager are authorized to speak to the media on behalf of the District.



Figure 11-1- Sample EVWD Website Page

As required by the WDR, the SSMP will undergo review and revisions through internal audits every two years. The results of these audits will be available to the public for review on the District's website.

11.1 Additional Resource

The District is a co-founding member of the Emergency Response Network of the Inland Empire (ERNIE). District staff currently serve as representatives on the Steering Committee, which works to establish programming and training schedules. This group consists of water/ wastewater agencies throughout San Bernardino and Riverside Counties to build regional knowledge of Emergency Management and provide local jurisdictional mutual aid.

The District is a member of the California Water/Wastewater Agency Response Network (CalWARN), which is a mutual aid network within California and is affiliated with the national program.

The District is a paid member of the California Utilities Emergency Association (CUEA). CUEA is an emergency coordination group, which will facilitate communications between the District and other utilities including public agencies and private companies that provide electrical power, wastewater, petroleum pipeline, natural gas and telecommunication.

The District is also members of the California Public Information Officers Association (CAPIO) along with other industry associations that can provide outreach and informational assistance in the event of an emergency.

11.2 Public Engagement

Public participation is welcome at all open meetings. One means of gathering input from stakeholders is through the Community Advisory Commission. This group is a five-member appointed commission that receives updates on District activities and given opportunities to provide feedback. This information is factored into the staff recommendation taken to the Board of Directors for consideration.

The EVWD Board of Directors meetings are scheduled on the second and fourth Wednesdays of each month at 5:30 pm at the District's headquarters located at 31111 Greenspot Road, Highland, CA 92346. Board meetings are open to the public with agendas and minutes posted on the District's website and at the facility.

11.3 Internal Communications

Internal communication is critical to the effectiveness of the SSMP. Trainings and updates are provided to staff that work in areas of responsibility relating to the SSMP, especially relating to emergency response scenarios. All District staff members are trained in the NIMS/SIMS/ICS systems, with additional training unique to the roles and responsibilities. Public Affairs staff is trained in crisis communications response, including the use of a joint information center (JIC), should a major emergency take place.



ORDINANCE NO. 404

AN ORDINANCE OF THE EAST VALLEY WATER DISTRICT, RESCINDING ORDINANCE 400 ENTITLED "AN ORDINANCE REGULATING THE USE OF PUBLIC SEWERS, THE INSTALLATION AND CONNECTION OF BUILDING AND LATERAL SEWERS, PUBLIC SEWER MAIN EXTENSIONS, ESTABLISHING A SEWER DEPARTMENT, PROVIDING PERMITS FOR THE INSTALLATION AND CONNECTION OF SANITARY SEWERS, PROVIDING SEWERS FOR ANNEXED AREAS AND SUBDIVISIONS, REGULATING THE DISCHARGE OF WATERS AND WASTES INTO THE PUBLIC SEWER SYSTEM, PROVIDING RELIEF FOR THE VIOLATION OF THE PROVISIONS THEREOF AND PROVIDING PROCEDURES FOR ENFORCEMENT".

Be it ordained by the Board of Directors of the East Valley Water District, as follows, that Ordinance No. 400 is hereby rescinded, and this Ordinance 404 is enacted as follows:

Section 1	Index	1
Section 2	General Provisions	2
Section 3	Definitions	3
Section 4	Sewer Department	7
Section 5	General Rules	8
Section 6	Required Use of Public Sewers	11
Section 7	Use of Public Sewers	14
Section 8	Application for Sewer Service	16
Section 9	General and Specific Prohibitions	37
Section 10	Specific Pollutant Limitations	42
Section 11	Industrial Wastewater Discharge Permits	47
Section 12	Pretreatment Facility Requirements	53
Section 13	Record Keeping and Reporting Requirements	64
Section 14	Inspection	70
Section 15	Enforcement	71
Section 16	Miscellaneous Provisions	72

SECTION 1. INDEX

Section 17	Customer Billing Procedures	74
Section 18	Complaints and Disputed Bills	76
Section 19	Disconnection for Non-Payment	77
Section 20	Adding Delinquent Charges to Tax Roll	78
Section 21	Charges and Deposits	79
Section 22	Effective Date	83

SECTION 2. GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.01 <u>Short Title</u> - This Ordinance may be cited as "East Valley Water District Sewer Regulations and Service Charge Ordinance".

2.02 Purpose - This Ordinance is intended to provide rules and regulations for the construction, repair and use of District sewerage facilities, to establish the rates and charges for such facilities and provide for their enforcement by providing penalties for the introduction of pollutant into the District's publicly owned treatment works (POTW) that will pass through the POTW, inadequately treated, into groundwaters, atmosphere, or otherwise be incompatible with the system, resulting in adverse operations and/or violations of the District's Permits. Specific pollutants and pretreatment considerations include addressing:

- Fats, oils, and grease (FOG) in quantities that contribute to or cause sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) through the development and implementation of a FOG Pretreatment Program,
- Mercury-containing amalgams through the implementation of best management practices (BMPs) for amalgam separators, and
- General BMPs for reducing the amount of pollutants entering the District's sewer system.

The District shall seek the cooperation of the users of the collection system to ensure compliance with this Ordinance. Reasonable approaches shall be utilized to correct non-compliance when applying applicable regulations without compromising the intent, purpose and policies of this Ordinance;

The District shall implement its most recent approved Sewer System Management Plan, to control and reduce the occurrence and impact of SSOs;

The District shall adopt more stringent quality requirements on wastewater discharges regulated by 40 CFR, Chapter I, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471, in the event that more stringent quality requirements are necessary to protect beneficial use of reclaimed water and municipal sludge or to meet other waste discharge requirements and/or Waste Discharge Requirements Limits; The District shall encourage conservation and pollution prevention through source control strategies, which reduce the amount of pollutants entering the environment, prior to recycling, pretreatment, or disposal;

The District shall use the revenues derived from the application of this Ordinance to defray the cost of regulating sewer usage to include, but not be limited to, administration, monitoring, permitting, reporting, and enforcement;

All fees associated with the implementation of this Ordinance and provisions of the Pretreatment Program shall be in amounts adopted by Resolution of the District's Board of Directors, and any amendments thereto;

The District shall adopt an Enforcement Response Plan (ERP) that utilizes progressive responses that escalate the level of enforcement for chronic and more severe violations of this Ordinance. The enforcement remedies provided in Section 15 herein represent the types of enforcement actions that may be taken in response to violations. A Resolution of the District's Board shall be used to adopt the ERP; and

Except as otherwise provided, the District's General Manager, or his designee, shall administer, implement and enforce the provisions of this Ordinance. Any powers granted to, or imposed upon, the General Manager may be delegated by the General Manager to other persons or authorized agents acting in beneficial interest of or in the employ of the District.

2.03 Enabling Statutes - This Ordinance is adopted pursuant to the Article 2, Chapter 6, Part 1, Division 2, Title 5 of the Government Code and pursuant to Division 12 of the Water Code and pursuant to Article 4, chapter 6, Part 3, Division 5 of the Health and Safety Code, California Government Code, Sections 54739-54740, et seq., The Clean Water Act (33 USC §§ et seq.) and the General Pretreatment Regulations (40 CFR 403). All permits and plans will be prepared pursuant to Section 13263.3 of the Water Code.

The District's authority includes, but is not limited to, the right to establish limitations, conditions, and prohibitions; to establish flow rates or prohibit flows discharged to the District sewerage facilities; to require the development of compliance schedules for the installation of equipment, systems, and materials by all users; and to take all actions necessary to enforce its authority,

whether within or outside the District boundaries, including those users that are tributary to the District or within areas which the District has been contracted to provide sewerage services.

To achieve these objectives, this Ordinance provides for regulation through issuance of Wastewater Discharge Permits to Industrial Users; authorizes inspection, monitoring and enforcement activities; provides for User reporting; and provides for the setting of fees for the equitable distribution of costs for implementing the various provisions of this Ordinance.

2.04 <u>Application</u> - This Ordinance shall apply to all sewer facilities constructed, maintained, and operated by the District.

2.05 <u>Enterprise</u> - District will furnish and/or make available, a system, plant, works, and undertaking used for and useful in, the collection, treatment and disposal of sanitary sewage and industrial waste for the District's service area, including all annexations thereto, and lands, easements, rights in land, contract rights, and franchise.

2.06 <u>Separability</u> - If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances are for any reason held to be unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance or the application of such provision to other persons or circumstances. The governing body hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance or any section, subsection, sentence, clause, or phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more section, sub-section, sentences, clauses or phrases be declared to be unconstitutional.

2.07 <u>Words and Phrases</u> - For the purpose of this Ordinance all words used herein in the present tense shall include the future; all words in the plural number shall include the singular number and all words in the singular number shall include the plural number.

2.08 Posting - Upon adoption, this Ordinance shall be entered in the minutes of the governing body and certified copies hereof shall be posted in three (3) public places and/or a

newspaper of general circulation in the District service area within ten (10) days following its passage.

2.09 <u>Means of Enforcement</u> - The District hereby declares that the procedures contained herein are established as a means of enforcement of the terms and conditions of its ordinances, rules, and regulations and not as a penalty.

2.10 <u>Notices</u> - Whenever a notice is required to be given under this Ordinance, unless different provisions are specifically made herein, such notice may be made, either by personal delivery thereof to the person to be notified or by deposit in the U.S. Mail in a sealed envelope, postage prepaid, addressed to such person at his last known business or residence address as the name appears in public records or other records pertaining to the matter to which the notice is directed. Service by mail shall be deemed to have been completed at the time of deposit in the post office.

Proof of giving any notice may be made by the certificate of any officer or employee of the District or by affidavit of any person over the age of eighteen years, which shows service in conformity with this Ordinance or other provisions of law applicable to the subject matter concerned.

2.11 Effect of Heading - The title, division or section headings contained in this Ordinance shall not be deemed to govern, limit, or modify in any manner the scope, meaning or intent of any section or subsection of this Ordinance.

SECTION 3. DEFINITIONS

3.01 <u>Additional Definitions</u> - For the purposes of this Ordinance, the following words and phrases are defined and shall be construed as hereinafter set out unless it shall be apparent from the context that they have a different meaning. Terms related to water quality shall be as adopted in the latest edition of Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater, published by the American Public Health Association, the American Water Works Association,

and the Water Environment Federation. The testing procedures for waste constituents and characteristics shall be as provided in 40 CFR 136 (Code of Federal Regulations; Title 40; Protection of Environment; Chapter I, Environmental Protection Agency; Part 136, Test Procedures for the Analyses of Pollutants), or as specified. Other terms used in this Ordinance shall be as defined in the latest edition of the International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials, Uniform Plumbing Code or the International Conference of Building Officials, Uniform Building Code, except as specifically modified herein, or if inconsistent with the definitions contained herein or with the context thereof, or omitted there from, the following definitions shall prevail. Words used in this Ordinance in the singular may include the plural and the plural the singular. Use of masculine shall mean feminine and use of feminine shall mean masculine.

3.02 Amalgam Process Wastewater - Shall mean any wastewater generated and discharged by a dental discharger through the practice of dentistry that may contain amalgam.

3.03 Amalgam Separator - Shall mean a collection device designed to capture and remove dental amalgam from the amalgam process wastewater of a dental facility.

3.04 <u>Applicant</u> - Shall mean the person making application hereunder who must be either (a) the owner of the subject premises, (b) the agent or customer authorized in writing to make application hereunder on behalf of the owner of the subject premises or, (c) a licensed plumber or contractor authorized in writing to make application hereunder for the subject premises.

3.05 <u>Approved Analytical Methods -</u> Shall mean the sampling referred to in 40 CFR Part 403, Appendix E and analysis of these samples performed in accordance with the techniques prescribed in 40 CFR Part 136 and 40 CFR 403.12(g) and amendments thereto. Where 40 CFR Part 136 does not contain sampling or analytical techniques for the pollutant in question, or where the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) determines that the Part 136 sampling and analytical techniques are inappropriate for the pollutant in question, sampling and analysis shall be performed using other applicable sampling and analytical procedures approved by the District and the EPA.

3.06 Authorized Representative of Industrial User - Shall mean:

- A. A responsible corporate officer, if the User submitting required reports is a corporation, of the level of president, secretary, treasurer, or vice president in charge of a principal business function, or any other person, if the authority to sign documents has been assigned or delegated in accordance with corporate procedures.
- B. A general partner or proprietor if the User submitting the required reports is a partnership or sole proprietorship respectively;
- C. The responsible person in charge, if the User is a governmental agency;
- D. An individual with the same authority as stated in A, B, and C if the individual is responsible for the overall operation of the facility from which the discharge originates and such authorization is confirmed in writing to the General Manager or designee by the individual described in A, B, and C.

If authorization under item D of this section is no longer accurate because a different individual or position has responsibility for the overall operation of the facility, or overall responsibility for environmental matters for the company, a new authorization satisfying the requirements of item D of this definition must be submitted to the District prior to or together with any reports to be signed by an authorized representative.

3.07 Bathroom - Shall mean a room containing a toilet.

<u>3.08</u> <u>Best Management Practices (BMPs)</u> - Shall mean the schedule of activities, prohibition of practices, maintenance procedures, and other management practices to prevent or reduce SSOs and the introduction of FOG to the sewer system and those which implement the prohibitions listed in 40 CFR 403.5 (a) (1) and (b). BMPs also include treatment requirements, operating procedures, and practices to control site runoff, spillage or leaks, sludge or waste disposal, or drainage of raw materials storage.

<u>3.09</u> Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) - Shall mean the quantity of dissolved oxygen required to biochemically oxidize the organic matter in a wastewater sample in five (5)

days at 20°C expressed in terms of milligrams per liter (mg/l) and analyzed in accordance with Approved Analytical Methods.

3.10 Board - Shall mean the Board of Directors of the East Valley Water District.

<u>3.11</u> <u>Building</u> - Shall mean any structure used for human habitation or a place of business, recreation, or other purpose.

3.12 **Building Sewer** - Shall mean that portion of any sewer beginning at the plumbing or drainage outlet of any building, industrial facility, or preliminary treatment facility, and running to the property line.

<u>3.13</u> <u>Categorical Industrial User -</u> Shall mean an Industrial User who is subject to Categorical Standards.

<u>3.14</u> <u>Categorical Standards</u> - Shall mean the Federal Categorical Pretreatment Standards specifying quantities or concentrations of pollutants or pollutant properties which may be discharged or introduced into the POTW by existing or new Industrial Users in specific industrial categories established as separate regulations under the appropriate subpart of 40 CFR Chapter I, Subchapter N, Parts 405-471, and as it may be amended.

<u>3.15</u> <u>Class I User</u> - Shall mean an Industrial User subject to Categorical Pretreatment Standards under 40 CFR 403.6 and 40 CFR Chapter I, Sub-chapter N; or an Industrial User classified as a Significant Industrial User as specified in 40 CFR 403.3(t)(ii).

<u>3.16</u> <u>Class II User</u> - Shall mean a Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User with an average discharge between ten thousand (10,000) and twenty-four thousand nine hundred ninety-nine (24,999) gallons per day of industrial wastewater to the POTW.

<u>3.17</u> <u>Class III User</u> - Shall mean a Non-Significant Industrial User with an average discharge between one (1) and nine thousand nine hundred ninety-nine (9,999) gallons per day of industrial wastewater to the POTW and pretreatment is required to reduce the potential for adversely affecting the operation of the POTW or violating any pretreatment standard, prohibition, or requirement of Section 9.

3.18 <u>Class IV User</u> - Shall mean a Temporary Industrial User that has a temporary need, less than 180 days, to discharge wastewater to the POTW.

<u>3.19</u> <u>Class V User</u> - Shall mean an Industrial User that performs operations regulated by Federal Categorical Standards with no industrial wastewater discharged to the POTW from the Categorical process(es) (Dry Categorical).

3.20 <u>Class VI User</u> - Shall mean a discharger of trucked or hauled wastewater to the POTW Treatment Plant.

<u>3.21</u> <u>Collection System</u> - Shall mean all pipes, sewers and conveyance systems carrying wastewater to the Water Reclamation Plant, owned and maintained by the District and/or by tributary Service Areas contracting with the District for sewer service, excluding lateral line connections.

<u>3.22</u> <u>Commercial</u> - Shall be any discharge not covered by the residential description. This shall include, but not limited to, schools, stores and businesses and others not covered by the residential description.

<u>3.23</u> <u>Composite Sample</u> - Shall mean a collection of individual samples obtained at selected time or flow-based increments from a wastewater discharge. A composite sample may be collected using automatic continuous or discrete sampling equipment, or by manually collecting a minimum of four grab samples. Where specified by the General Manager, composite samples shall be collected in a manner that is proportional to the flow rate of the discharge.

<u>3.24</u> <u>Contractor</u> - Shall mean an individual, firm, corporation, partnership, or association duly licensed by the State of California to perform the type of work to be done under the permit.

<u>3.25</u> <u>Conventional Pollutant</u> – Shall mean any pollutant or combination of pollutants listed as conventional in 40 CFR 401.16.

<u>3.26</u> <u>County</u> – Shall mean the County of San Bernardino, California.

<u>3.27</u> <u>Customer</u> – Any person (as defined) supplied with, or entitled to be supplied with sewer service by the District.

<u>3.28</u> <u>Dental Discharger</u> – Shall mean a facility where the practice of dentistry is performed, including, but not limited to, institutions, permanent or temporary offices, clinics,
home offices, and facilities owned and operated by Federal, state or local governments, that discharges wastewater to a POTW.

<u>3.29</u> <u>Dilution</u> – Shall mean the increase in use of water, wastewater, or any other means to dilute a Waste stream as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve discharge requirements.

3.30 Discharger - Shall mean any person who causes or contributes a discharge into the POTW as defined in 40 CFR 403.3(i).

<u>3.31</u> <u>District</u> - Shall mean the East Valley Water District, San Bernardino County, California.

3.32 Director of Engineering and Operations - Shall be a Registered Civil Engineer of the State of California.

<u>**3.33</u>** <u>**Dwelling Unit**</u> – Shall mean any residence, apartment, habitation, or other structure designed to be occupied by a person or family and requiring sewage disposal service.</u>

<u>3.34</u> <u>Electrical Conductivity</u> - Shall mean the ability of an aqueous solution to carry an electrical current, expressed in terms of micromhos per centimeter (μ mhos/cm) at 25°C, and analyzed in accordance with Approved Analytical Methods.

<u>3.35</u> Engineering Services - Engineering services provided by the District includes technical and procedural guidance, professional consultant services, project coordination, and plan checking.

3.36 Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) - Shall mean the standard measurement of flow based upon the average single-family residence.

<u>3.37</u> Exchange-Type Water Conditioning Device - Shall mean a water conditioning device that is removed to a commercial regeneration facility for regeneration from the premises at which it is normally operated.

<u>3.38</u> Fats, Oils, And Grease (FOG) - Shall mean fats, oils, and grease. Any substance such as a vegetable oil or animal product that is in, or is a byproduct of, cooking or food preparation processes, and that turns or may turn viscous or solidifies with a change in temperature or other condition is included in this definition.

3.39 Financial Officer - Shall be the Treasurer appointed by the Board of Directors.

<u>3.40</u> Fixture - Shall mean any sink, tub, shower, water closet or other facility connected by drain to the sewer.

<u>3.41</u> Food Service Establishment (FSE) - Shall mean any commercial, industrial, institutional, or food processing facility discharging kitchen or food preparation wastewaters including, but not limited to, restaurants, commercial kitchens, caterers, motels, hotels, cafeterias, correctional facilities, prisons or jails, cafeterias, care institutions, hospitals, schools, bars, churches, commissaries, and mobile food units. Any establishment engaged in preparing, serving or otherwise making food available for consumption by the public shall be included. Such establishments use one or more of the following preparation activities: cooking by frying (all methods), baking (all methods), grilling, sautéing, rotisserie cooking, broiling, boiling, blanching, roasting, toasting, or poaching. Also included are infrared heating, searing, barbequing, and other food preparation activity that produces a hot, non-drinkable food product in or on a receptacle that requires washing.

<u>3.42</u> <u>Garbage</u> - Shall mean solid wastes from the preparation, cooking, dispensing of food and from the handling, storage, and sale of produce.

<u>3.43</u> <u>General Manager</u> - Shall mean the General Manager/Chief Executive Officer of the District.

3.44 <u>Governing Body</u> - Shall mean the Board of Directors of the East Valley Water District.

<u>3.45</u> <u>Grab Sample</u> - Shall mean a sample which is collected from a wastewater discharge over a period of time not exceeding fifteen (15) minutes.

<u>3.46</u> <u>Gravity Grease Interceptor (GGI)</u> – Shall mean a plumbing appurtenance or appliance that is installed in a sanitary drainage system to intercept non-petroleum fats, oils, and grease (FOG) from a wastewater discharge and is identified by volume, baffle(s), not less than two compartments, and gravity separation. Gravity grease interceptors are installed outdoors. Approved designs shall be certified to the nationally recognized product standard IAPMO / ANSI Z1001 in accordance with the California Plumbing Code.

<u>3.47</u> <u>Grease Control Device (GCD)</u> – Shall mean a device designed to remove FOG from wastewater discharges which include gravity grease interceptors, grease removal devices, and hydromechanical grease interceptors.

<u>3.48</u> <u>Grease Removal Device (GRD)</u> – Shall mean a hydromechanical grease interceptor that automatically, mechanically removes non-petroleum FOG from the interceptor, the control of which are automatically initiated. Approved designs shall be certified to one of the

nationally recognized product standards ASME A112.14.4 or CSA B481.5 in accordance with the California Plumbing Code.

<u>3.49</u> <u>Hydromechanical Grease Interceptor (HGI)</u> – Shall mean a plumbing appurtenance or appliance that is installed in a sanitary drainage system to intercept nonpetroleum FOG from a wastewater discharge and is identified by flow rate, and separation and retention efficiency. Typical designs incorporate air entrainment, hydromechanical separation, interior baffling, and/or barriers in combination or separately, and one of the following:

A. External flow control, with air intake (vent): directly connected.

B. External flow control, without air intake (vent): directly connected.

C. Without external flow control, directly connected.

D. Without external flow control, indirectly connected.

Approved designs shall be certified to one the nationally recognized product standards ASME A112.14.3, CSA B481.1, or PDI G101 in accordance with the California Plumbing Code.

<u>**3.50**</u> Inspector - Shall mean the person who shall perform the work of inspecting sewerage facilities under the jurisdiction or control of the District.

<u>3.51</u> Individual Sewage Disposal System - Shall mean a septic tank and on-site disposal system designed for a building to dispose of wastewater generated on the property.

<u>3.52</u><u>Hazardous Substance (Hazardous Material)</u> - Shall mean any substance which is toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable or an irritant, or which generates pressure through heat or decomposition including, but not limited to, any substance determined to be a toxic or hazardous substance pursuant to Section 307 and 311(b)(2) of the Clean Water Act, 33 USC, Section 1251, et. seq., or its implementing regulations at 40 CFR Section 307 and 311 or any substance classified as a hazardous substance pursuant to California Water Code Section 13050(p) and any imminently hazardous chemical substance subject to regulation under the Toxic Mixtures or Substances Control Act, 15 USC, Section 2601, et seq.

<u>**3.53**</u> Hazardous Waste - Shall mean any hazardous substance that is either the resultant and/or intermediate or final by-product of any process.

<u>3.54</u> Industrial User (IU) - Shall mean any User, whether permitted or not, who discharges nondomestic wastewater into the POTW. Households and Private residences shall not be considered as Industrial Users.

3.55 Industrial Wastewater - Shall mean any and all liquid or water borne waste from

industrial or commercial processes of whatever nature, except domestic sewage.

<u>3.56</u> <u>Interference</u> - Shall mean a discharge which alone or in conjunction with discharge(s) from other sources, both: Inhibits or disrupts the POTW, its treatment processes or operations, or its sludge processes, use or disposal; and causes a violation of any requirement of the POTW's Waste Discharge Requirements permit (including an increase in the magnitude or duration of a violation) or of the prevention of sewage sludge use or disposal in compliance with the use or disposal in compliance with the following statutory provisions and regulations or permits issued there under (or more stringent State or local regulations): Section 405 of the Clean Water Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA) (including Title II, more commonly referred to as the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, and including State regulations contained in any State sludge management plan prepared pursuant to Subtitle D of the SWDA), the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, and the Marine Protection, Research and Sanctuaries Act.

<u>3.57</u> <u>Lateral Sewer Connection</u> - Shall mean the pipes and appurtenance necessary to convey wastewater from a customer's building to the District's main sewer located within public right-of-way or easement.

<u>3.58</u> <u>Main Sewer</u> - Shall mean publicly owned sewage collection and conveyance facilities designed to transport wastewater away from customer parcels to water reclamation facilities.

3.59 Manager of Water Reclamation – The Manager, or his authorized Representative, or any District officer who subsequently is empowered to assume or succeed to the duties of the Manager of the Publicly owned treatment works.

3.60 Mass Emission Rate - Shall mean the mass of material discharged to the POTW during a given time interval. Unless otherwise specified, the mass emission rate shall be expressed in pounds per day of a particular constituent or a combination of constituents.

3.61 <u>National Prohibitive Discharge Standard or Prohibitive Discharge Standard</u> -Shall mean any regulation developed under the authority of Section 307(b) of the Act and 40 CFR 403.5.

<u>3.62</u> <u>Nondomestic Wastewater</u> - Shall mean all wastewater except domestic wastewater and unpolluted water as defined herein. Nondomestic wastewater shall include, but not be limited to, wastewater resulting from industrial, commercial, producing, manufacturing, processing, institutional, governmental, and agricultural operations, and brine wastewater resulting

from the regeneration of water conditioning devices. All liquid wastewater hauled by truck, rail, or another means shall also be considered as nondomestic wastewater, regardless of the original source of the wastes. Hauled domestic wastewater is included in the category of nondomestic wastewater.

<u>3.63</u> <u>Nondomestic Wastewater Discharge Permit</u> - Shall mean the regulatory procedure established and enforced by the General Manager, to control the flow and quality of wastes discharged into the POTW.

<u>3.64</u> <u>Non-Significant Categorical Industrial User</u> - Shall mean an Industrial User who would be subject to categorical pretreatment standards under 40 CFR 403.6 and 40 CFR chapter I, subchapter N but discharges less than 100 gallons per day of total categorical wastewater and meets other required conditions as contained in 40 CFR 403.3(v)(2) and (v)(3).

<u>3.65</u> <u>Non-Significant Industrial User</u> - Shall mean any Industrial User which is not a Significant Industrial User.

<u>3.66</u> Oil/Sand Separator – Shall mean a trap, interceptor, or other device designed, constructed, and intended to remove, hold, or otherwise prevent the passage of petroleum products, sand, sediment, sludge, grease, or similar substances in the wastewater discharged to the sanitary sewer.

<u>3.67</u> <u>Pass-Through</u> - Shall mean any discharge which passes through the POTW into waters of the State in quantities or concentrations which, alone or in conjunction with other discharges, causes a violation of any requirement of the POTW's Waste Discharge Requirements permit (including an increase in the magnitude or duration of a violation).

<u>3.68</u> <u>Permit</u> - Shall mean any written authorization required pursuant to this or any other regulation of the District.

<u>3.69</u> <u>Permittee</u> - Shall mean any User who is issued a Nondomestic Wastewater Discharge Permit pursuant to Section 10 herein.

<u>3.70</u> <u>Person</u> - Shall mean any human being, individual, firm, company, partnership, association and private or public or municipal corporation, the United States of America, the State of California, a district and any political subdivision or governmental agency.

<u>3.71</u> <u>Pollutant</u> - Shall mean any dredged spoil, solid waste, incinerator residue, sewage, garbage, sewage sludge, munitions, chemical wastes, biological materials, radioactive materials,

heat, wrecked or discharged equipment, rock, sand, cellar dirt, and industrial, municipal, and agricultural waste discharged into water.

<u>3.72</u> <u>POTW Treatment Plant</u> - Shall mean the Sterling Natural Resource Center (SNRC), which is the portion of the POTW designed to provide treatment to wastewater.

<u>3.73</u> <u>Premises</u> - Shall mean a lot or parcel of real property under one ownership, except where there are well defined boundaries or partitions such as fences, hedges or other restrictions preventing the common use of the property by several tenants, in which case each portion shall be deemed separate premises. Apartment houses and office buildings may be classified as single premises.

<u>3.74</u> <u>Pretreatment or Treatment</u> - Shall mean the reduction of the amount of pollutants, elimination of pollutants, or the alteration of the nature of pollutant properties in wastewater to a less harmful state prior to or in lieu of discharging or otherwise introducing such pollutants into the POTW. The reduction or alteration may be obtained by physical, chemical, or biological processes, process changes, or other means, except as prohibited by 40 CFR 403.6 (d).

<u>3.75</u> <u>Pretreatment Requirement</u> - Shall mean any substantive or procedural requirement related to pretreatment, other than a Pretreatment Standard, imposed by an Industrial User.

<u>3.76</u> <u>Pretreatment Standard - Shall mean any regulation containing pollutant</u> discharge limits or prohibitions promulgated by EPA or the District, applicable to Industrial Users, including promulgated Categorical Standards, National Prohibitive Discharge Standards, General Discharge Prohibitions contained in Section 9.02 and 9.03 herein, and specific local discharge limitations contained in or pursuant to Section 10 herein.

<u>3.77</u> <u>Pretreatment Wastes</u> - Shall mean all wastes, liquid or solid, removed from nondomestic wastewater by physical, chemical, or biological means.

<u>3.78</u> <u>Publicly Owned Treatment Works (POTW)</u> - Shall mean the District's treatment works. This definition includes any devices or systems owned and operated by the District, which are used in the storage, treatment, recycling and reclamation of municipal sewage (i.e., the Sterling Natural Resource Center). It also includes the District's Interceptors, Tributary Sewerage Systems, and any other sewers, pipes, lift stations, and other conveyances which convey wastewater to the wastewater treatment facilities.

<u>**3.79**</u> **Public Sewer** - Shall mean a sewer lying within a public right-of-way or easement which is controlled by or under, the jurisdiction of the District.

<u>3.80</u><u>Regulatory Agencies</u> - Shall mean those public agencies legally constituted in the State of California to protect the public health and water quality, such as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, the California Environmental Protection Agency; the California Department of Health Services, the State Water Resources Control Board, the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region, and the County Department of Environmental Health Services.

<u>3.81</u> <u>Residential</u> - Any service with a building that serves as a single-family home, duplex or triplex, apartments, co-operatives, or townhouses.

<u>3.82</u> <u>Responsible Corporate Officer</u> - Shall mean: a president, secretary, treasurer, or vice president of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or any other person who performs similar policy - or decision-making functions for the corporation, or the manager of one or more manufacturing, production, or operating facilities, provided, the manager is authorized to make management decisions which govern the operation of the regulated facility including having the explicit or implicit duty of making major capital investment recommendations, and initiate and direct other comprehensive measures to assure long-term environmental compliance with environmental laws and regulations; can ensure that the necessary systems are established or actions taken to gather complete and accurate information for control mechanism requirements; and where authority to sign documents has been assigned or delegated to the manager in accordance with corporate procedures.

<u>3.83</u> Sample Location - Shall mean a location approved by the General Manager where a representative sample of non-domestic wastewater is collected from an industrial user.

<u>3.84</u>

<u>3.85</u> <u>Sanitary Sewer</u> - Shall mean a sewer which carries sewage and to which storm, surface and ground waters are not intentionally admitted.

<u>3.86</u> <u>Sanitary Sewer Overflow (SSO)</u> - Shall mean any overflow, spill, release, discharge or diversion of untreated or partially treated wastewater from a sanitary sewer system. SSOs include: 1) Overflows or releases of untreated or partially treated wastewater that reaches waters of the United States; 2) Overflows or releases of untreated or partially treated wastewater that does not reach waters of the United States; and 3) Wastewater backups into buildings and on

private property that are caused by blockages or flow conditions within the publicly owned portion of the sanitary sewer system.

<u>3.87</u> Secretary - Shall be the Secretary to the Governing Body.

<u>3.88</u> <u>Separate Sewer Connection</u> - A sewer connection shall not be used by any adjoining property or property across the street, alley, or easement. Each sewer lateral shall serve only one property or individual parcel.

<u>3.89</u> <u>Sewage</u> - Shall mean refuse liquids or a combination of water-carried wastes from residences, business buildings, public buildings, institutions, and industrial establishments.

<u>3.90</u> Sewer - Shall mean a pipe or conduit for carrying sewage.

3.91 <u>Sewer System Management Plan (SSMP)</u> - Shall mean an approved plan adopted by the District's Board of Directors to control and reduce the occurrence and impact of sanitary sewer overflows.

3.92 <u>Side Sewer</u> - Shall mean the sewer line beginning three feet outside the foundation wall of any building and terminating at the main sewer and include the building sewer and lateral sewer together.

<u>3.93</u> <u>Significant Industrial User (SIU)</u> - Shall mean any Industrial User of the POTW who: 1) is subject to Categorical Standards; 2) has an average daily discharge of 25,000 gallons or more of process wastewater; 3) has a discharge which makes up five percent (5%) or more of the average dry-weather hydraulic or organic capacity of the Wastewater Treatment Facilities receiving the wastewater; or 4) is designated by the General Manager to have a reasonable potential for adversely affecting the POTW's operation or violating any applicable pretreatment standard or requirement.

<u>3.94</u> <u>Significant Noncompliance (SNC)</u> - Shall mean any Significant Industrial User violation(s), which meet any of the criteria below, or any Industrial User violation that violates numbers 3., 4., or 8. below.

<u>1.</u> Chronic violations of wastewater discharge limits, defined here as those in which sixty-six percent (66%) or more of all of the measurements for each pollutant taken during a consecutive six-month period exceed (by any magnitude) a numeric pretreatment standard or requirement including instantaneous limits;

2. Technical review criteria violations, defined as those in which thirty-three percent or more of all of the measurements taken for the same pollutant during a consecutive six-

month period equal or exceed the product of the numeric pretreatment standard or requirement including instantaneous limits, multiplied by the applicable TRC (TRC=1.4 for BOD, TSS, fats, oil and grease, and 1.2 for all other pollutants except pH);

<u>3.</u> Any other violation of a Pretreatment effluent limit (daily maximum or long-term average, instantaneous limit or narrative standard) that the District determines has caused, alone or in combination with other discharges, Interference or Pass Through (including endangering the health of POTW or District personnel or the general public);

<u>4.</u> Any discharge of a pollutant that has caused imminent endangerment to human health, welfare or to the environment or has resulted in the District's exercise of its emergency authority to halt or prevent such a discharge;

5. Failure to meet, within ninety (90) days after the scheduled date, a compliance schedule milestone contained in a local control mechanism or enforcement order, for starting construction, completing construction, or attaining final compliance;

<u>6.</u> Failure to provide, within forty-five (45) days of the due date, any required reports such as baseline monitoring reports, 90-day compliance reports, periodic self- monitoring reports, and reports on compliance with compliance schedules;

7. Failure to report accurately non-compliance; or

8. Any other violations or group of violations, which may include a violation of Best Management Practices, which the District believes will adversely affect the operation and implementation of the District's pretreatment program or the District's Sewer System.

<u>3.95</u> <u>Slug Discharge</u> - Shall mean any discharge to the sanitary sewer of a non-routine, episodic nature, including but not limited to an accidental spill or a non-customary batch discharge.

<u>3.96</u> <u>Slug Discharge Control Plan</u> - Shall mean a plan submitted to the District by a User which specifies to the General Manager's satisfaction the potential pollutants used and/or stored at the User's facility; potential pathways of entry of said potential pollutants into the POTW; and facilities and procedures for preventing or controlling the occurrence of slug loading.

<u>3.97</u> <u>Slug Loading</u> - Shall mean the discharge of any pollutant including oxygen demanding pollutants (BOD, etc.) that are released at a flow rate and/or pollutant concentration that causes interference with the POTW.

3.98 Specific Compliance Plan - Shall mean a plan submitted to the District by an Industrial User pursuant to Section 14 herein, which specifies to the General Manager's satisfaction

the cause of noncompliance, the corrective actions which will be taken to prevent recurrence of said noncompliance, and, if required by the General Manager, a proposed Compliance Time Schedule.

<u>3.99</u> <u>Specific Local Discharge Limitations (Local Limits)</u> - Shall mean limitations adopted from time-to-time by resolution of the Board restricting quantities or concentrations of pollutants or pollutant properties which may be discharged or introduced into the POTW by permitted Industrial Users.

<u>3.100</u> <u>"Standard Methods"</u> - Shall mean "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater", latest edition, prepared and published by the American Public Health Association, American Water Works Association, and Water Environment Federation, which specifies accepted procedures used to assess the quality of water and wastewater.

<u>3.101</u> Surcharge - Shall mean an assessment, in addition to the service charge, which may be levied on those Users whose wastes are greater in strength than surcharge threshold concentration values established by the General Manager.

<u>3.102</u> <u>Toxic Amount</u> - Shall mean concentration of any pollutant or combination of pollutants which upon exposure to or assimilation into any organism which will cause adverse effects, such as cancer, genetic mutations and physiological manifestations, as defined in standards issued pursuant to Section 307(a) of Public Law 92-500.

<u>3.103</u> <u>Toxic Pollutant</u> - Shall mean any pollutant or combination of pollutants listed as toxic in 40 CFR 401.15 or 40 CFR 403, Appendix B.

<u>3.104</u> <u>User</u> - Shall mean any person who contributes, causes, or permits the contribution of wastewater into the POTW, including, without limitations, Households, Private Residences, Industrial Users and Nonresidential Users.

<u>3.105</u> <u>Water Reclamation Plant</u> - Shall mean arrangement of facilities and operations used for treating sewage.

<u>3.106</u> <u>Wastewater Department</u> - Shall mean the Board of Directors of the District performing functions related to the District's sewer service, together with the General Manager, the Chief Financial Officer, the Director of Engineering and Operations, and any other duly authorized representatives.

3.107 <u>Waste Discharge Requirements Permit (WDR Permit)</u> - Shall mean the permit issued to the POTW by the California Regional Water Quality Control Board, Santa Ana Region.

<u>3.108</u> <u>Wastewater System</u> - Shall mean all facilities for collecting, pumping, treating, and disposing of sewage.

<u>3.109</u> <u>Wastewater Treatment Plant</u> - Shall mean the POTW Treatment Plant, the Sterling Natural Resource Center (SNRC).

<u>3.110</u> <u>Water Conditioning Device</u> - Shall mean any device used to soften or otherwise condition water, including zeolite or resinous anion or cation exchange softeners, demineralizers, and any other like device.

SECTION 4. SEWER DEPARTMENT

4.01 <u>Creation</u> - A Sewer Department is hereby created comprised of the Directors, the General Manager, the Financial Officer, the Director of Engineering and Operations, and other employees and assistants as may be hired therefor.

4.02 <u>General Manager</u> - The General Manager, as provided for in the Water Code, shall have full charge and control of the maintenance, operation, and construction of the Wastewater System of the District.

4.03 <u>Director of Engineering and Operations</u> - The position of Director of Engineering and Operations is hereby created. The Director of Engineering and Operations shall regularly inspect all physical facilities related to the District Wastewater System, to see that they are in good repair and proper working order, and to note and report violations of any ordinances or sewer regulations.

4.04 <u>Violation, Repairs</u> - The Director of Engineering and Operations shall promptly report any violation or disrepair to the General Manager. If the work required is in the nature of an emergency, he shall take whatever steps are necessary to maintain service to consumers pending action by the General Manager.

4.05 <u>Supervision</u> - The Director of Engineering and Operations shall supervise all repair or construction work authorized by the Board or the General Manager, and perform any other duties prescribed by the Board or the General Manager.

4.06 <u>**Performance of Duties**</u> - The foregoing duties of the Director of Engineering and Operations may be performed by the General Manager or by an additional employee or employees, as designated by the Director of Engineering and Operations or General Manager.

4.07 <u>The Financial Officer</u> - The Financial Officer shall install and maintain a system of auditing and accounting that shall completely and at all times, show the financial condition of the District. The Financial Officer shall compute, prepare, and mail bills as hereinafter prescribed, make and deposit collections, maintain proper books of accounts, collect, account for, and do whatever else is necessary or directed by the General Manager to set up and maintain an efficient and economical accounting system, and perform any other duties now and hereinafter prescribed by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 5. GENERAL RULES

5.01 <u>Standards</u> - The Uniform Plumbing Code, 2021 Edition, as compiled by International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials ("UPC"), together with all subsequent amendments thereto relating to sewers, and the following rules and regulations respecting sewer construction and disposal of sewage and drainage of buildings, and connection to the Wastewater System of the District are hereby adopted, and all work in respect thereto shall be performed as herein required and not otherwise. The Governing Body may, from time to time, adopt standard requirements for the design construction, repair and maintenance, or connection to the District Wastewater System.

5.02 <u>Violation Unlawful</u> - Following the effective date of this Ordinance, it shall be unlawful for any person to connect to, construct, install, provide, maintain or use any other means of sewage disposal from any building in the area served with sewers by said District except by connection to a Public Sewer in the manner as provided for in this Ordinance. Any violation of this Ordinance will be subject to the provisions of this section at the discretion of the General Manager, Financial Officer, or Director of Engineering and Operations.

5.03 Notice - Wherever, or whenever, practicable under the particular circumstances of the situation and pursuant to the discretion of the General Manager, Financial Officer, or Director of Engineering and Operations, any person found to be violating any provisions of this or any other ordinance, resolution, rule or regulation of the District shall be served by the Inspector or other authorized person with written notice stating the nature of the violation and providing a reasonable time limit for the satisfactory correction thereof. Said time limit shall be not less than two, nor more than seven working days. The offender shall, within the period of time stated in such notice, permanently cease all violations. All persons shall be held strictly responsible for any and all acts of agents or employees done under the provisions of this or any other ordinance, rule or regulation of the District of any defect arising in any sewer or of any violation of this ordinance, the person or persons having charge of said work shall immediately correct the same.

5.04 Protection from Damage - No person shall maliciously, willfully, or negligently break, damage, destroy, uncover, deface or tamper with any structure, appurtenance or equipment which is a part of the District's sewerage works. Any person violating this provision shall be subject to the penalties provided by law.

5.05 Investigation Powers - The officers, inspectors, managers, employees and any duly authorized agents of the District shall carry evidence establishing his/her position as an authorized representative of the District and, upon exhibiting the proper credentials and identification, shall be permitted to enter in and upon any and all buildings, industrial facilities and properties to which the District is furnishing sewer service, or has been requested to furnish sewer service, for the purpose of inspection, re-inspection, observation, measurement, sampling, testing or otherwise performing such duties as may be necessary in the enforcement of the provisions of the ordinances, rules and regulations of the District, pursuant to the authorization contained in the required application for sewer service.

5.06 Public Nuisance - Continued habitation of any buildings or continued operation of any industrial facility in violation of the provisions of this or any other ordinance, rule or regulation of the District is hereby declared to be a public nuisance. The District may cause proceedings to

be brought for the abatement of the occupancy of the building or industrial facility during the period of such violation.

5.07 <u>Disconnection</u> - As an alternative method of enforcing the provisions of this or any other ordinance, rule or regulation of the District, the District shall have the power to disconnect the user or subdivision sewer system from the sewer mains of the District.

5.08 <u>Abatement</u> - During the period of such disconnection, habitation of such premises by human beings shall constitute a public nuisance, whereupon the District shall cause proceedings to be brought for the abatement of the occupancy of said premises by human beings during the period of such disconnection. In such event, and as a condition of reconnection, there is to be paid to the District, a reasonable attorney's fee and cost of suit arising in said action.

5.09 Water Cut-Off - As an alternative remedy for such violations the District may cause District water service to said premises to be discontinued during the period of violation.

5.10 Unconnected and Unoccupied Buildings - In the event that owners of any buildings or facilities have failed to connect to the Public Sewer after receipt of official notice to do so, the District will be unable to bring abatement actions if such buildings are unoccupied. To prevent the sale of such buildings to persons with no knowledge of such, the District will record such notices with the County Recorder of San Bernardino County. The District Secretary is authorized and directed to cause a Notice of Necessity of Connection to Public Sewer to be prepared with reference to those unoccupied properties and buildings within the sewer District which have not been connected to the District Public Sewer within thirty days after the giving of Official Notice to so connect; to sign such Notices; to acknowledge such Notices; and to record the same with the County Recorder of San Bernardino.

5.11 **Damage to Wastewater System Facilities** - The customer shall be liable for any damage to the service facilities when such damage is from causes originating on the premises by an act of the customer or his tenants, agents, employees, contractors, licenses or permittees. The District shall be promptly reimbursed by the customer for any such damage upon presentation of a bill.

5.12 Means of Enforcement Only - The District hereby declares that the foregoing procedures are established as a means of enforcement of the terms and conditions of its ordinances, rules and regulations, and not as a penalty.

5.13 <u>Liability for Violation</u> - Any person violating any of the provisions of the ordinances, rules or regulations of the District shall become liable to the District for any expense, loss, or damage occasioned by the District by reason of such violation.

5.14 <u>Relief on Application</u> - When any person, by reason of special circumstances, is of the opinion that any provision of the ordinances, rules or regulations of the District is unjust or inequitable as applied to him/her, or his/her premises, he/she may make written application to the Governing Body stating the special circumstances, citing the provision complained of, and requesting suspension or modification of that provision as applied to him/her, or his/her premises. If such application be approved, the Governing Body may, by resolution, suspend or modify the provision complained of, as applied to such person or premises, to be effective as of the date of the application and continuing during the period of the special circumstances.

5.15 <u>Relief on Own Motion</u> - The Governing Body may, on its own motion, find that by reason of special circumstances, any provision of its ordinances, rules or regulations should be suspended or modified as applied to a particular person or premises and may, by resolution, order such suspension or modification for such person or premise during the period of such special circumstances or any part thereof.

5.16 <u>**Permits Required**</u> - No person shall construct, extend or connect to any Public Sewer without first obtaining a written permit from the District and paying all fees and connection charges and furnishing bonds as required. The provision of this Section requiring permits shall not be construed to apply to contractors constructing sewers and appurtenances under contracts awarded and entered into by the District.

SECTION 6. REQUIRED USE OF PUBLIC SEWERS

6.01 <u>Required Treatment of Wastes</u> - Except as herein provided, it shall be unlawful to construct or maintain any privy, privy vault, septic tank, cesspool, seepage pit or other facility intended or used for the disposal of sewage within the District where District sewer facilities are available and hereinafter described for such disposal purposes.

6.02 <u>Sewer Required</u> - The owner of any building or structure occupied by humans, situated within the District and abutting on any street or easement in which there is a Public Sewer of the District, is hereby required at their expense to connect said building directly with the sewers of the District, in accordance with the provisions of this Ordinance, within thirty (30) days after the date of official notice to do so, provided that said Public Sewer is within two hundred (200) feet of the nearest point of the property on which the building or structure is located. This requirement shall also be applicable to any commercial, industrial, and public buildings or institutions, to connect to said sewer system upon notice as herein provided.

6.03 <u>Construction Requirements</u> - Construction of building sewers and lateral sewers shall be in accordance with the requirements hereof.

6.04 <u>Separate Sewers</u> - Every building or industrial facility must be separately connected with a Public Sewer if such Public Sewer exists in the street upon which the property abuts or in an easement which will serve said property. However, one or more buildings located on a lot or parcel of land belonging to the same owner may be served with the same side sewer during the period of ownership. Upon the subsequent subdivision of said lot and sale of a portion thereof, the portion not directly connected with such Public Sewer shall be separately connected with a Public Sewer, and it shall be unlawful for the owner thereof to continue to use or maintain such indirect connection.

6.05 <u>Old Building Sewers</u> - Old building side sewers may be used in connection with new buildings only when they are found, upon examination and test by the Inspector, to meet all requirements of the District.

6.06 <u>Cleanouts</u> - Cleanouts in building sewers shall be provided where the building sewer joins the building outlet and in accordance with the Uniform Plumbing Code. All cleanouts shall be maintained watertight.

6.07 <u>Plumbing too Low</u> - In all buildings in which the plumbing system is too low to permit gravity flow to the Public Sewer, sanitary sewage carried by the building sewer shall, upon authorization of the General Manager or Director of Engineering and Operations, be lifted by artificial means and discharged to the Public Sewer at the expense of the owner.

6.08 <u>Connection to Public Sewer</u> - The construction of the lateral sewer and the connection thereof into the Public Sewer, shall be made by a licensed plumber or contractor. Said connection shall be connected at the lateral or "Y" branch, if such lateral or "Y" branch is available at the suitable location. Where no properly located "Y" branch is available, a connection with the Public Sewer may be made to receive the lateral sewer. The invert of the building or lateral sewer at the point of connection shall be at a higher elevation than the invert of the Public Sewer. A smooth neat joint shall be made, and the connection made secure and watertight by encasement in accordance with District standards. The connection to the Public Sewer shall be made in the presence of the District Inspector and shall be subject to their approval. Any damage to the Public Sewer shall be repaired at the cost of the applicant, to the satisfaction of the Inspector.

6.09 Protection of Excavation - All excavations for a lateral sewer installation shall be adequately guarded with barricades or lights to protect the public from hazard. Streets, sidewalks, parkways, and other property disturbed in the course of the work shall be restored in a manner satisfactory to the District and any other person having jurisdiction thereover at the sole expense of the person responsible for such installation.

6.10 <u>Maintenance of Side Sewer</u> - Side sewers shall be maintained by the owner of the property served.

6.11 <u>Indemnification</u> - The owner of the property and the person making the connection shall be obligated to hold the District, its officers, agents, and employees harmless of and from all

loss or liability which shall occur or arise by reason of the installation of the lateral sewer and the opening of the easement and the backfill and restoration of the pavement.

SECTION 7. USE OF PUBLIC SEWERS

<u>7.01</u> Requirements – All applicable requirements of the City of San Bernardino regarding the use of public sewers are hereby incorporated herein by this reference until the District commissions the Sterling Natural Resources Center, then Sections 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16 will replace requirements of the City of San Bernardino in addition to the other sections already described in this Ordinance.

7.02 <u>Sewer Permit Required</u> - No person shall uncover, make any connection with or opening into, use, cap, alter or disturb any Public Sewer or appurtenances without first obtaining a written sewer permit from the District.

7.03 <u>Application for Sewer Permit</u> - Any person seeking a sewer permit shall make such application to the District for that purpose. He/she shall give a description of the character of the work proposed to be done, the location, ownership, occupancy, and use of the premises to be served and the name and address of the person who shall make the connection. The Director of Engineering and Operations may require plans, specifications, or drawings and such other information as he may deem necessary or Permitee shall comply with specifications of the District.

If the District determines that the plans, specification, drawings, descriptions, or information furnished by the applicant is in compliance with the ordinances, rules, and regulations of the District, it shall issue the sewer permit applied for upon payment of the required fees therefore.

7.04 <u>Compliance with Sewer Permit</u> - After approval of the application evidenced by the issuance of a sewer permit, no change shall be made in the location of the sewer, the grade, materials, or other details from those described in the permit or as shown on the plans and

specifications for which the sewer permit was issued except with written permission from the District, the Director of Engineering and Operations or other authorized representatives.

7.05 <u>Agreement</u> - The applicant's signature on an application for any sewer permit shall constitute an agreement to comply with all of the provisions, terms and requirements of this and other ordinance, rules and regulations of the District, and with the plans and specifications he has filed with this application, if any, together with such corrections or modifications as may be made or permitted by the District, if any. Such agreement shall be binding upon the applicant and may be altered only upon the written request from the applicant for the alteration.

7.06 <u>All Work to be Inspected</u> - All sewer connection work over which the District has jurisdiction shall be inspected by the District to ensure compliance with all requirements of the District. No such sewer connection work shall be covered at any point until it has been inspected and passed for acceptance. No sewer shall be connected to the District's Public Sewer until the work has been completed, inspected, and approved by the District.

7.07 <u>Notification</u> - It shall be the duty of the person doing the work authorized by the sewer permit to notify the District Office that said work is ready for inspection. Such notification shall be given not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the work is to be inspected, excluding weekends and holidays.

7.08 <u>Condemned Work</u> - When any work has been inspected and the work condemned and no such certification of satisfactory compliance given, a written notice to that effect shall be given instructing the owner of the premises, or the agent of such owner, to repair the sewer or other work authorized by the permit in accordance with the ordinances, rules, and regulations of the District.

7.08 <u>Liability for Costs</u> - Both the owner and the person making the connection shall be liable to the District for all fees, costs, and expenses incident to the work for which a sewer permit shall be issued. The owner shall indemnify the District from any loss or damage that may directly or indirectly be occasioned by the work.

7.10 <u>Outside Sewers</u> - Permission shall not be granted to connect any lot or parcel of land outside the District to any Public Sewer in, or under, the jurisdiction of the District unless a sewer permit therefore is obtained. Applicants shall first enter into a contract in writing whereby they shall bind themselves, their heirs and successors and assigns to abide by all ordinances, rules, and regulations in regard to the manner in which such sewer shall be used, the manner of connecting therewith, and the plumbing and drainage in connection therewith, and also shall agree to pay all fees required for securing the sewer permit and a monthly fee in the amount set by the District for the privilege of using such sewer.

7.11 <u>Sewer Permit Optional</u> - The granting of such permission for an outside sewer in any event shall be optional with the Governing Body.

7.12 <u>Special Outside Agreements</u> - Where special conditions exist relating to an outside sewer, they shall be the subject of a special contract between the applicant and the District.

7.13 <u>Street Excavation Permit</u> - A separate permit must be secured from the City, the County or any other person having jurisdiction therefor by the owners or contractors intending to excavate in a public street for the purpose of installing sewers or making sewer connections.

7.14 Liability - The District and its officers, agents and employees shall not be answerable for any liability or injury or death to any person or damage to any property arising during or growing out of, the performance of any work by any such applicant. The applicant shall be answerable for and shall hold the District and its officers, agents, and employees, harmless from any liability imposed by law upon the District or its officers, agents or employees, including all costs, expenses, fees and interest incurred in defending same or in seeking to enforce this provision. Applicant shall be solely liable for any defects in the performance of his work or any failure which may develop therein.

7.15 <u>Time Limit on Sewer Permits</u> - If work under a sewer permit is not started within twelve (12) months from the date of issuance, or if after partial completion the work is discontinued for a period of one (1) year the sewer permit shall thereupon become void, and no further work

shall be done until a new sewer permit shall have been secured. A new fee shall be paid upon the issuance of said new sewer permit.

7.16 Backwater Valve Required -The District may require the installation of an approved backwater valve as specified in the Uniform Plumbing Code or as deemed necessary by the District to protect the Owner's Property.

SECTION 8. APPLICATION FOR SEWER SERVICE

8.01 <u>Application</u> - A property owner or his/her agent, designated in writing, shall make application for regular sewer service by personally signing a Service Agreement provided by the District, and paying the required fees. The property owner will remain the primary account holder, or Customer of Record, with respect to District services for as long as they own the property.

8.02 <u>Sewer Service to Customers Other than Property Owners</u> - Sewer service to other than property owners shall be made as follows:

8.02.01 <u>Additional Customer of Record</u> - If the property owner rents the premises to a tenant, the tenant may have sewer and other services instituted in their name by completing an Owner Authorized Billing Agreement. The tenant and owner must both sign the agreement and the District must be provided with a copy of an active rental agreement. In any event, the tenant must provide the District with the property owner's name, mailing address, and telephone number.

8.02.02 <u>Owner Responsibility</u> - Whether or not a property owner signs the Owner Authorized Billing Agreement, the property owner is not relieved of his or her responsibility for unpaid sewer charges for the subject property as provided in this ordinance and pursuant to California Water Code Section 31701.5.

8.03 Payment of Delinquent Charges - As a precondition to receiving sewer service from the District, the applicant for service shall pay any and all unpaid charges that have accrued on any closed accounts previously held by the applicant with the District, as well as pay any and

all delinquent charges that have accrued on any open accounts currently held by the applicant with the District.

8.04 <u>Security Deposit</u> - A security deposit for each residential, commercial, or retail unit shall be deposited at the time application for service is made. The District may, at its sole election, include the required security deposit on the customer's first billing invoice.

8.04.01 <u>Single-Family Residential</u> - A security deposit for a single-family residential unit may not be required if the person requesting service is a new residential applicant who is determined by the District to be creditworthy. The determination of an applicant's credit worthiness shall be based solely upon criteria developed by the District and may be appealed in the manner set forth in Section 10 herein. However, during the life of the account, the District may, in its sole discretion, require any customer, regardless of whether he or she was previously found to be creditworthy, to post a full security deposit with the District any time there are three (3) delinquencies within any consecutive six (6) month period or as a precondition to reinstatement of service any time after being locked off for non-payment.</u>

8.04.02 <u>Security Deposit Refund</u> - Refunds of security deposits will be performed in the manner set forth below. Such refunds will be credited to any account held by the customer with the District in lieu of a refund check. Interest on the security deposits shall remain the sole property of the District and will not be included in any refund.

8.04.02.01 <u>Residential</u> - The District shall refund each security deposit to a residential customer as follows:

a. Upon customer request, where single-family residential funds have been on deposit for one year in the customer's account and there have been no delinquency payments on any of the customer's accounts with the District during that year. However, the District may, at its sole option, require any customer to post a full security deposit with the District any time there are three (3) delinquencies within any consecutive six (6) month period, or as a precondition to reinstatement of service any time after being locked off for non-payment.

b. Where multi-family residential customer funds have been on deposit for one year in a customer's account and there has been no delinquency payment on any of the customer's accounts with the District during that year and upon the customer's request, one-half of the deposit will be refunded to the customer by means of a credit on the account. However, if the customer is delinquent on any payment thereafter, the District may, at its sole option, charge back the credited amount. Within thirty (30) days after the applicant provides written notice to terminate sewer services, or when a new property owner tenders a full deposit for the same property, in which case the refunded deposit shall first be applied toward the unpaid balances in any account held by the customer with the District before the remaining sum, if any, is refunded to the customer.

8.04.02.02 <u>Non-Residential</u> - The District shall refund the security deposit for commercial, retail, industrial, fire service, and irrigation connections as follows:

a. Where funds have been on deposit for one year in a customer's account and there have been no delinquencies on any of the customer's accounts with the District during that year and upon the customer's request, one-half of the deposit will be refunded to the customer by means of a credit on the account. However, if the customer is delinquent on any payment thereafter, the District may, at its sole option, charge back the credited amount.

b. Within thirty (30) days after the applicant provides written notice to terminate sewer services, or when a new property owner tenders a full deposit for the same property, in which case the refunded deposit shall first be applied toward the unpaid balances in any account held by the customer with the District before the remaining sum is refunded to the customer.

8.05 <u>Changes in Customer's Equipment</u> - Customers making any material change in the size, character of, extent of the equipment or operations utilizing sewer service, or whose change in operations results in a significant increase in the quantity or quality of sewage, shall immediately give the District written notice of the nature of the change and, if necessary, amend their applications and discharge permits if applicable.

8.06 <u>Domestic, Commercial, and Industrial Service Connections</u> - It shall be unlawful to maintain a sewer connection except in conformity with the following:

8.06.01 <u>Multiple Buildings</u> - Multiple house or buildings under one ownership and on the same lot or parcel of land may be supplied through the same sewer connection, provided that the service connection shall be of such size to adequately serve said houses or buildings.

8.06.02 Separate Sewer Connection - A sewer connection shall not be used by an adjoining property or property across the street, alley, or easement. Each sewer lateral shall serve only one lot or individual parcel.

8.06.03 <u>Divided Property</u> - When property provided with a sewer connection is divided, each service connection shall be considered as belonging to the lot or parcel of land which it directly enters.

8.06.04 <u>Industrial Users Plan Check Requirements</u> - All Industrial Users who request authorization to connect to the POTW and all existing industrial users who propose tenant improvements shall be required to submit detailed site plans, including plumbing plans which describe the proposed project, facility expansion, or process modifications, in addition to any other information as requested by the General Manager.

8.07 <u>Main Extension Required</u> - All main extensions shall be made in accordance with the policies of the District upon application for service and payment of required charges.

8.07.01 <u>Application</u> - Any owner of one or more lots or parcels or sub divider of a tract of land, desiring the extension of one or more mains to serve such property shall make a written application to the District. Said application shall contain the legal description of the property to be served and tract number thereof, and any additional information which may be required by the District, and be accompanied by a map showing the location of the proposed connection. Main extensions will normally be constructed by owner or sub-divider.

8.07.02 <u>Investigation</u> - Upon receipt of an application requesting the District to install facilities, the District shall make an investigation and survey of the proposed extension and estimate the cost thereof.

8.07.03 <u>District Lines</u> - All sewer main extensions shall be in accordance with the rules, regulations, specifications, and ordinances of the District and shall be the property of the District.

8.07.04 <u>Specifications and Construction</u> - The size, type and quality of materials and location of the sewer lines shall be to District specifications as adopted. For sewer lines not installed by the District, the sub-divider shall be responsible for employing a licensed contractor to install the required sewers. All work shall be inspected and approved by the District.

8.07.05 Property of District - Upon completion of such installation, the facilities shall be dedicated to and become the property of the District.

8.07.06 Offer of Dedication - Forms for offer of dedication shall be provided by the District. Sewer plans shall be signed by a Registered Civil Engineer and returned to the District. Sewer plans will not be filed or approved until compliance has been met herewith.

8.07.07 Form of Offer of Dedication - Offers of sewer dedication shall be on District forms in accordance with the latest "Standard Specification for the Furnishing of Materials and the Construction of Water and Sewer Facilities".

8.07.08 Engineering Services - Engineering services provided by the District shall include technical and procedural guidance, professional consultant services, project coordination, and plan checking.

8.07.09 <u>Construction Permit</u> - Applicant or his/her authorized agent shall make application for a Construction Permit in accordance with the latest "Standard Specification for the Furnishing of Materials and the Construction of Water and Sewer Facilities" of the District.

8.08 <u>**Dry Sewers Required**</u> - Any division of land or development involving five (5) or more units within the jurisdiction of the East Valley Water District which is greater than 500 feet from an existing sewage collection facility, may be allowed to use individual sewage disposal systems, provided:

8.08.01 A "dry" sewer collection line is installed in the public right-of-way to the specifications of the Director of Engineering and Operations with the capacity for all sewage generated by the subdivision; and

8.08.02 The "dry" sewer includes lateral lines to within five (5) feet of the septic tank to be installed on each lot; and

8.08.03 Plugs and seals are placed on the "dry" sewers to prevent unauthorized connection.

8.09 <u>Payment of Capacity Fees and Abatement Fees</u> - The Developer shall pay to the District the appropriate capacity fees and connection fees, plus a fee established from time to time by the Board of Directors which shall be used for the proper abandonment of the individual sewage disposal system.

8.10 Dedication of Dry Sewers to District - The Developer shall agree that the facilities installed in the public right-of-way be dedicated to the District as provided in Section 8.07.06 herein and after inspection by the Director of Engineering and Operations.

8.11 Dedication of Right of Access - The Developer shall grant to the District a right of access to the individual sewage disposal system on each lot and have this right of access recorded as part of the final tract map or other instrument, and provide written notification to the purchaser of each unit of the development.

8.12 <u>Connection to Sewage Collection Facilities</u> - When sewer collection facilities are available to the development, the District shall have the right to declare the use of the individual sewage disposal system a public nuisance and enter onto the property for the purpose of connecting the premises to the sewer collection system and properly abandoning the individual sewage disposal system without additional cost to the owner of the premises. Provided, however, that the District shall not be obligated to remove, reconstruct, relocate, or otherwise modify any structure, tree, bush, or appurtenance of any kind whatsoever in making the connection and properly abandoning the individual sewage disposal system.</u>

8.13 Sewer Permit to Connect - The District shall require the owner, or occupant, of the building to be connected to obtain a sewer permit from the District for such connection. No fees shall be charged for such sewer permit if they have been paid pursuant to Section 8.09 herein. The applicant for the sewer permit shall specify in writing that they will indemnify and hold the District harmless in making the connection to the sewage collection facility and abandoning the individual sewage system.

8.14 <u>Minimum Individual Sewage Systems Required</u> - Whenever the use of individual sewage disposal systems are installed in connection with "dry" sewers, the District will not agree that any such system be installed which is less than the minimum requirements for the type of system which is designed for use on this development.

SECTION 9. GENERAL AND SPECIFIC PROHIBITIONS

9.01 <u>New or Increased Pollutant Discharges -</u> Use of the Sewer System of the District shall be a privilege subject to the Rules and Regulations of the District, and the privilege may be revoked for non-compliance with this Ordinance and the Rules and Regulations. No right, title, or interest to continue to use the Sewer System shall exist or accrue by reason of existing discharge, permit or authorization of the District.

9.02 <u>General Discharge Prohibitions - No person shall discharge or cause to be discharged any pollutant or wastewater to the District's wastewater system if it appears likely in the opinion of the General Manager or Director of Engineering and Operations that such wastes may cause or contribute to pass-through or interference.</u>

9.03 <u>Specific Prohibitions - No person shall introduce or cause to be introduced into</u> the District's sewer system the following:

9.03.01 Pollutants which create a fire or explosive hazard in the District's sewer system, including but not limited to, waste streams with a closed cup flashpoint of less than 140°F (60°C) using the test methods specified in 40 CFR 261.21 or which result in conditions

where two successive readings on an explosion hazard meter at the point of discharge into the system (or at any point in the system), are more than 5%, or any single reading is over 10%, of the Lower Explosive Limit (LEL) of the meter. Prohibited materials include, but are not limited to, gasoline, kerosene, naptha, benzene, toluene, xylenes, ethers, alcohols, ketones, aldehydes, peroxides, chlorates, perchlorates, bromates, carbides, hydrides, and sulfides; as discharged in such quantities as to potentially result in any of the hazards noted above;

9.03.02 Any solid, semi-solid or viscous substances which may obstruct the flow of sewage, cause clogging of or adversely affect sewage pumping equipment, or sewage sludge pumping equipment, or the community sewer system, or interfere with the operation of the POTW, such as, but not limited to, grease, garbage with particles greater than 3/8" in any dimension, dead animals, animal guts or tissues, paunch manure, bones, hair, hides or fleshings, entrails, excessive quantities of whole blood, feathers, ashes, cinders, earth, sand, mud, gravel, rocks, plaster, concrete, spent lime, stone or marble dust, metal, metal filings or shavings, wood, wood shavings, straw, grass clippings, spent grains, spent hops, waste paper, paper containers or other paper products, rags, plastics, tar, asphalt, asphalt residues, residues from refining or processing of fuel or lubricating oil, glass, or glass grinding or polishing wastes;

9.03.03 Any recognizable portion of human or animal anatomy;

9.03.04 Any discharge which may, alone or in combination with other waste substances, result in the presence of solids, liquids, gases, vapors, or fumes in the POTW in such quantities that would create a hazard, public nuisance, or acute worker health and safety problems;

9.03.05 Any unpolluted water, including but not limited to, storm water, rainwater, ground water, street drainage, subsurface drainage, roof drainage, yard drainage, water from yard fountains, ponds, lawn sprays or any other type of surface water, or single pass, non-contact cooling or heating water. The General Manager may approve, on a temporary basis, the discharge of such waters to the POTW when no reasonable alternative method of disposal is available, subject to the payment of all applicable User charges and fees by the Discharger;

9.03.06 Corrosive wastewater having a pH less than 5.0 or more than 11.0, or which will cause the pH of the influent to the POTW to drop below 6.5 or rise above 8.0, or otherwise causing corrosive structural damage to the District's wastewater treatment plant, collection system or equipment;

9.03.07 The discharge of any substance, which, if otherwise disposed of, would be classified as a hazardous waste pursuant to 40 CFR 261 or as a toxic waste as defined Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations, Section 66261.24;

9.03.08 Any noxious or malodorous liquids, gases, or solids that either singly or by interaction with other wastes are sufficient to create a public nuisance or are sufficient to impair personnel access to the POTW for maintenance and repair;

9.03.09 Any substance which may cause the POTW's effluent, or any other product of the POTW, such as residues, sludges, or scums, to be unsuitable for reclamation and reuse or which will interfere with any of the reclamation process. In no case shall a substance discharged to the POTW cause the POTW to violate the provisions of Title 22 of the California Code of Regulations pertaining to Groundwater Replenishment Reuse Projects (GRRP). In no case shall a substance discharged to the POTW cause the POTW to violate applicable sludge use or disposal regulations established under the Federal Clean Water Act, 33 USCA, Section 1251 et. Seq., or 40 CFR 503 or any criteria, guidelines, or regulations affecting sludge use or disposal developed pursuant to the Solid Waste Disposal Act (SWDA), the Clean Air Act (CAA), Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), the Marine Protection, Research and Sanctuaries Act (MPRSA), or pursuant to the provisions of the California Code of Regulations, all as they may now exist or hereafter may be amended;

9.03.10 Any slug loads from raw material, spent solutions, or sludges generated from processing tanks or vessels, unless no reasonable alternative is available to prevent severe loss of life or to protect the environment. These shall include, but are not limited to, wash tanks, chemical conversion tanks, acid and alkali tanks, lubricating tanks, condensate from dry cleaning processes, fruit and vegetable wash tanks, brine wastewater from soft water regeneration

processes above permitted limits, and any other tank or vessel containing a material which would exceed permitted discharge limits.

9.03.11 Any wastewater with objectionable color not removed in the treatment process such as, but not limited to, dye wastes and vegetable tanning solutions, and any substance that will cause discoloration of the POTW effluent;

9.03.12 Any trucked or hauled pollutants or wastewater, except at such place and in such manner as prescribed by the General Manager;

9.03.13 Any overflow from a septic tank, facility wastewater holding tank, cesspool or seepage pit, or any liquid or sludge pumped from a septic tank, facility wastewater holding tank, cesspool or sewage pit, except as may be permitted by the General Manager.

9.03.14 Any discharge from any wastewater holding tank of a recreational vehicle, trailer, bus and other vehicle, except as may be permitted by the General Manager.

9.03.15 Pesticides, Herbicides, Algaecides, or Fertilizers in excess of the local or national categorical discharge standards, including any quantity of DDT (both isomers), DDD, DDE, Aldrin, Chlordane, Dieldrin, Endosulfan (alpha, beta, and sulfate), Endrin, Endrin Aldehyde, Heptachlor, Heptachlor Epoxide, Lindane, Disulfoton, Phorate, and/or Toxaphene;

9.03.16 Any material or quantity of material(s) which will cause abnormal sulfide generation.

9.03.17 Any petroleum oil, refined petroleum products, or products of mineral oil origin in excess of local or national discharge limits in amounts which could cause Interference or Pass-Through;

9.03.18 Any radiator fluid or coolant, water-based solvent, or nonbiodegradable soluble cutting oils in excess of local or national discharge limits;

9.03.19 Any liquid or other waste containing fats, wax, grease, or oils, which may solidify or become viscous at temperatures between $32^{\circ}F(0^{\circ}C)$ and $150^{\circ}F(65^{\circ}C)$.

9.03.20 Any liquid or other dental amalgam waste defined in and regulated by 40 CFR Part 441 – Dental Office Point Source Category.

Ordinance 404

9.03.21 Any silver-containing photo processing waste from developing or fixing solutions or rinse waters that are not in compliance with the District's discharge limits.

9.03.22 Any Toxic Organics in amounts which are determined to be toxic to the maintenance or operation of the POTW. EVWD may require the submittal of a Toxic Organic Management Plan (TOMP) from any user determined to discharge Toxic Organics above detection limits.

9.03.23 Any wastewater having a temperature which will inhibit biological activity at the POTW Treatment Plant resulting in Interference, but in no case wastewater with a temperature higher than 140° F (60° C) or which causes the temperature at the POTW Treatment Plant to exceed 104° F (40° C);

9.03.24 Any wastewater containing any radioactive wastes or isotopes of such half-life or concentration in excess of federal, state, or county regulations, as may cause Interference, Pass-Through, or violation of applicable State or Federal regulations;

9.03.25 Waste recovered from pretreatment equipment, systems, or devices;

9.03.26 Any PCBs and Dioxins, including, but not limited to, the following compounds: Arochlors 1221, 1228, 1232, 1242, 1254, 1260, 1262, and TCDD equivalents.

9.03.27 Any pollutant, including, but not limited to, oxygen demanding pollutants (BOD, COD, etc.) released in a Discharge at a flow rate and/or pollutant concentration which will cause Interference with the POTW.

9.03.28 Any pollutant(s), material, or quantity of material which will cause: 1) damage to any part of the POTW; 2) abnormal maintenance of the POTW; 3) an increase in the operational costs of the POTW; 4) a nuisance or menace to public health; 5) interference or pass-through in the POTW, its treatment processes, operations, sludge processes, use or disposal. This applies to each user introducing pollutants into the POTW whether or not the user is subject to other National Pretreatment Standards or any Federal, State, or local pretreatment requirements; or 6) A violation of the EVWD Waste Discharge Requirements permit.

9.03.29 Any wastewater that has been intentionally diverted (bypassed) from any portion of the Industrial User's treatment equipment unless the bypass meets the following provisions: 1) bypass was unavoidable to prevent loss of life, personal injury, or severe property damage; 2) there were no feasible alternatives to the bypass, such as the use of auxiliary treatment facilities, retention of untreated wastes, or maintenance during normal periods of equipment downtime. This condition is not satisfied if adequate back- up equipment should have been installed in the exercise of reasonable engineering judgment to prevent a bypass which occurred during normal periods of equipment downtime or preventative maintenance; and 3) the Industrial User notifies the District prior to bypassing the treatment equipment.

9.04 <u>Discharging Pollutants to the Environment -</u> No person shall circumvent the intent or purpose of this Ordinance by discharging, or by causing to be discharged, into any storm drain, channel, natural water course or public street, or onto the ground, or into a well, or into any sump or pit that is not impermeable, material or waste prohibited or restricted as to its discharge into a sewer system.

9.05 Point of Discharge Prohibition - No person, except authorized District personnel involved in maintenance functions of sanitary sewer facilities, shall discharge or cause to be discharged any solid or liquid substance directly into a manhole or other opening of the POTW other than through an approved building sewer connection, unless the User first obtains a Class IV Permit and the discharge otherwise complies with this Ordinance. This provision shall not apply to authorized EVWD or contract District personnel involved with the maintenance, cleaning, repair, or inspection of the collection system.

9.06 <u>Prohibition Against Dilution -</u> No person shall increase the use of process water or, in any way, attempt to dilute a discharge as a partial or complete substitute for adequate treatment to achieve compliance with Categorical Standards.

9.07 <u>Interference with District Equipment or Facilities -</u> No person shall enter, break, damage, destroy, uncover, deface, or tamper with any temporary or permanent structure.

equipment or appurtenance which is part of the District's collection system or POTW without prior written approval by the General Manager.

SECTION 10. SPECIFIC POLLUTANT LIMITATIONS

10.01 <u>Specific Local Discharge Limitations (Local Limits)</u> - No permitted Industrial User shall, except as hereinafter provided, discharge or cause to be discharged to the Sewer System any wastewater unless it conforms to the requirements of this Ordinance and all applicable Local Limits as may, from time to time, be established by resolution of the Board of Directors.

10.02 <u>Categorical Standards -</u> Categorical Standards, as they now exist or may hereafter be amended, are hereby incorporated into this Ordinance. In the event new or amended Categorical Standards include limitations more stringent than limitations incorporated into this Ordinance, the more stringent limitation shall automatically be incorporated herein by this reference.

10.03 Limitations of Water Softeners

<u>10.03.01</u> <u>Industrial User Water Softener Policy -</u> No Industrial User shall install, replace, enlarge, or use any Water Conditioning Device for softening all or any part of the water supply to any premises when such apparatus is an ion-exchange softener or demineralizer of the type that is regenerated at the site of use with the regeneration wastes being discharged to the ground, storm drain or the POTW unless the Water Conditioning Device is in compliance with the following conditions:

10.03.01.01 The brine solutions generated during the backwash cycles of the Water Conditioning Device shall be segregated from the freshwater rinses for disposal to a legal brine disposal site;

10.03.01.02 The backwash equipment shall be equipped with an electrical conductivity-controlled discharge valve that controls the wastewater discharged to the POTW. The electrical conductivity valve shall be calibrated at a minimum annually or as often as necessary to control and prevent any wastewater from being discharged to the POTW that exceeds the maximum electrical conductivity, total dissolved solids, or associated sodium and chloride concentrations established in the local discharge limitations; and

10.03.01.03 The Industrial User shall maintain the electrical conductivity-

controlled discharge valve in proper operating condition at all times. The industrial user shall notify the General Manager within twenty-four (24) hours in the event of a valve failure and immediately cease the discharge of all wastewater to the POTW associated with the soft water regenerating processes. A written report documenting the cause of the failure and the corrective actions taken shall be submitted to the District, within five calendar days after discovery of the electrical conductivity valve failure.

10.03.02 Residential User Water Softener Policy - Pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Sections 116775-116795 and amendments thereto, no residential water softening or conditioning appliance shall be installed except in either of the following circumstances:

10.03.02.01 The regeneration of the appliance is performed at a nonresidential facility separate from the location of the residence where such appliance is used; or

10.03.02.02 The regeneration of the appliance discharges to the waste disposal system of the residence where such appliance is used and the following conditions are met:

10.03.02.02.1 The appliance activates regeneration by demand control;

10.03.02.02.2 An appliance installed on or after January 1, 2000, shall be certified by a third-party rating organization using industry standards to have a salt efficiency rating of no less than three thousand three hundred fifty grains of hardness removed per pound of salt used in generation. An appliance installed on or after January 1, 2002, shall be certified by a third-party rating organization using industry standards to have a salt efficiency rating of no less than four thousand grains of hardness removed per pound of salt used in generation;

10.03.02.02.3 The installation of the appliance is accompanied by the simultaneous installation of the following softened or conditioned water conservation devices on all fixtures using softened or conditioned water, unless such devices are already in place or are prohibited by local and state plumbing and building standards or unless such devices will adversely restrict the normal operation of such fixtures:

- 1. Faucet flow restrictors.
- 2. Shower head restrictors.
- 3. Toilet reservoir dams.

4. A piping system installed so that untreated (unsoftened or unconditioned) supply water is carried to hose bibs and sill cocks which serve water to the outside of the house, except that bypass valves may be installed on homes with slab foundations constructed prior to the date of installation; or condominiums constructed prior to the date of installation; or otherwise where a piping system is physically inhibited.

10.03.02.03 The certification required under Subsection 10.03.02.02 of this Section shall be provided by the new user of the appliance and shall be completed by a contractor having a valid Class C-55 water conditioning contractor's license or Class C-36 plumbing contractor's license and filed with the City Building Division. The certification form shall contain all of the following information:

- 1. Name and address of homeowner;
- 2. Manufacturer of the water softening or conditioning appliance, model number of the appliance, pounds of salt used per regeneration, and salt efficiency rating at the time of certification.
- 3. Manufacturer of the water-saving devices installed, model number, and number installed; and
- Name, address, and the specialty contractor's license number of the C-55 and C-36 licensee making the certification.

10.04 <u>Swimming Pool Policy</u> - Discharges from non-saltwater swimming pools, wading pools, spas, whirlpools, and therapeutic pools may be permitted to the Public Sewer on a case-by-case basis as determined by the General Manager. The discharge of saltwater pools to the Sewer System is specifically prohibited. Each person who desires to drain a swimming pool, wading pool, spa, whirlpool, or therapeutic pool shall first obtain permission from the General Manager to discharging any of these waters. Permission may be granted by the General Manager if the discharge will:

- 1. Not cause hydraulic overload conditions in any of the District's sewer lines;
- 2. Meets all applicable specific limitations for wastewater quality as established by the District, including but not limited to pH, TDS, chloride, sodium, BOD, and TSS; and
- 3. Commence at a time of day and rate of flow that minimizes the impact of the

wastewater system.

4. Limit discharges to the hours of 8:00 pm to 6:00 am.

10.05 Medical Waste Disposal

10.05.1 No user shall discharge medical waste to the POTW without first complying with all requirements of the California Medical Waste Management Act (California Health and Safety Code Sections 117600 - 118360) and obtaining written permission from the General Manager. The request shall be submitted to the General Manager and shall include:

- 1. The source and volume of the medical waste;
- 2. The procedures and equipment used for disinfection of the medical waste; and
- 3. Employee training procedures for the legal disposal of the medical waste.

10.05.2 If the General Manager believes that the waste would not be adequately disinfected, the General Manager shall issue a written denial to the user and state the reasons for the denial. This denial shall be issued within thirty days from receipt of the written request.

10.05.3 If the General Manager believes that adequate disinfection of the waste can be achieved prior to discharge of the waste to the collection system, then conditional approval may be granted for the disposal of the waste.

10.05.4 If the user is granted permission for disposal of the medical waste, the user:

- 1. Shall adequately disinfect the medical waste prior to discharge to the POTW;
- 2. Shall not dispose of solid medical waste to the POTW, including hypodermic needles, syringes, instruments, utensils or other paper and plastic items of a disposable nature, or recognizable portions of human or animal anatomy; and
- 3. Shall be subject to periodic inspections to verify that all disinfection methods, procedures, and practices are being performed.

10.05.5 As authorized by the General Manager, wastewater generated from medically required life-saving operations, including but not limited to dialysis facilities, may be approved for disposal to the POTW.

10.06 <u>Limitation on Wastewater Strength</u> - No user shall discharge industrial wastewater to the POTW unless the wastewater conforms to the limitations and requirements of this Ordinance. Discharge limitations shall be revised as needed to ensure compliance of the Water
Reclamation Plant effluent and bio-solids reuse in compliance with the EVWD Waste Discharge Requirements Permit. For Categorical Users, the EVWD may exercise one or more of the following options:

- Where a categorical pretreatment standard is expressed in terms of either mass or concentration of a pollutant, the General Manager may impose equivalent concentration or mass limits;
- 2. When wastewater subject to a categorical pretreatment standard is mixed with wastewater not regulated by the same standard, the General Manager shall impose an alternate limit using the combined wastestream formula; and
- 3. A variance from a categorical pretreatment standard may be issued if the user can prove, that factors relating to its discharge are fundamentally different from the factors considered by the EPA when developing the categorical pretreatment standard.

SECTION 11. INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER DISCHARGE PERMITS

11.01 <u>Application</u> - Any person desiring to discharge industrial wastewater into the Public Sewer shall be required to submit an application to the General Manager presenting information as to the characteristics and amount of industrial wastewater to be so discharged. No industrial wastewater shall be discharged into the Public Sewer which will cause the effluent discharged from the sewage treatment facilities to violate any discharge requirement set by the California Regional Water Quality Control Board. All Significant Industrial Users, and all haulers of wastewater, shall apply for an Industrial Wastewater Discharge Permit (Permit) by completing and submitting to the District a Wastewater Discharge Permit Application, on a form provided by the District. Non-Significant Industrial Users shall, at the discretion of the District's General Manager, apply for an Industrial Wastewater Discharge Permit. The District will determine which type of permit, either individual control mechanism or group (general) permit, is best suited to control the discharge. The District will also determine the appropriate Permit Classification as listed in Section 11.

11.02 Permit Classifications

Industrial Users shall apply for, and obtain, the appropriate class of Permit as indicated below:

Permit Class	Industrial Users
Ι	Significant Industrial Users as defined herein
II	Non-Significant Category
III	Non-Significant Industrial Users as defined herein
IV	Temporary Industrial Users as defined herein

11.02.01 When to Apply

• Significant Industrial Users, who propose to connect or discharge to the POTW in the future shall apply for a Permit at least 90 days prior to commencing discharge.

Non-Significant Industrial Users, required to obtain a Permit, who propose to connect or discharge to the POTW in the future shall apply for a Permit at least 60 days prior to commencing discharge.

• Temporary Industrial Users, required to obtain a Permit, who propose to connect or discharge to the POTW in the future shall apply for a Permit at least 30 days prior to commencing discharge.

• Any Industrial User who is required to have a Permit but whose discharge commenced prior to the date of adoption of this Ordinance shall apply for a Permit within 60 days after adoption of this Ordinance.

• Applications for re-issuance of Permits shall be submitted at least 90 days prior to the expiration of the Permit.

11.03 <u>Contents of Permit Application</u> - Permit applications shall, at a minimum, contain the following information:

• Name and address of applicant and location of place of discharge;

• SIC number according to the Standard Industrial Classification Manual, U.S. Office of Management and Budget, 1987, as amended or NAICS number;

• A list of wastewater discharge constituents and characteristics, as determined by a State certified analytical laboratory using Analytical Methods as defined herein and sampling procedures, including but not limited to, those subject to Specific Local Discharge Limitations and Categorical Standards;

• Time and duration of discharge(s);

• Average daily, peak daily, and 15-minute peak wastewater flow rates, including daily, monthly and seasonal variations, if any;

• Site plans, floor plans, mechanical and plumbing plans, including details showing all sewers, sewer connections, treatment facilities and appurtenances by the size, location and elevation;

• An 8-1/2" X 11" process flow schematic diagram;

• Descriptions of activities, facilities and plant processes on the premises;

• Descriptions of all solid and liquid substances used or stored on the premises that are or could be discharged to the POTW;

• Number and type of employees and hours of plant operation, and proposed or actual hours of pretreatment system operation;

• A time schedule for compliance with any provisions of the Ordinance or Categorical Standard for which immediate compliance is not possible;

• A list of any environmental control permits held by or for the User's facility, and a copy of the County "Business Emergency Plan" which addresses the location, type and quantity of hazardous materials handled by the User;

• All applicable Best Management Practices;

• Initial applications for a Class I Permit (Categorical Industrial User) shall include a Baseline Monitoring Report as described in Section 13;

• Signature and certification in accordance with Section 13; and

• Any other information necessary to evaluate the permit application.

11.04 Permit Evaluation

11.04.01 The General Manager will evaluate the data furnished by the User and may require additional information, such as critical parameter reporting. After evaluation of the data furnished, the General Manager may issue a wastewater discharge permit subject to the terms and conditions provided herein.

11.04.02 If the General Manager determines that the proposed discharge will not be acceptable, he shall disapprove the application and shall notify the applicant in writing, specifying the reason(s) for denial and the applicable appeals process. The applicant may submit a revised permit application for the evaluation of the General Manager.

11.05 Permit Contents

Permits, whether individual (site specific) or general (group), shall contain at least the following:

- Statement of permit duration.
- Statement of permit non-transferability.
- Statement of prohibited discharges and other applicable effluent limitations including Best Management Practices.
- Statement of applicable administrative, civil, and criminal penalties for violation of Pretreatment Standards and Requirements.
- A schedule of Pretreatment Program fees and charges.
- Limitations on the average and/or maximum wastewater constituents and characteristics.
- Specifications for self-monitoring, which may include: pollutants to be monitored; sampling location(s); frequency of sampling; sample type(s); number, types, and standards for tests; and reporting schedule; and may include total Toxic Organic monitoring.
- Compliance Time Schedule(s) where required.
- Depending on the specific nature of the permitted facility and discharge, a permit may also contain the following:
- Limitations on average and/or maximum flow rates.
- Requirements for installation and maintenance of inspection and sampling facilities.
- Requirements for installation and maintenance of spill containment systems.
- Requirements for submission of technical or discharge reports.
- Requirements for maintaining and retaining plant records relating to the wastewater discharge.
- Requirements for notification of slug or accidental discharges, and/or discharges of hazardous waste.
- Requirements for submittal of slug discharge control plans and/or solvent management plans.
- Other conditions as deemed appropriate by the District to ensure compliance

with this Ordinance.

11.06 Permit Modifications

11.06.01 <u>General</u>: The limitations or requirements of the permit shall be deemed automatically modified if limitations or requirements are modified by operation of law or just cause exists. The User shall be informed of any such modifications and shall be given a reasonable time schedule for compliance.

11.06.02 Promulgation of Categorical Standards

11.06.02.1 Affected Users shall apply for modification of their Permits upon promulgation of a new or revised Categorical Standard, and shall comply with such Standard within the time frame prescribed therein. Within 180 days after the promulgation of new or revised the Categorical Standard, they shall submit to the District a time schedule for compliance with the Categorical Standard.

11.06.02.2 Where an affected User has not previously submitted an application for a permit as required by Section 11, the User shall submit a completed application to the District within 180 days after the promulgation of the applicable Categorical Standard.

11.06.02.3 Changes in Operation: Industrial Users shall apply for and obtain necessary and appropriate Permit modifications prior to initiating any changes in the User's operation that may cause a change in quantity or quality of the User's discharge. For the purposes of this section "changes" shall mean the following: An increase of 25% or more in the quantity of industrial wastes discharged, the addition of new waste-generating processes, the addition of different waste-generating equipment, or the addition of process equipment that results in an increase in production capacity.

11.07 Permit Transferability

Nondomestic Wastewater Discharge Permits are issued to specific Users for specific operations. A Nondomestic Wastewater Discharge Permit shall not be transferred, either from one location to another or from one User to another. Concurrently with a change in ownership, the new owner shall apply for a new Nondomestic Wastewater Discharge Permit.

11.08 Duration of Permit

Permits shall be issued for a term not to exceed three (3) years.

11.09 Permit Suspension or Revocation

The General Manager may suspend or revoke any permit if the user is in violation of any provision of this Ordinance or user permit. These violations include but are not limited to: falsification of any required information; denial of EVWD's right to entry; failure to re-apply for a permit or request a required permit modification; failure to pay required permit fees or charges; or any discharges in violation of this Ordinance. The General Manager may suspend or revoke the permit upon a minimum notice of fifteen calendar days when the General Manager finds the user violated any provision of this Ordinance or user permit. The permit suspension or revocation will result in them immediate suspension of all discharge rights and privileges as specified in this Ordinance. All costs associated with the permit suspension or revocation, and any reissuance of the permit, shall be paid by the user.

11.10 On Site Accessibility

The permitted Industrial User shall maintain a copy of the current Permit readily accessible at the site of nondomestic wastewater discharge at all times.

11.11 Authority

Permits shall be expressly subject to all provisions of this Ordinance and all other applicable regulations, charges and fees established by District resolution or ordinance. The General Manager may include some or all of the following as conditions in any Industrial Waste Permit:

11.12 Pretreatment of Industrial Waste

The General Manager may require pretreatment of the industrial waste to an acceptable condition prior to discharge to the Public Sewer. The design and installation of any pretreatment plants and equipment shall be subject to the review and approval of the General Manager and the requirements of all applicable codes, ordinances, laws, and regulations.

11.13 Quantities and Rates

The permit may require that the Owner exercise specific control over the quantities and rates of discharge. If necessary, the Owner shall install an approved flume and automatic recording devise for the purpose of measuring flow and flow rates.

11.14 Gravity Separation Interceptors

The Owner may be required to install, maintain and use Grease and/or Sand Gravity Separation Interceptor as specified in the Uniform Plumbing Code, or as specified, modified or superseded by the District Ordinances, Rules and Regulations.

11.15 Costs For Additional Treatment

If in the opinion of the General Manager, the Industrial Waste will require additional handling and treatment by the District, the Industrial Waste Permit shall include a special agreement or arrangement between the District and the Permittee whereby an industrial waste may be accepted by the District for treatment, subject to payment of the added cost for this handling and treatment as established by the Board.

11.16 Control Manholes

When required by the General Manager, the Owner of any property served by the Building Sewer carrying industrial wastes shall install a suitable control manhole in the Building Sewer to facilitate observation, sampling and measurement of waste. Such manhole shall be installed by the owner at his expense and shall be maintained so as to be safe and accessible at all times.

11.17 Measurements and Tests

All measurements, tests and analyses of the characteristics of waters and wastes to which reference is made in this Ordinance shall be determined in accordance with the latest edition of "Standard Methods" and shall be determined at said Control Manhole. In the event that no Control Manhole has been required, the Control Manhole shall be considered to be the nearest downstream manhole in the Public Sewer to the point at which the Building Sewer is connected.

11.18 Maintenance of Equipment

All pre-treatment system, flow measuring equipment, flow equalization device, grease or sand interceptor or separator, or other equipment or device required by the Industrial Waste Permit shall be continuously maintained in satisfactory and effective operation at the Owner's expense.

SECTION 12. PRETREATMENT FACILTY REQUIREMENTS

12.01 <u>Pretreatment of Nondomestic Wastewaters</u> - Users shall provide, at their sole cost and expense, all wastewater pretreatment needed to comply with this Ordinance and all applicable Categorical Standards within the time limitations specified therein.

Detailed plans showing the pretreatment facilities and operating procedures shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the District before construction of the facilities. The District's approval of such plans and operating procedures shall not relieve the User from the responsibility of modifying the facilities as necessary to produce an effluent which complies with all provisions of this Ordinance, applicable Categorical Standards and State and Federal laws, rules, and regulations.

12.02 <u>Monitoring Facilities</u> - The District may require, at the User's expense, the installation and operation of monitoring facilities to allow inspection and sampling of discharges to the sewerage system. The monitoring facilities shall include a suitably designed control structure and other such sampling, monitoring, and flow-metering equipment as are necessary to facilitate safe inspection and sampling and accurate monitoring. The control structure shall be watertight, structurally sound, and durable. The monitoring facilities, including sampling, monitoring, and flow measuring equipment, shall be maintained at all times in a safe and proper operating condition at the expense of the User.

Monitoring facilities shall normally be situated on the User's premises, but when such a location would be impractical or cause undue hardship on the User, the District may permit the facilities to be located within a District-owned or controlled right-of-way.

If the control structure is inside the discharger's fence or other secure location, there shall be accommodations to allow access for District personnel, such as a gate secured with a lock, with key provided to the District.

There shall be ample room and a 120 V power outlet in or near monitoring facility to allow installation of portable sampling and monitoring equipment by District personnel.

Whether located on public or private property, the sampling and monitoring facilities shall be constructed in accordance with the District's requirements and all applicable local construction standards and specifications. Construction Drawings for proposed monitoring facilities shall be approved by the District prior to construction. Construction shall be completed within 90 days following written approval by the District, unless the District grants a time extension.

12.02.01 <u>Monitoring Requirements</u>. Industrial Users may be required by the District to collect representative samples and have them analyzed for the purpose of determining compliance with established wastewater discharge limitations. Permits will contain specified times for said monitoring.

12.02.02 Automatic Re-Sampling Requirement. In the event that sample

data indicates non-compliance with any District standard or limitation, said user will be required to resample for those pollutant parameters that indicate non-compliance and submit new analytical results within 30-days of receiving the initial sample results which indicated noncompliance.

12.02.03 <u>Additional Monitoring</u>. If the Industrial User monitors at the approved sample point(s) more often than required by the District, using approved sample collection methods and analytical procedures, then the results must be reported to the District within 30-days of receiving the results. The automatic re-sampling requirement also applies to any additional sampling that indicates non-compliance.

12.03 <u>Flow Monitoring Equipment</u> - A Significant Industrial User with an average daily discharge flow of more than 10,000 gallons per day shall install and operate a continuous monitoring flow meter capable of measuring the User's discharge to the District's sewerage system as part of its Monitoring Facilities. The flow measuring device shall be of a type appropriate to the quantity and characteristics of the discharge and shall be equipped with a flow indicator reading in gallons per minute (gpm) and a flow totalizer reading in gallons. If installation of a wastewater discharge flow meter is not practical, the General Manager may permit the User to install an approved water meter on the water line or lines supplying the process(es) that generate(s) the discharge.

12.04 Pretreatment of Fats, Oils, and Grease

12.04.01 <u>General.</u> This section sets forth the requirements of the Districts FOG Discharge Control Program. The requirements of this section shall apply to all food service establishments (FSE) as defined in Section 3.

1. New Construction of FSEs. All new construction projects shall comply with these regulations immediately upon adoption by the Board of Directors of the East Valley Water District.

2. Existing FSEs. All existing FSEs that own and operate a GCD shall not be required to install a new GCD unless any of the following should occur

A. The FSE is determined to be the cause of a sanitary sewer overflow related to the discharge of FOG to the sewer system, or

Ordinance 404

B. The FSE is determined to be bypassing FOG to the sewer system, or

C. The FSE experiences a change in any of the following:

- 1. Changes in menu;
- 2. Changes in operating hours;
- 3. Changes in the maximum seating capacity;
- 4. Changes in the maximum meals served per peak hour;
- 5. Changes in the equipment used.

12.04.02 <u>Legal Authority.</u> The District's FOG Discharge Control Program is supported by this Ordinance, which gives the District the legal authority to prohibit discharges into the sewer system, authority to require installation of pretreatment (i.e. grease removal devices), authority to inspect grease producing facilities and authority to enforce these provisions.

12.04.03 Prohibited Discharges – It shall be deemed a violation of this ordinance for any FSE to discharge or allow to be discharged to the sanitary sewer any of the following:

- 1. Fats, Oil and Grease (FOG), including any liquid or other wastes containing FOG;
- 2. Grease Control Device (GCD) contents;
- 3. Waste Oil Container contents;
- 4. Drippings or spills from Outdoor Refuse Management and Containment Areas;

and

5. Refuse, liquids and other waste from indoor and outdoor storage and wash areas and public or employee areas associated with a Food Facility.

12.04.04 Disposal of FOG

Plan and Schedule for Disposal of FOG within the Service Area. The <u>District</u> does not own or operate any FOG disposal facilities. The FSEs must, at a minimum, collect waste FOG and prevent its discharge into the collection system by implementing BMPs in accordance with Section 12.04.010 to reduce the amount of FOG requiring disposal.

For waste FOG that is generated, it must be collected and stored properly in recycling barrels or drums in accordance with EVWD requirements. FSEs must use a licensed hauler or

recycling facility to dispose of this waste. FSEs must save receipts for the proper disposal, which are reviewed during an FSE inspection conducted by Pretreatment Inspectors and Assistants.

12.04.05 <u>Grease Control Device (GCD) Required</u>. Unless otherwise approved by the District, FSEs shall install and maintain a GCD in accordance with this ordinance and the requirements set forth in the East Valley Water District Regulations for the Installation and Sizing of Grease Control Devices.

12.04.06 <u>Waiver of Requirement to Install GCD</u> - District may elect to issue a Conditional Waiver or require a under sink GCD as approved by the County of San Bernardino Department of Environmental Health Services, if it is determined that the FSE does not have the reasonable potential to cause an adverse effect on the POTW. However, the District may revoke the Conditional Waiver for the following reasons:

- 1. Changes in menu;
- 2. Falsification of information in the Food Service Establishment Permit Application;
- 3. Changes in operating hours;
- 4. Changes in the maximum seating capacity;
- 5. Changes in the maximum meals served per peak hour;
- 6. Changes in the equipment used;
- 7. Changes in the quantity or quality of the wastewater discharged;

8. Increased sewer line maintenance or sanitary sewer overflows (SSOs) which are attributed to the FSE's wastewater discharge

12.04.07 Food Service Establishment (FSE) Permit Required. All FSEs, are required to submit a Food Service Establishment Permit Application to the District before discharging any wastewater to the sewer system.

12.04.08 <u>GCD Installation and Sizing Requirements</u>. GCDs shall be installed and sized in accordance with the requirements set forth in the East Valley Water District Regulations for the Installation and Sizing of Grease Control Devices.

12.04.09 GCD Maintenance Requirements. Any person, property owner, or FSE that owns, operates, or maintains a GCD shall maintain it properly.

1. The GCD shall be cleaned as often as necessary but not less than once every 90 days to ensure that sediment and floating materials do not accumulate to impair the efficiency of the GCD and odors do not cause a public nuisance. A GCD is considered to be in violation under the following conditions:

2. Odors generated from the GCD cause a public nuisance.

3. The GCD is not in good working condition and appears to be malfunctioning or bypassing.

4. The GCD contains FOG and solids accumulation exceeding its rated capacity as documented by the manufacturer through third party test reports, or in the absence of that, twenty-five percent (25%) of the design hydraulic depth of the GCD.

5. The wastewater discharged from the FSE is determined to contain more than 250 mg/L of oil and grease.

6. When a GCD is cleaned, it must be pumped out completely and the removed sediment, liquid, and floating material shall be lawfully disposed of at a facility legally approved to accept such waste.

7. The user shall maintain a manifest for the removed GCD waste for a minimum of three years. The manifest shall include at a minimum: the name and address of the facility where the waste is removed, the disposal site for the GCD waste, the volume removed, and the date and time of removal. Failure to maintain and provide the required information may require the user to document the required information on an EVWD issued grease hauler manifest form.

8. The removed pretreatment waste shall not be reintroduced into the GCD or discharged into another GCD, or at another location which has not been approved by the District to accept such waste.

9. The use of chemicals to dissolve grease in a GCD is specifically prohibited.. The owner, lessee, or sub-lessee, of any facility required to install an interceptor, and any proprietor, operator or superintendent of such facility are individually and severally liable for any failure of proper maintenance of such interceptor. Failure to maintain an GCD is a violation of this Ordinance and subjects the User to progressive enforcement actions in accordance with the approved Enforcement Response Plan.

12.04.10 Best Management Practices for FSEs.

1. All FSEs are required to implement BMPs to control the discharge of FOG to the

sewer system and prevent SSOs. The BMPs are subject to approval by the District and at a minimum must include the following elements:

A. Dispose food waste directly into approved disposal containers and not in sinks.

B. Install drain screens on all drainage pipes. periodically clean the screens and dispose screened solids into trash or garbage cans.

C. "Dry wipe" pots, pans, dishware and work areas prior to washing. Use rubber scrapers or paper towels to remove FOGs from cookware, utensils, and serving ware.

D. Collect waste cooking oil and store properly in recycling barrels or drums. Use a licensed hauler or recycling facility to dispose of this waste.

E. Use absorbent products to clean under fryer baskets and other locations where FOGs may be spilled or dripped.

F. Train kitchen staff and other employees to follow BMPs.

G. Post all applicable BMPs in the food preparation and/or dishwashing area.

H. Observe proper GCD cleaning and maintenance procedures to ensure the device is properly operating.

I. Comply with all other BMPs deemed appropriate by the District.

2. In the event an industrial user fails to comply with the requirements of this Ordinance, the District may take immediate enforcement action to reduce the risk of FOG entering the collection system by applying one or more appropriate enforcement action(s). The enforcement actions available to the District are outlined in Enforcement Response Plan (ERP), and an individual ERP may be developed for the non-compliant FSE.

12.04.11 FSE Inspection Requirements - This Ordinance provides the authority to carry out all inspection, surveillance, and monitoring procedures necessary to make a determination on compliance or noncompliance by FSEs with pretreatment standards and requirements, independent of information supplied by FSEs.

This Ordinance specifies that whenever it is necessary to make an inspection to enforce any of the provisions of, or perform any duty imposed by this or other applicable law, or whenever the District has reasonable cause to believe that there exists upon any premises any possible violation of the provisions of this section or other applicable law, or any condition which makes such premises hazardous, unsafe, or dangerous, the District or his/her designate is authorized to enter such property at any reasonable time and to inspect the same and perform any duty imposed upon the District or his/her designate by this section or other applicable law. To that end, FSEs shall comply with the following inspection requirements:

1. The District shall inspect the facilities of any user to ascertain whether all requirements of this Ordinance are being met. Persons on the premises shall allow the District ready access at all reasonable times to all parts of the premises for the purpose of inspection, sampling, and records examination.

2. The user shall ensure that there is always a person on site, during normal business hours, knowledgeable of the user's processes and activities to accompany the District during the inspection.

3. The user shall provide immediate access when an emergency exists.

4. All pretreatment equipment shall be immediately accessible at all times for the purpose of inspection. At no time shall any material, debris, obstacles, or obstructions be placed in such a manner that will prevent immediate access to the pretreatment equipment.

5. No user shall interfere, with delay, resist or refuse entrance to the District when attempting to inspect any facility which discharges wastewater to the POTW.

6. Where a user has security measures in force which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into the premises, the user shall make all necessary arrangements so that, upon presentation of identification, the District will be permitted to enter, without delay.

7. The user shall make available for copying by the District, all records required to be kept under the provisions of This Ordinance.

12.05 Pretreatment for Vehicle and Equipment Servicing and Washing Facilities

1. Any facility maintained for the servicing, washing, cleaning, or repair of vehicles, roadway machinery, construction equipment, industrial transportation or power equipment, and which discharges nondomestic wastewater to the public sewer, shall install and maintain a sand/oil separator. Oil/Sand Separators shall comply with the installation and sizing requirements of the California Plumbing Code.

2. Oil/Sand Separators shall be maintained properly. Accumulated sediment, petroleum oils, flammable liquids, or any other accumulations shall be periodically removed by a licensed hauler and disposed of at a licensed disposal site. Maintenance shall be performed not less than once per year.

3. The District will conduct routine inspections of facilities with Oil/Sand Separators to ensure they are being properly maintained in compliance with these requirements as required by this ordinance. Determinations of non-compliance shall subject facilities to the enforcement actions included in this ordinance.

12.06 Pretreatment of Dental Amalgam

1. All owners and operators of dental facilities that remove or place amalgam fillings shall comply with the following BMPs:

A. No person shall rinse chair-side traps, vacuum screens, or amalgam separators equipment in a sink or other connection to the sanitary sewer system.

B. Owners and operators of dental facilities shall ensure that all staff members who handle amalgam waste are trained in the proper handling, management, and disposal of mercurycontaining material and fixer-containing solutions. Training records shall be maintained and made available for inspection as described in Record Keeping and Reporting Section of this Ordinance.

C. Amalgam waste shall be stored and managed in accordance with the instructions of the recycler or hauler of such materials.

D. Bleach and other chlorine-containing disinfectants shall not be used to disinfect the vacuum line system.

E. The use of bulk mercury is prohibited. Only pre-capsulated dental amalgam is permitted.

2. All homeowners and operators of dental vacuum suction systems, shall comply with the following:

A. An ISO 11143 certified amalgam separator device shall be installed for each dental vacuum suction system. The installed device must be ISO 11143 certified as capable of removing a minimum of 95% of amalgam. The amalgam separator system shall be certified at flow rates comparable to the flow rate of the actual vacuum suction system operation. Neither the separator device nor the rated plumbing shall include an automatic flow bypass. For facilities that require an amalgam separator that exceeds the practical capacity or ISO 11143 test methodology, a non-certified acceptor will be accepted, provided that smaller units from the same manufacturer and of the same technology are ISO-certified.

B. Amalgam separators shall be maintained in accordance with manufacturer recommendations. Installation, certification, and maintenance records shall be maintained and made available for inspection as described in Section 13.

3. The following types of dental practice are exempt this Section, provided that removal or placement of amalgam fillings occurs at the facility no more than three days per year:

- A. Orthodontics;
- B. Periodontics;
- C. Oral and maxillofacial surgery;
- D. Radiology;
- E. Oral pathology or oral medicine;
- F. Endodontistry; and
- G. Prosthodontistry.

4. All owners and operators of dental facilities shall submit an annual report for each facility to the superintendent on or before February 1st of each calendar year. The annual report shall contain information on the dental facility's amalgam separator and its maintenance and shall require the dental facility to certify that it is in full compliance with this section. The annual report shall be on a form provided by the District.

5. The District will determine the maximum allowable copper limit for dental facilities in sewer permits issued to these facilities. If no limit is set in the permit, the maximum allowable limit for copper for dental facilities shall be 2.0 mg/liter.

12.07 Silver Recovery Pretreatment Systems

All industrial users who discharge wastewater to the POTW which is generated from the development of photographic film, film negatives, x-rays, or plate negatives shall install silver recovery pretreatment equipment, as required by the General Manager.

The silver recovery equipment shall be capable of sufficiently removing silver from the fixer solution and any silver laden rinse water to meet the required local discharge limits specified herein.

The photo developing solution shall be required to be separated, reclaimed, hauled by a licensed waste hauler to an approved disposal site and shall not be discharged to the silver recovery equipment. As required by the General Manager, the user shall install an approved sample collection device at the discharge end of the silver recovery equipment to facilitate the collection of representative wastewater samples.

12.08 Spill Containment Systems

A spill containment system is a system of dikes, walls, barriers, berms, secondary vessels, or other devices designed to contain spillage of the liquid contents of containers, in order to prevent such liquids from entering the Sewer System. Any person who uses or stores such liquids, other than pure water, in the vicinity of a floor drain or other opening to the Sewer System, such that spilled liquids might enter the Sewer System, shall install a spill containment system.

Spill containment systems shall be constructed of impermeable and non-reactive materials with respect to the liquids being contained. Spill containment systems shall be designed to prevent the hazardous mixture of incompatible liquids in the event of failure of one or more containers. Spill containment systems shall conform to all State and County regulations and policies as to percent containment, container type, and size. The spill containment systems shall be sufficient to prevent the discharge of any bulk chemicals, raw materials, finished product, etc. to the POTW. Spill containment requirements include but are not limited to the following:

1. Spill containment systems for tanks, carboys, and vats shall consist of a system of dikes, walls, barriers, berms, or other devices approved by the General Manager which are designed to contain a minimum of 110% of the liquid contents of the largest container stored in the containment device.

2. Spill containment systems for drums and barrels may consist of individual spill containment skids, pallets, or other devices approved by the General Manager which are designed to contain a minimum of 110% of the entire contents of all containers stored in the containment device.

3. Spill containment systems shall be constructed of materials that are impermeable and non-reactive to the liquids being contained.

4. Outdoor spill containment systems shall be constructed with adequate covering to prevent the accumulation of water from inclement weather or irrigation within the spill containment device.

5. Spill containment systems shall not allow incompatible substances to mix and cause

a hazardous situation in the event of a failure of one or more containers.

6. At no time shall a user use a spill containment system for the storage of waste other than from a spill generated from a contained liquid.

7. Liquid contained within the spill containment system shall be removed as soon as possible or as instructed by the General Manager to restore the capacity of the spill containment system to the original volume.

12.09 Industrial User Compliance Plans

12.09.01 <u>Solvent Management Plans</u>. Each permitted Industrial User who uses or stores significant quantities of chlorinated organic solvents onsite, and each Industrial User subject to promulgated Categorical Standards which include a Total Toxic Organic limitation, shall file a Solvent Management Plan with the District. A Solvent Management Plan shall demonstrate proper containment and disposal of solvents in order to assure compliance with the provisions of this Ordinance and applicable Categorical Standards.

12.09.02 <u>Slug Discharge Control Plans</u>. Each permitted Industrial User who stores significant quantities of liquids in the vicinity of floor drains or other openings to the Sewer System such that spillage of stored liquids could result in Slug Loading (as defined herein) or in any violation of the provisions of this Ordinance shall file a Slug Discharge Control Plan with the District. All Significant Industrial Users shall be evaluated for the need to develop a Slug Discharge Control Plan. The Plan shall contain at a minimum, the following elements:

- 1. Description of discharge practices, including non-routine batch discharges;
- 2. Description of stored chemicals;

3. Procedures for immediately notifying the POTW of slug discharges, and procedures for follow- up written notification to the District within 24 hours;

4. Procedures to prevent adverse impacts from Slug Discharges, including inspection and maintenance of storage areas, handling and transfer of materials, loading and unloading operations, control of plant site run-off, worker training, building of containment structures or equipment, measures for containing toxic organic pollutants (including solvents), and/or measures and equipment for emergency response; and

5. If requested by the General Manager, follow-up practices to limit the damage

suffered by the POTW Treatment Plant or the environment by Slug Discharges.

SECTION 13. RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

13.01 Industrial User Record Keeping - All Industrial Users shall keep records of waste hauling, reclamation activities, monitoring, pH and flow measuring device calibration reports, sample analysis data, flow and pH meter chart recordings, records of pretreatment equipment maintenance, best management practices including but not limited to interceptor and clarifier maintenance and cleaning, correspondence with the District, and such other records as the District may reasonably require, on the site of wastewater discharge. All such records shall be available for inspection and copying by District personnel. All records must be kept for a minimum of three years or longer in the event a criminal or civil action is commenced.

13.02 Industrial User Reporting Requirements - Industrial Users are required to submit the following types of reports:

13.02.01 <u>Report of Potential Problems -</u> If, for any reason, pollutants are discharged at a flow rate or concentration that might cause Interference or Pass-Through, as defined herein, or which might result in a violation of Waste Discharge Requirements Permit requirements or requirements of this Ordinance, or create a hazard to District personnel, the Sewer System and/or the Public, the Industrial User shall orally notify the District immediately. The oral report shall be followed by a written report submitted to the District within five days. The User shall also repeat the sampling and analysis and submit the results of the repeat analysis to the District within 30 days.

13.02.02 <u>Notification of Changed Discharge</u> - Each Industrial User shall promptly notify the District in advance of their termination of discharge, or of any increase in the volume of their discharge beyond flow limits specified in their permit, or of any significant change in the character of pollutants in their discharge. Significant Industrial Users shall immediately notify the District of any changes at its facility that affect the potential for a slug discharge.

13.02.03 Notification of Hazardous Waste Discharge - Discharge of hazardous wastes is prohibited. However, should any discharge of hazardous wastes occur, the discharger

shall observe the following notification procedures:

1. All Industrial Users shall notify the District, the EPA Regional Waste Management Division Director, and State hazardous waste authorities in writing of any discharge into the POTW of a substance, which, if otherwise disposed of, would be classified a hazardous waste pursuant to 40 CFR Part 261.

2. Such notification shall include the name of the hazardous waste as set forth in 40 CFR Part 261, the EPA hazardous waste number, and the type of discharge (continuous, batch, or other).

3. The notification shall also contain the following information to the extent such information is known and readily available to the Industrial User: an identification of the hazardous constituents contained in the wastes, an estimation of the mass and concentration of such constituents in the waste stream discharged during that calendar month, an estimation of the mass of such constituents in the waste stream expected to be discharged during the following 12 months, and a compliance plan with time schedule for ceasing discharge of all hazardous constituents.

4. The Industrial User shall provide the above-required notifications to the District no later than five days, and to the other agencies specified no later than 180 days, after the discharge of the hazardous waste.

5. In the case of new Federal regulations under Section 3001 of RCRA identifying additional characteristics of hazardous waste or listing any additional substance as a hazardous waste, the Industrial User shall notify the District, the EPA Regional Waste Management Division Director, and State hazardous waste authorities of the discharge of such substance within 90 days of the effective date of such regulations.

6. In the case of any notification made under these requirements, the Industrial User shall certify that it has a program in place to eliminate all hazardous waste discharge.

7. Dischargers of hazardous waste shall also comply with the reporting requirements specified in Division 20, Chapter 6.95 of the California Health and Safety Code.

<u>Self-Monitoring Reports</u>: Significant Industrial Users are required to submit Self-Monitoring Reports at least once every six months, which shall contain a description of the nature, concentration, and flow of pollutants required to be reported by the District, and the time, date, and place of sampling and methods of analysis. Sampling for Self-Monitoring Reports shall be performed during the period covered by the report. Significant Industrial Users are required to report all monitoring results. All required analyses shall be performed by a State Certified Laboratory using Approved Analytical Methods as defined herein. 13.02.04 <u>Other Reports -</u> Any other reports required by California State Law or by the General Manager.

13.03 <u>Categorical Industrial User Reporting Requirements</u> - Categorical Industrial Users shall comply with the reporting requirements set forth in Section 12 and shall also submit Initial Baseline Monitoring Reports (BMRs) and Periodic Compliance Reports, and, if necessary for compliance with the provisions of the applicable Categorical Standard, Schedule Compliance Reports, And Final Compliance Reports.

13.03.01 Baseline Monitoring Report (BMR) - A Baseline Monitoring Report shall be submitted as part of any initial application for a Class I Permit to facilitate evaluation of initial compliance status with respect to Categorical Standards, and any modifications or conditions necessary to achieve full compliance with categorical standards. A Class I Permit Application and BMR shall constitute a Baseline Report.

1. Each Class I Permit Application and BMR submitted by a facility in operation prior to the effective date of this Ordinance shall include analysis reports of samples collected to demonstrate compliance with applicable Categorical Standards. The application shall also include a statement, signed by an authorized representative of the Industrial User, and certified as to accuracy by a qualified professional, indicating whether Pretreatment Standards are being met on a consistent basis, and, if not, whether additional operation and maintenance and/or additional pretreatment is required for the Industrial User to meet the Pretreatment Standards and requirements.

2. If immediate compliance with applicable Categorical Standards is not possible and additional pretreatment or operation and maintenance is necessary, the Class I Permit Application and BMR shall include a time schedule specifying the shortest time necessary to achieve full compliance. The full compliance date shall not be later than that specified in the applicable Categorical Standard. The time schedule shall contain dates for pretreatment equipment design completion, building permit submittal date, construction commencement date, construction updates, construction completion date, employee training completion date, and date of achieving full compliance. In no case shall the period between compliance milestones in the Compliance Time Schedule exceed nine months. New Sources (as defined herein) shall achieve compliance with all applicable Pretreatment Standards within 90 days of commencing discharge.

13.03.02 <u>Schedule Compliance Reports</u> - When the Class I Permit Application and BMR included a time schedule for achieving full compliance with Categorical Standards by a certain date, the applicant shall periodically submit Schedule Compliance Reports to demonstrate compliance with milestone dates specified in the time schedule.

1. Schedule Compliance Reports shall include, where applicable, analysis reports of samples collected to demonstrate compliance.

2. Schedule Compliance Reports shall be submitted at the completion of all major events necessary to achieve full compliance with Categorical Standards, but not less frequently than every 30 days.

3. Schedule Compliance Reports must be submitted within 14 days of a milestone date.

13.03.03 <u>Final Compliance Report</u> - The applicant shall submit a Final Compliance Report, if necessary, to demonstrate that full compliance with Categorical Standards has been achieved.

1. A Final Compliance Report shall include all information contained in a Class I Permit Application and BMR.

2. Final Compliance Reports shall be submitted within 90 days of achieving compliance with Categorical Standards.

3. Final Compliance Reports from New Sources (as defined herein) must be submitted within 90 days after the facility commences discharge.

13.03.04 <u>Periodic Compliance Reports</u> - Periodic Compliance Reports shall be submitted to demonstrate continued compliance with Categorical Standards.

1. Periodic Compliance Reports shall include all monitoring data specified in the applicable Categorical Standard and any additional monitoring data obtained by the User.

2. Sampling for Periodic Compliance Reports shall be performed during the period covered by the Report.

3. Analyses shall be performed by a State certified laboratory using Approved Analytical Methods as defined herein.

4. Periodic Compliance Reports shall be submitted every six months in June and December of each year, along with the Self-Monitoring Report pursuant to Section 13 herein with

the exception of the annual certification requirement by non-significant categorical industrial users.

13.04 <u>Signatory and Certification Requirement</u> - All reports and plans submitted to the District by Industrial Users pursuant to a permit condition or any section of this Ordinance shall be signed and dated by an authorized representative of the Industrial User. The signature shall accompany the following certification statement:

"I certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing violations".

Analytical reports submitted directly to the District by a certified analytical laboratory at the request of the Industrial User for samples of wastewater collected at Industrial User facilities may be signed, dated, and certified by the laboratory manager in lieu of an authorized representative of the Industrial User. However, such reports shall be accompanied by a statement, signed, dated, and certified by an authorized representative of the Industrial User, as above, which verifies that the sample identified in the analytical report was collected on the date and time indicated at the location indicated, and using the method indicated on the analytical report. Said signed, dated, and certified statement may be included as part of the chain-of-custody form for the sample.

13.05 <u>Public Access to Information</u> - Except for data determined to be confidential under 40 CFR Part 2, all reports, data, and information submitted by Industrial Users to the District in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance shall be available for public inspection.

All reports, data, and information submitted by Industrial Users to the District in accordance with the terms of this Ordinance shall be available without restriction to the EPA, the State Water Board, and the Regional Board.

Any person requesting this information from the District shall be required, prior to receipt

of the information, to pay the reasonable costs of reproduction incurred by the District.

13.06 <u>Confidentiality</u> - All information provided by a User or obtained by the District through monitoring and/or inspection shall be made available for public inspection, unless the User specifically requests confidentiality and can demonstrate to the General Manager that release of such information will violate the User's right to protection of trade secrets under applicable State law.

Permits, permit applications; and data pertaining to wastewater discharge quality and quantity shall not be treated as confidential information.

Requests for confidentiality must be submitted at the time of submission of the information or data to the District. If a request for confidentiality is granted by the General Manager, the information will be treated in accordance with the procedure in 40 CFR Part 2 (Public Information).

If a request for confidentiality is rejected by the General Manager, the information will be made available for public inspection.

SECTION 14. INSPECTION

14.01 <u>Entry and Inspection</u>- The General Manager may enter upon the premises of any User during reasonable hours for the purpose of inspecting the facilities to ensure compliance with this Ordinance.

The General Manager may inspect facilities of any User who may be a generator of nondomestic wastewater or a discharger of commercial or industrial water softener brines, storm water, or other prohibited wastes to the POTW, to determine compliance with this Ordinance.

Persons or occupants of premises where nondomestic wastewater is, or may be, created or discharged, shall promptly allow the General Manager ready access at all reasonable times to all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection, sampling, examination and copying of records, taking photographs, and performance of any of his duties.

Users shall permit the General Manager to place on the Industrial User's property such devices as are necessary to conduct sampling, inspection, compliance monitoring, and/or metering

operations.

Where a User has security measures in force that would require proper identification and clearance before entry into the User's premises, the User shall make all necessary arrangements so that upon presentation of suitable identification, the General Manager will be permitted to enter, without delay, for the purpose of performing inspection and sampling.

Delays in allowing the District access to the User's premises shall be a violation of this Ordinance.

14.02 <u>Inspection Warrants</u> - In the event the District has been refused access to a building, structure, or property, or any part thereof, the General Manager is hereby authorized to obtain inspection warrant from a court of competent jurisdiction.

SECTION 15. ENFORCEMENT

15.01 Responses to Violation - Whenever the General Manager finds that any person has violated or is violating this Ordinance, Pretreatment Standards, Categorical Standards or the Permit, the District will pursue enforcement actions in accordance with this Ordinance and the Enforcement Response Plan (ERP) adopted by the District's Board of Directors. To the extent that the ERP is inconsistent with this Ordinance, then this Ordinance will take precedence.

The General Manager, upon finding a violation, may employ any of the remedies set forth in this Section, subject to due consideration of the following:

- 1. The magnitude of the violation;
- 2. The duration of the violation;
- The effect of the violation on the POTW's compliance with any Waste Discharge Order, Permit, or other requirements;
- 4. The effect of the violation on the operation of the POTW;
- 5. The compliance history of the user; and
- 6. The good faith of the user.

The General Manager may issue any of the following after consideration of the criteria listed above and the District's ERP.

- 1. Notice of Violation;
- 2. Order to prepare a Specific Compliance Plan
- 3. Order to comply with a Compliance Time Schedule

Ordinance 404

- 4. An Administrative Order, including:
- 5. Order to Stop Work
- 6. Cease and Desist Order
- 7. Order to Implement Noncompliance Monitoring Program
- 8. Permit Suspension Order
- 9. Permit Termination Order
- 10. Administrative Complaint
 - **Administrative Complaint** Refer to EVWD's ERP Section III.A.11.
 - 15.02.01 <u>Civil Penalties</u>: Refer to EVWD's ERP Section III.A.12.

15.02.02 Judicial Review: Refer to EVWD's ERP Section III.A.13.

- 15.03 <u>Civil Liability for Violation</u> Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.14.
- 15.04 <u>Emergency Termination Service</u> Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.16.

15.05 <u>Annual Public Notice ff Significant Noncompliance</u> - Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.17.

15.06Supplemental Enforcement Actions- Refer to EVWD's ERP, SectionsIII.A.18 and III.A.19.

- **15.07 Protection From Damage** Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.20.
- 15.08 Falsifying Information Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.21.
- 15.09 <u>Issuance of Cease and Desist Orders</u> Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section

III.A.7.

- **15.10** <u>**Criminal Penalties**</u> Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.15.
- **15.11 Termination of Service** Refer to EVWD's ERP, Section III.A.16.

15.12 Payment of Fees, Charges and Penalties - Payment of fees, charges, and penalties for violations shall be in accordance with the EVWD ERP, Section III.A.23.

15.13Damage to Facilities or Interruption of Normal Operations- Refer toEVWD's ERP, Section III.A.24.

SECTION 16. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

16.01 <u>Sale of By-Products</u> - The District may sell or otherwise dispose of water, treated or reclaimed wastewater or any other by-product of District operations to private individuals, corporations, or public entities upon terms approved by the Board.

16.02 <u>Amendments</u> - The District may, from time to time, in its discretion, by Resolution or Ordinance, amend the rules and regulations governing the discharge of nondomestic wastes so as to keep the District in compliance with evolving State and Federal Law.

16.03 <u>Severability</u> - If any provision, paragraph, word, section or Section of this Ordinance is invalidated by any court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions, paragraphs, words, sections and chapters shall not be affected and shall continue in full force and effect.

16.04 <u>**Conflict**</u> - Any Ordinances or Resolutions inconsistent or conflicting with any part of this Ordinance shall be subordinate to this Ordinance and this Ordinance shall take precedence to the extent of such inconsistency or conflict.

16.05 <u>Variances</u> - The Board may find that by reason of special circumstances, any provision of this Ordinances should be suspended or modified as applied to a particular circumstance, and may, by Resolution, order such suspension or modification for such circumstance during the period of such special circumstances or any part thereof.

16.06 <u>Powers and Authorities of Inspectors</u> - Any duly authorized employee of the District as determined by the General Manager shall carry evidence establishing the position as an authorized representative of the District and upon exhibiting the proper credentials and identification shall be permitted to enter in and upon any and all buildings, industrial facilities and properties for the purposes of inspection, reinspection, observation, measurement, sampling, testing and otherwise performing such duties as may be necessary in the enforcement of the provisions of the Ordinance, Rules and Regulations of the District.

16.07 Inspection and Sampling - The District may inspect the facilities of any User to ascertain whether the requirements of this Ordinance are being complied with by such User. Persons or occupants of buildings where wastewater is created or discharged shall allow the District or its representatives ready access at all reasonable times to all parts of the premises for the purposes of inspection and/or sampling or otherwise in the performance of any of their duties. The District shall have the right to install at the User's property such devices as are necessary to conduct sampling or metering operations. Where a User has security measures in force which would require proper identification and clearance before entry into their premises, the User shall make necessary arrangements with their security measures so that upon presentation of suitable identification, employees of the District shall be permitted to enter without delay for the purposes of performing their specific responsibilities.

16.08 <u>Judicial Review Of Ordinance</u> - Pursuant to Section 1094.6 of the Code of Civil Procedure, the time within which judicial review shall be sought concerning the adoption of this Ordinance is 90 days following the date on which the decision adopting it is final. The decision adopting this Ordinance is final on the date it is adopted.

SECTION 17. CUSTOMER BILLING PROCEDURES

17.01 Establish Rates and Charges - The Board of Directors shall from time to time establish rates and charges for sewer and other service provided by the East Valley Water District by Resolution.

17.02 <u>Charges</u> - Sewer charges shall begin when a sewer service connection is installed. Thereafter, the District may transfer to the account which is established for such service any delinquent and/or unpaid charges from other closed or open accounts which are held by the customer and/or property owner with the District.

17.03 <u>Liability for Sewer Service</u> - The property owner shall be held liable for sewer service charges until such time as the District is notified in writing to transfer the account to another property owner.

17.04 <u>Liens for Unpaid Bills</u> - All unpaid bills will be made a lien against the property pursuant to these rules, regulations, and California Water Code Section 31791.5, et.seq. Delinquency charges may be applied to unpaid liens.

17.05 <u>Owner Liability</u> - The property owner remains responsible for all charges owed to the District whether or not the property owner actually lives on the premises, or signs the application for sewer service form.

17.06 **<u>Billing Period</u>** - The regular billing period will be monthly.

17.07 <u>Opening and Closing Bills</u> - Opening and closing bills for residential accounts less than the normal billing period shall be pro-rated. Commercial accounts shall be billed based upon actual water consumption.

17.08 <u>Payment of Bills</u> - Bills for sewer service shall be rendered at the end of each billing period and are due and payable upon presentation. If full payment is not received at the business office of the District on or before the final due date, the bill shall become past due and delinquent.

17.09 <u>Delinquency Notice</u> - A delinquency notice shall be mailed to customers whose accounts are delinquent, warning that service is subject to disconnection. The information that must be contained on the Delinquency Notice and the procedures for disconnecting service for non-payment are contained in the District's Policy for Discontinuation of Residential Water Service and in Sections 10 through 12 of the District's Water Regulations and Service Ordinance.

17.10 <u>Removal of Delinquency</u> - At the end of each calendar year customers may request that the District remove one delinquency from the record of their account when one or more delinquencies have occurred during the previous 12 months.

17.11 <u>Legal Action</u> - All unpaid rates and charges and penalties herein provided may be collected by legal action or collection agency.

17.12 <u>Costs</u> - Defendant shall pay all costs of legal action in any judgment rendered in favor of District including reasonable attorney fees.

17.13 **Discontinuing Service** - Customers desiring to discontinue service should notify the District prior to vacating the premises. Owners shall be liable for on-going charges between tenancy, and in the event of sale, up to the recording date of title to the property being transferred to a new owner. Owners shall also be responsible for charges incurred by a tenant, but that remain unpaid after the tenant has vacated the property. Upon notice, the District will seal off the meter and take a closing reading.

17.14 <u>Collection with Other Utility Charges of Entity</u> - Where the person charged is a user of another utility owned and operated by the District the charges shall be collected together with and not separately from the charges for the other utility service rendered by it. They shall be billed upon the same bill and collected as one item.

SECTION 18. COMPLAINTS AND DISPUTED BILLS

18.01 <u>Right to Meet</u> - The customer has the right to meet with the Financial Officer or General Manager to present any evidence supporting a complaint with regard to sewer service, District rules, regulations, resolutions, or ordinances, or to dispute the accuracy of a bill for service or other charges.

18.02 <u>Arrangement of Meeting</u> - To arrange such a meeting the customer shall contact the District office, either in writing or by telephone during normal business hours.

18.03 <u>Presentation of Evidence</u> - The customer may be accompanied by a friend, attorney, or other representative to meet with the Financial Officer, or General Manager, and may present any evidence they may have to support their position.

18.04 <u>Unresolved Disputes</u> - If the customer is unable to resolve his/her dispute with the Financial Officer or General Manager he/she may submit the complaint in writing, along with a full and detailed explanation to the Board of Directors for resolution.

18.05 <u>Appearance before The Board of Directors</u> - The customer may appear before the Board of Directors at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting by notifying the District

Secretary in writing prior to the Board meeting of the date he/she would like to attend and what the dispute regards. The customer may then present the complaint and any evidence in support of his/her position and ask for a decision by the Board.

18.06 <u>Delays on Action</u> - The Board shall act promptly to resolve the dispute, but may delay a resolution of the dispute to the time of its next regular meeting in order to investigate the dispute or receive special reports related to the dispute.

18.07 <u>Further Delays</u> - Any further delays must be freely and willingly agreed to by the customer.

18.08 <u>Decision of the Board</u> - The decision of the Board of Directors shall be final. Should the Board not render a decision within sixty (60) days of the customer's application to the Board, this failure to act shall be deemed a denial of the requested action, unless both parties have agreed to extend the resolution period.

18.09 <u>Discontinuance of Service</u> - No sewer or other service shall be discontinued pending the final resolution of a dispute.

SECTION 19. DISCONNECTION FOR NON-PAYMENT

19.01 <u>Disconnection for Non-Payment</u> - Sewer service shall be discontinued if payment for sewer service is not made within sixty (60) calendar days of the date of mailing a delinquent notice. Disconnection of sewer service for non-payment shall be governed by the District's Policy on Discontinuation of Residential Water Service. At no time shall the District discontinue sewer service at a time when the District offices are closed.

19.01.01 <u>Tenant Occupied Property</u> - If sewer and other services to an account, where the tenant is shown as the Customer of Record, are discontinued for non-payment, the account will be revised to show the owner as primary Customer of Record. The owner will continue to be shown as primary Customer of Record for as long as they own the property. Tenants

may be shown as an Additional Customer of Record with the consent of the property owner, or in the event that an account in the property owner's name is subject to disconnection.

19.02 <u>Complaint Procedure for Disconnection</u> - Service disconnection for nonpayment of bills or for violation of any of the District's rules, regulations, ordinances, or resolutions is subject to the complaint procedures specified in Section 10 herein.

19.03 <u>Refusal or Neglect to Pay Debt</u> - Any amount due is a debt to the District and any person, firm or corporation failing, neglecting, or refusing to pay this debt may be subject to a civil action for the amount due in a court of competent jurisdiction.

19.04 <u>Lien Against Property for Non-Payment</u> - Any unpaid debt will be deemed a lien against the real property to which service is rendered as specified herein and California Water Code Section 31701.5 <u>et.seq.</u>

19.05 <u>Service Charges for Violations</u> - If sewer service is discontinued for violation of any of the District's rules, regulations, resolutions or ordinances, service shall not be re-instituted until the violations have been corrected and all applicable service charges and fees as provided for herein are paid either by cash, payment card, money order, or cashier's check.

19.06 <u>**Partial Payments**</u> - A partial payment of a delinquent account may be accepted and credited to a customer's account, but such partial payment shall not be cause for removing the account from a delinquent status and shall not preclude the sewer service from being disconnected for delinquency.

19.07 <u>Authorization for Continuance of Service for Delinquent Accounts</u> - The General Manager, or his designee may authorize continuation of service to a delinquent account if financial arrangements satisfactory to the District have been established.

SECTION 20. ADDING DELINQUENT CHARGES TO TAX ROLL

20.01 <u>Report of Delinquent and Unpaid Charges</u> - A report of delinquent and unpaid charges for sewer and other services which have been unpaid and delinquent for sixty (60) days or

more on July 1st of each year shall be prepared and submitted to the Board for consideration as tax liens. The unpaid delinquent charges listed in said report for each parcel of property shall be fixed at the amount listed in said report.

20.02 <u>Adoption and Filing of Report</u> - The Secretary shall file with the County Assessor of the County of San Bernardino and the Board of Supervisors of the County of San Bernardino, in the time and manner specified by the County Assessor and Board of Supervisors, a copy of such written report with a statement endorsed thereon over the signature of the Secretary, that such a report has been finally adopted and approved by the Board of Directors and that the County Assessor shall enter the amount of such charges against the respective lots or parcels of land as they appear on the current assessment roll.

20.03 <u>Collection of Delinquent and Unpaid Charges</u> - The amount of any charges for sewer and/or other services included in the report prepared and submitted pursuant to Sections 20.01 and 20.02 above shall be added to, and become a part of, the annual taxes next levied upon the property upon which the sewer service for which the charges are unpaid was used, and upon the property subject to the charges for any other District services, and shall constitute a lien on that property as of the same time and in the same manner as does the tax lien securing such annual taxes as provided in Section 19.04 above.</u>

SECTION 21. CHARGES AND DEPOSITS

21.01 <u>Adoption</u> - The amount of all charges and deposits described herein shall be updated in the District's Schedule of Water and Wastewater Rates and Charges and adopted by separate Board Resolution.

21.02 <u>Security Deposit</u> - The Security Deposit insures payment of minimum District charges. Upon discontinuance of service, the security deposit shall be applied to reduce any unpaid charges outstanding on any accounts held by the customer with the District. The security deposit shall be refunded to the customer as provided in Section 8.04.02 herein.

21.03 <u>Service Initiation Charge</u> - The service initiation charge is a non-refundable charge which covers the reasonable District costs for initiating sewer service.

21.04 <u>Monthly Sewer Charge</u> - The monthly sewer charge includes, 1) Collection Charge established to maintain the District's wastewater collection lines, and 2) Treatment Charges established for the operation and maintenance of wastewater treatment and reclamation facilities. The collection charge, also referred to as the sewer system charge, shall apply whether or not premises connected to the collections system are occupied.

21.05 Delinquent Charge - A delinquent charge shall be added to each delinquent account at the time any amount becomes delinquent, provided that no penalty charge shall be made on any account which at that time has no delinquencies of record. When a delinquent charge is made, such charge shall be added to the delinquent account as of the date the account becomes delinquent, and the penalty charge shall become an inseparable part of the amount due as of that time.

21.06 <u>Disconnection Notice Charge</u> - The disconnection notice charge is the charge which covers reasonable District costs to notify customers that their sewer service is subject to impending termination.

21.07 <u>Service Reconnect Charge</u> - The service reconnect charge is the charge which covers the reasonable District costs of disconnection and reconnection of service connections which are in violation of the provisions contained herein.

21.08 <u>Returned Payment Fee</u> - The returned payment fee is a charge which covers the reasonable administrative cost and banking charges for processing a returned check, or to respond to a disputed charge where a payment card was fraudulently used to make payment on an account.

21.09 <u>Wastewater Capacity Charges</u> - The Wastewater capacity charge is a charge for connecting to the District's existing sewer system and for that incremental portion of the system's capacity that will be used by the new connection. Such regular charge shall be paid in advance by the applicant.

21.10 <u>Verification Charge</u> - The verification charge is the charge which covers reasonable District costs to make follow up attempts to contact the customer by mail, and attempts to make personal contact, and to verify and mark the location of the sewer service lateral.

21.11 <u>Inspection Charge</u> - Where a customer service connection or facility requires inspection by District personnel, the customer shall be charged for such inspection.

21.12 <u>Special Facility Charge</u> - A Special Facility Charge shall be required for development of limited service areas whenever special facilities are required. The charge to be made to a Developer or Owner of land that is considered by the District to be within a limited service area shall be based upon the Developer's or Landowner's proportionate share of the cost for the installation of such Special Facility. Such proportionate share to be borne by the Developer or Landowner shall be based on the percentage of such development to the entire limited service area to be served by the Special Facilities; and the difference between the cost of facilities to serve the same number of acres or area under normal conditions and the cost of facilities to serve the acreage or area under special conditions at a higher cost.</u>

21.13 <u>Engineering / New Development Service Charges</u> - The following Engineering / New Development planning service charges are fees for the District's time and effort spent on assisting customers who have a requirement to construct sewer extensions, or other sewer facilities, that must meet District needs and conform to District Standards. These fees include:

- Drafting of an Availability Letter
- Construction Inspection
- Drafting/preparing revisions to a Development Agreement
- Development and Engineering Research
- Development Meeting
- Easement / Quitclaim Processing
- Water / Sewer Inquiry
- New Construction Chlorination and Flushing
- Water Quality Sampling

Ordinance 404

- Plan Checking
- Drafting a Will Serve Letter

21.14 <u>Sewer Permit Charge</u> - The sewer permit charge is the charge to cover the District's cost to review, approve and process an applicant's request to connect to the District's sewer facilities.

21.15 <u>Sewer Manhole Deposit</u> - The refundable sewer manhole deposit is used to ensure that manholes are constructed to final grade before the project is considered complete. The District will accept a Guarantee Bond in lieu of a cash deposit. The fee will be returned or the Bond released when sewer manholes are constructed to final grade by the Developer's contractor and verified by the District.

21.16 <u>Landscape Adjustment</u> - The landscape adjustment is the adjustment to the sewage treatment and collection charge based upon the proportional amount of the customer's property irrigated through a domestic water meter.

21.17 <u>Charges and Deposits</u> - All rates, charges, fees, penalties, fines, deposits, and other methods of assessment are set by the District's Board of Directors. The General Manager/CEO, or appointed designee, may approve adjustment to any charges, late penalties, past due account fees, or service deposits pursuant to the District's procedures and applicable law.
SECTION 22. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Ordinance shall become effective and replace Ordinance 400 upon adoption with the

exception of Sections 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, and 16 which will become effective on the date

described in Section 7.01 of this Ordinance.

Adopted this 22nd day of March 2023.

ROLL CALL:

Ayes: Directors: Carrillo, Coats, Goodrich, Smith

Noes: None

Absent: Director Morales

Abstain: None

Phillip R. Goodrich Board President

ATTEST:

Michael Moore Secretary, Board of Directors

March 22, 2023

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of Ordinance 404 adopted by the Board of Directors of East Valley Water District at its Regular Meeting held March 22, 2023.

lon

Michael Moore Secretary, Board of Directors